UNIT III:  VERTICAL RESTRAINTS

James W. Quinn, Document Management Is Key to Litigator’s Success

Legal Times (Aug. 29, 1983)

In the increasingly complex world of civil litigation, documentary evidence—or what we simple folk used to call “exhibits”—is today often the most critical part of a complicated case. This is particularly so in antitrust and securities cases and in other types of high stakes commercial litigation.

   

In days of yore (i.e., before the invention of the jumbo jet and the Xerox machine) trial evidence consisted almost exclusively of oral testimony by live witnesses in a real courtroom. For better or worse, in the past decade the nature of trial evidence has changed radically in many complex civil cases. Live witnesses typically are supplemented by (and in some cases subordinated to) the presentation of hundreds or thousands of trial exhibits and the submission of tens of thousands of deposition testimony. While many trial lawyers decry this situation—and properly so—it is a fact of life in a complex society whose disputes are equally complex.

   

As a result, the careful management of documents in preparation for trial has become a discipline for all of us who try civil cases to master. During the pretrial stage, key mistakes often are made and shaping of the evidence to ensure a comprehensive trial presentation can be lost. It is also at this stage that absent strong management controls, enormous fees and expenses can be run up by unsupervised paralegals and junior associates.  

No attempt here will be made to use this forum either as a refresher course in the rules of evidence or as a primer in litigation cost control. You simply will have to rely on your law school notes, the new Federal Rules of Evidence, and your best billing judgment for that. My intent here is only to lay out a few ground rules on the handling of documents prior to trial so as to maintain control both over costs and content. Once you get in the courtroom, you are on your own. However, once you are in that courtroom, your documents will have to be two things—authentic and admissible. Some of the guidelines discussed below should help you ensure that this happens. 

Knowing the Documents.  From the start, one simple rule should prevail: A document management system that insulates lawyers from the documents is a bad system. It is a simple but painful truth. Knowing the documents is critical, and ferreting out the key ones is even more critical. All the lawyers on the trial team should have hands-on familiarity with the pieces of paper that form the essential building blocks of their case. Obviously, the senior trial lawyer will not have the time to wade through the tens (or even hundreds) of thousands of documents that often are exchanged in massive commercial lawsuits. Thus, from the very beginning, a filtering system must be set up and maintained to make sure that those at the top of the trial team have access to the critical documents while not being deluged with minutes.

In setting up a document management system, you should keep in mind that these documents are likely to be your primary source of facts about the case. This is particularly true in cases involving a complicated series of interrelated events that happened a long time ago. In welding together your case for trial, the documents you gather, organize, produce, and review inevitably will involve everything from admissions to business records, from tools for refreshing recollections at depositions to grist for your cross-examination at trial. 

Four Essential Functions.  These basic terms—gather, organize, produce, and review—cover the essential functions the lawyer must perform in getting his document show ready for trial.

Document Gathering.  Document gathering is the process of obtaining pertinent documents from your own client. It is usually done as a result of a request for documents from the other side in civil litigation or in response to a government investigation or third-party subpoena. Of course, as a plaintiff in a large litigation, many of the relevant documents already may have been gathered and reviewed prior to the filing of the complaint. There are some basic steps to follow in order to avoid unpleasant surprises at trial.

   

First, during the initial client interview concerning the response to a document request, the lawyer must be sure to pinpoint precisely what type of documents exist (e.g., letters, memoranda, handwritten notes, microfilm, tape recordings, and so forth—modern communications technology makes the possibilities endless). Next, find out where the documents are located. In a large company, documents may be located in dozens of sites scattered through the country. Finally, get reasonable estimates as to the number, size, and sheer bulk of the documents—are there a few file folders, a railroad car full of transfiles, or several dozen warehouses filled with file cabinets? Without interviewing knowledgeable clients who have first-hand knowledge about the documents, you will have no way of knowing whether you need two lawyers or 20 to staff the document-gathering procedure adequately.

Second, a specific client contact should be appointed as liaison with members of the trial team during the document retrieval process. This is particularly important in a large company whose documents may be found at numerous locations and in which the right buttons will have to be pushed by an insider in order to get the job done in a timely and thorough fashion. It is often helpful in such cases to make the liaison a member of the company’s legal staff who has familiarity with the divisions or departments involved. One note of caution: The client contact should never be someone who was involved in the underlying transactions that are the subject of the dispute. Those individuals often have an emotional tie to the problem and should be removed from the path of responsibility, particularly with regard to the gathering of responsive documents.

   

Third, instructions should be given immediately that all document retention policies, whether formal or informal, must be halted at once. You must be sure that no potentially responsive documents are discarded after an action has been filed or a subpoena has been served.

Fourth, a complete list of all corporate and outside counsel for the company should be prepared promptly so that privileged documents can be recognized and segregated more readily during the initial review and retrieval process.

Fifth, the search for and gathering of documents should be done in close coordination with the client. Where possible, individual possessors of files should be interviewed during the search so that a complete explanation of how the clients’ files are maintained can be established.

Sixth, a broad view of relevance during the document retrieval stage is usually best. Irrelevant material can be sorted out later as the documents are prepared for production. With few exceptions, I do not recommend that the client be permitted to determine the relevance of particular documents. In addition, where possible even in this initial document-gathering phase, documents should be sorted and segregated for confidential or sensitive material, privileged documents, and documents of particular importance—whether they be harmful or helpful to the cause. Indeed, I found that from the very beginning, it makes sense to create a special set of particularly significant documents that are likely to be used during depositions or at trial. These key documents invariably form the foundation upon which the rest of the documentary evidence is built.

Seventh, and most important, be tenacious when dealing with your client during this document retrieval phase. Remember that ordinarily most clients do not want to be separated from their documents. You must assure them that you will maintain strict control over the documents. One simple way to assuage your client’s worries is to make copies of the pertinent files, leaving the originals “at the company.” Even in this circumstance, however, originals should remain segregated and should not be returned to their files until after the case is over. In recent years, the extensive use of microfilm and microfiche, particularly in large cases, has eased the problem of document handling and shipment.

   

Following these and similar procedures, including the use of paralegals for document searches and cataloging, substantial savings in cost and time can be achieved. 

  

One final question must be asked. Who should have day-to-day responsibility for the document search, trial counsel or the client? As with many litigation issues, the answer is: It depends. Several factors are likely to decide the question, such as cost, the type of case, the need for control, and the number of files to be searched and/or produced. As a general rule, to ensure the tightest control and a thorough file search, the gathering process must be supervised closely by members of the trial counsel team.

Document Organization.   How to organize the documents—whether your own or those of your adversary—is surely the most perplexing issue to be faced in the pretrial handling of documentary evidence. Once again, the method of organization depends largely on the type of case, the complexity of issues, and the dollar amounts involved.

It is usually best for trial counsel to maintain a tight physical control over the documents. Case documents ordinarily should be maintained at the lawyer’s office or at a nearby location. At the outset, a master set of documents should be created and stored precisely as they were obtained from the client or your adversary. This master set will serve as a control and should be numbered for ease of identification. A system of security should be set up so the documents cannot be removed either from the master set or from duplicate sets without some check or other record. Lawyers should not be allowed to remove documents without control for one simple reason—they invariably will fold, mutilate, spindle, and eventually lose them. A comfortable space for document review should be maintained near the document storage area, and there should be a photocopying machine nearby so that a lawyer can make copies quickly without destroying or jumbling the document organization system.

   

Paralegals can play an important role in this control function by overseeing the creation of a master set, the numbering, and the institution of the security system. In general, I advocate the extensive use of paralegals in the organization of documents. However, it is my belief that the lawyers must overcome a growing tendency to rely totally on paralegals for the analysis and organization of documentary evidence. The lawyers on the trial team should spot-check paralegal work periodically against the documents. Moreover, paralegals must be tutored and drilled in the key factual and legal issues in the case. Finally, direct lawyer involvement in document review and analysis is critical, since a seemingly innocuous piece of information often can be identified as key by someone with the “big picture” of the case. Another document control tool is the use of microfilm or microfiche, whose benefits are obvious. Valuable storage space can be conserved, and microfilm or microfiche can be mailed or shipped easily from distant locations. In addition, you are less likely to lose individual documents forever. There are however, some drawbacks, including such as cost, legibility problems, and its tendency to deter lawyers from reading the documents because of the problems in using microfilm or microfiche reading consoles.

A heavy reliance on properly trained, motivated, and supervised paralegals during document analysis can save lawyers (and their clients) much time and money. Document analysis ordinarily entails several phases. For starters, there is digesting by date, source, subject matter, author, recipient, and whatever else you can think of that might be useful. Next, a chronological listing of documents should be created, either through digesting or by physically segregating a set of documents by date.

   

In addition, the documents should be categorized by subject matter. The categories should be developed by the trial team before any detailed document review and analysis have begun. These categories should be simple and flexible so that new theories developed during the case can be dealt with as the discovery progresses. Categories should be broad rather than narrow. There will be plenty of time to get more specific as the issues become better focused, or are eliminated, during discovery.

It is often helpful to create top sheets for the categorization of documents. These top sheets should be created by the trial team and keyed to the issues in the case. The categorization, on the other hand, usually can be done by paralegals. Sample documents should be read before a classification system is set up, and the paralegals should be spot-checked from time to time to ensure that they are following the categorization instructions dictated by the lawyers.

   

To computerize or not to computerize—that is the question that lawyers increasingly are facing, as they attempt to deal with the staggering amounts of paper generated in complex civil cases. It is a cost-benefit decision, pure and simple. The benefits are obvious. They include the retrieval of documents by date, by subject category, by author, by key word, and by a host of other breakdowns. Computers also enable the trial lawyer to create a complex system of cross-referencing to deal with the scores of interrelated issues ordinarily involved in complicated commercial cases. And there is a higher level of reliability or comfort level in knowing that each document properly categorized will be identified.

   

The drawbacks are also obvious. Computerization can be very expensive. Careful program preparation is essential, as is coding and categorization. In addition, there is often a time-consuming startup that may involve, as a practical matter, the loss of the use of the documents for some weeks or months during the initial phases of the litigation.

   

In order to decide whether to computerize the process, the trial lawyers must sit down early with computer experts. They should decide jointly what they want from the system in terms of retrieval, information storage, and ability to search by topic, among other things. If they decide that the system can be developed at acceptable costs, then other decisions inevitably will follow. A coding form will have to be developed that is similar to the categorization top sheet mentioned above. Next, a taxonomy of the case must be assembled by the trial team. This is nothing more than a sophisticated outline of the case with a grouping of topics similar to those in a key digest system. The taxonomy allows the computer to search by topic, as well as by individual word or word groups. The lawyers then have to decide whether to put the full text of all of the documents and deposition transcripts on the computer, or simply to input them in digested form. Often you may be better off with digests, since you can use your own key words to facilitate word searches. It is also much cheaper. Finally, as with the manual system, you will have to decide whether lawyers, paralegals, or the computer staff will do the coding. All these decisions inevitably will be affected by cost factors that weigh heavily these days, in which litigation cost control and alternate methods of dispute resolution are receiving increased attention.

Document Production.  After you have gathered all of your client’s documents, filtered out the irrelevancies and privileged documents, and numbered and stamped the documents for confidentiality, you are now ready to produce. The time and place of production is usually a matter of negotiation, and the date and location set forth in the notice or subpoena largely is ignored. If there are a handful of documents, you may simply mail. or deliver them to your adversary. If there are many documents, you should try to get your adversary to allow you to produce them at your office. If there are a great many documents, you may want to produce them at the offices of the client or at his warehouse. Obviously, if an agreement cannot be reached, an appropriate protective order can be sought.

  

I have several thoughts on document production, yours and theirs. For example, it is probably a good idea to have a paralegal or law clerk present during production in order to monitor your adversary, particularly if original, sensitive, and/or confidential documents are involved. One reason, of course, for numbering the documents prior to production is to have a control over precisely what has been produced and what has been selected for duplication by your adversary. Obviously, this prevents the other side from later claiming that certain unnumbered documents were part of your document production.

The duplication costs inherent in document production usually are negotiated, and how they are handled can depend on the number, type, and location of the documents involved in the production. It is often a good idea to make an extra set of the documents that were selected by your adversary to be used as a control group.

It should be remembered that in filing any written document response required by federal or local procedural rules, you should be careful about making representations concerning the completeness of the client’s production, particularly where it was the client—rather then the lawyer—that supervised that production. Appropriate qualifiers should be used, keeping in mind that while the production is ordinarily the party’s responsibility under applicable procedural rules, the lawyer may be held responsible upon signing the written response.

  

It is usually wise to prepare detailed transmittal letters or similar documents when producing or delivering documents in response to document request or subpoena. Issues relating to scope, relevance, confidentiality, burden and privilege, and similar objections to the document requests should be negotiated prior to production. In this regard, many jurisdictions require the parties to meet in an effort to resolve such discovery matters prior to the filing of discovery motions. Where appropriate, you should be prepared to enter into the following agreements concerning production of documents:

1. That all documents be numbered and placed in file folders with the original file folder captions.

2. That the file source of all documents be indicated, i.e., that their prior physical location and the name of the individual who had custody of the documents be designated.

3. That logs of all documents produced and copied be exchanged.

4. That privileged documents be designated and identified.

5. That confidential documents be subject to a protective order providing that the use of the documents be limited to the present case and such other provisions that the parties can agree upon, e.g., a “lawyers only” agreement with regard to financial information, etc.



The document review and selection process of your adversary’s document production involves a reversal of most of the items discussed above. Here are a few brief reminders, however. As with the gathering of your own client’s documents, lawyers should be involved in the document selection process. While paralegals can be used for cataloging and to supplement the lawyers in the document review, it is important that the trial team be involved from the outset in the initial selection and the later analysis of your opponent’s documents. Again, a broad view of relevance in the document selection is ordinarily appropriate, except where costs may be a significant factor. 

Maintaining Written Record.  One simple rule: Don’t use paper clips—they fall off. Instead, in doing the document selection, a written record of documents selected should be maintained. It is ordinarily desirable to send a letter making formal request by document number, file number, description, and/or subject matter. The documents then should be checked against this list upon receipt to make sure that you have received all of the documents requested.

  

Naturally, if a disagreement arises with your adversary over the scope, timing, or place of the document production, including objections to what is to be produced, an appropriate motion to compel should be filed promptly. Once the document review and selection process has been completed, the opponent’s documents then should be put in the same document organization system and digested, cataloged, and categorized as discussed above. A master set of documents obtained from the adversary also should be maintained. These should be numbered separately if your opponent has not already done so.

  

One note of caution on the use of confidentiality orders and stipulations. Ordinarily, such an agreement is employed in order to avoid disclosing highly confidential information to competitors, customers, suppliers, or the public in general. These agreements often restrict access to confidential materials to lawyers only, or to trial counsel only, or to experts. Obviously, such an agreement can prevent other potential litigants from gaining access to damaging documents, particularly in the context of multifront litigation. In addition, such a stipulation often may require your adversary to give notice to you concerning the use of documents at depositions or in motions, so as to give you the opportunity to request in camera treatment and the like. This sometimes can give you advance warning as to what documents your opponent intends to use. This, however, can work both ways. Similarly, confidentiality orders can inhibit the lawyer’s ability to educate himself about the industry, in a case in which, for example, the order restricts a lawyer from reviewing certain documents with the businessman most knowledgeable about the facts in the industry. Once again, this is a two-edged sword, since confidentiality orders typically bind both sides.

  

Obviously, the discussion above covers only the tip of a very big iceberg. It cannot substitute for the day-to-day practical experience that comes from gathering, organizing, and analyzing the documents in complex commercial cases. Endless patience, a highly tuned sense of detail, and a firm grasp for the facts of the case are all required. But while the mining process is often tedious, and sifting through tons of documents is time-consuming, careful review and handling of the documentary evidence in a case can help the diligent lawyer to strike gold.

$   $   $   $   $   $   $
Jeffrey Toobin, A Bad Thing (Why Did Martha Stewart Lose?)

The New Yorker (March 22, 2004)
The cult of the chief executive reached its apogee in the nineteen-nineties, a period when C.E.O.s seemed not so much to serve their companies as to embody them. Certainly, there was a Time Warner independent of Gerald Levin, and Disney and General Electric existed beyond Michael Eisner and Jack Welch. Yet these executives, and others like them, were compensated as if they single-handedly controlled the fates of their companies. In the late eighties, a seven-figure salary was a lot to pay a C.E.O.; by the late nineties, nine-figure fortunes were routine. The chairman of General Motors, for example, made five hundred and seventy-five thousand dollars in base salary in 1991 and just over two million in 2000. Michael Ovitz, at Disney, got a severance package worth somewhere between ninety and a hundred and thirty million dollars. But how much difference did most of these executives make? They took credit when the nation’s economy made almost every business leader look good, and they blamed the fates when times turned hard. Many were, in essence, lavishly paid bureaucrats-caretakers more than creators. 

Then, there was Martha Stewart. There was a cult around her, too, but for different reasons. Unlike most of the famous C.E.O.s of the period, she built her company, Martha Stewart Living Omnimedia, from scratch, and, unlike virtually anyone else, she herself was in many ways its singular product. (Jeff Bezos created Amazon.com, but it sold books and other merchandise.) The challenge for Martha Stewart Living Omnimedia was to define itself as something other than its leader’s corporate alter ego. When I visited Stewart at her house in Westport, Connecticut, last year, she talked about her importance to the magazine, Martha Stewart Living, saying, “This is me, O.K., me, one hundred per cent.” Sharing credit does not come naturally to her, but she said that she was trying to be less dominant in the company-to turn it into an institution. Her role model was Ralph Lauren. “When you see Polo, you don’t see Ralph Lauren,” she said. But when people saw Stewart’s company, which at its peak employed more than six hundred people, they saw Martha Stewart. Besides, the company seemed to exist more to serve its founder than the other way around. She was surrounded by people whose jobs were to anticipate and meet her every need. At Stewart’s trial, which featured testimony from several of her courtiers, her bookkeeper, Heidi DeLuca, said that she was employed by the company but that her duties included maintaining Stewart’s personal checkbook, paying her bills-such as health, life, and automobile insurance-and overseeing the payroll for her personal staff of between thirty and forty people. (Stewart reimbursed the company for a portion of DeLuca’s salary.)

Stewart’s sale of 3,928 shares of stock in the biotech company ImClone, on December 27, 2001, and the legal disaster it led to, is in many ways a story of her support system in action. At every stage-from the transaction to the investigation by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the F.B.I. to, finally, her criminal trial-people mobilized to help her: assistants, brokers, lawyers, even other celebrities. Yet the more they tried to help, the more excruciating Stewart’s problems became. With the guidance of her entourage, she invariably made the wrong decisions, and the result was humiliation and conviction. On March 5th, a jury in United States District Court in New York found Stewart guilty of all four charges against her: conspiracy, obstruction of justice, and two counts of making false statements. Her co-defendant, the stockbroker Peter Bacanovic, was convicted of four counts, too: conspiracy, perjury, obstruction of justice, and making a false statement.

On the scale of highly publicized misdeeds in the past decade, Stewart’s trade must rank among the most trivial. She netted only about fifty thousand dollars more on the deal than if she’d held the stock for another day, and, as she told me, her ImClone holding constituted .03 per cent of her assets. It seems almost implausible that such a misstep could send Stewart to prison and lead her company to ruin-and that this happened with the help of the best and most loyal people that money could buy.

Peter Bacanovic, Stewart’s broker at Merrill Lynch, was, like almost everyone else, just trying to keep Martha Stewart happy. On December 27, 2001, while he was on vacation in Florida, he heard from his assistant, Douglas Faneuil, that another of his clients, Sam Waksal, the chairman of ImClone, was trying to get rid of virtually all his own and his family’s stock in the company. Bacanovic knew that Stewart owned ImClone stock-Stewart and Waksal were close friends-and he told Faneuil to call her and let her know.

What motivated Bacanovic? The decision to let Stewart know about Waksal’s sale was, at the very least, a violation of Merrill Lynch policy; at worst, it was a felony-a violation of insider-trading rules. Stewart hadn’t asked for the information. Why take such a risk on her behalf? (The government ultimately conceded that neither Bacanovic’s tip nor Stewart’s stock sale amounted to a crime. It was lying to the authorities about the transaction that brought them to trial.)

Bacanovic grew up in New York. His mother, an anesthesiologist, was born in Greece, and his father, a mid-level banker, came from Serbia. Peter went to the Lycee Francais, a private school on Manhattan’s East Side, then to Columbia (where he became friends with Stewart’s daughter, Alexis), and, finally, to New York University’s business school, from which he graduated in 1988. He bounced around for several years-working in the mailroom at the William Morris Agency in Los Angeles and, for a time, as a banker in Switzerland for the corporate raider Asher Edelman. He then took a marketing job at ImClone, where he met Waksal, but he left in 1992 to work as a broker at Merrill Lynch. There, for the first time, he thrived. He was, by all accounts, proficient at the job, but he excelled particularly at the social side of it. He was attractive, he followed the cultural scene, and, as a bachelor, he made a perfect extra man at dinner parties.

Martha Stewart may not have been Bacanovic’s biggest investor, but the cachet of being her stockbroker was considerable. Although Bacanovic didn’t testify at the trial, a tape-recorded interview he had with the S.E.C. was played, and there was a noticeable tone of starchy pride in his voice. “I do not discuss other clients’ affairs with other clients,” he said at one point. He sounded irritated-shocked-that someone would suggest otherwise. “I did not get to be a first vice-president of Merrill Lynch by discussing other people’s business and by being indiscreet,” he said. Stewart was demanding of Bacanovic, as she was of everyone in her life. “This is someone who gets irascible,” he said of her in the interview. In late 2000, when the market started to sour, she e-mailed him, “I think it’s time for me to give my money to a professional money manager who will watch it when I am too busy and will take a bit more care about overall market conditions and political and economic problems. We have just watched the slide and done nothing and I’m none too happy.” She didn’t withdraw her account then, but the message was clear.

By the time of the ImClone transaction, Bacanovic was even more vulnerable. In 2000, according to his S.E.C. testimony, he had made about five hundred and forty thousand dollars at Merrill Lynch. The following year, his income fell to about three hundred and fifty thousand, and the September 11th attacks made prospects for a turnaround appear bleak. His assistant, Faneuil, testified about waking Bacanovic up in Florida on the morning of December 27th and giving him the ImClone news. “Oh, my God,” he told Faneuil, “get Martha on the phone.” Faneuil, who reached Stewart while she was en route to a vacation in Mexico, passed along the word that the Waksals were selling, and she authorized the sale of her own shares.

Stewart’s trades that day were small compared with Sam Waksal’s. After learning that the Food and Drug Administration was going to reject ImClone’s most important product, a cancer drug called Erbitux, Waksal tried to move 79,797 shares to his daughter Aliza’s account through Bacanovic; Aliza herself sold 39,472 shares; his other daughter, Elana, sold 3,014. Waksal’s father sold 135,000 shares, and his sister sold 1,336. Not surprisingly, in light of the F.D.A.’s decision, which was announced the following day, the Waksals’ sales drew the attention of an internal auditor at Merrill Lynch, who asked to see Bacanovic as soon as he got back from Florida.The auditor, Brian Schimpfhauser, also noticed Stewart’s sale of ImClone, and, he later testified, “that made me kind of suspicious.”
A small problem now started to get bigger. Bacanovic had to come up with an explanation for why Stewart had sold at the same time as the Waksals. When Faneuil saw him after the New Year, Bacanovic first said that Stewart had sold ImClone as part of an end-of-year practice called “tax loss selling.” But that made no sense, because she had sold at a profit. So Bacanovic decided to tell the investigators that he and Stewart had a preexisting agreement to sell her ImClone stock when the price reached sixty dollars a share, which it did on December 27th.

For a while, it looked as though this story might hold. Merrill Lynch had referred the Waksal case to the S.E.C., and the government’s investigators were putting together an easy insider-trading case against him. Because of the focus on the Waksal case, investigators were most concerned with whether he had tipped Stewart or anyone else about the imminent F.D.A. decision on Erbitux. Since Waksal himself hadn’t told Stewart, she had every reason to think she had no problem. On January 16, 2002, Bacanovic and Stewart met for breakfast, and it’s probable that they discussed the burgeoning investigation of the ImClone sales-and their possible culpability. Within a week, Stewart had decided to hire a criminal-defense attorney.

When Martha Stewart Living Omnimedia went public, in 1999, the company used the law firm of Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz for corporate work. Wachtell, Lipton is smaller than many of the better-known firms in the city, but it has the highest profits per partner of any law firm in the nation-on average, more than three million dollars a year. Lawyers there tend to be brilliant and arrogant; typical among them is John Savarese, the lawyer whom Stewart hired in January, 2002. Like Bacanovic, Savarese is good-looking and socially prominent. He had earlier been a prosecutor in Manhattan, and in 1986 he helped convict the reigning bosses of the city’s five Mafia families. (Just before that trial, I worked for him as a summer intern.)

On January 25th, Michael Schachter, the Assistant U.S. Attorney in charge of the Waksal investigation, spoke to Savarese and asked to interview Stewart about the ImClone sale. Savarese had to evaluate this request in a transformed legal landscape of white-collar criminal law. Even before the Enron scandal, which was just then unfolding, the Justice Department and the S.E.C. had been placing tremendous pressure on corporate executives to cooperate with their investigations. The S.E.C., and even private auditors, might hesitate to certify the financial statements of a company headed by someone who wouldn’t cooperate. A directive to prosecutors from Deputy Attorney General Larry D. Thompson suggested that companies should pressure senior employees to testify rather than refuse to answer on Fifth Amendment grounds.

Stewart was travelling a lot in late January, so there wasn’t much time for her to talk to Savarese, but she seemed nonchalant about the prospect of sitting down with Schachter and his colleagues. She and Savarese tentatively agreed to meet with the prosecutors on February 4th. “There was a lot of pressure, including from Martha, that she go in there and show she had nothing to hide,” one person close to the Stewart camp says. “All she thought they wanted to talk about was whether Waksal himself had tipped her about the F.D.A. decision. She knew she was in the clear on that one.”
On January 31st, something happened that should have signalled the magnitude of the risk of letting the government question Stewart. Around five in the afternoon, Stewart and Savarese spoke for half an hour on the telephone. When Stewart hung up, she asked her secretary, Ann Armstrong, to call up her computer’s phone log for December 26th through January 7th. As Armstrong later testified at Stewart’s trial, Stewart examined the messages and noted the one from Bacanovic on December 27th, which read, “Peter Bacanovic thinks ImClone is going to start trading downward.” Armstrong described what happened next: “Martha saw the message from Peter, and she instantly took the mouse and she put the cursor at the end of the sentence, and she highlighted it back up to the end of Peter’s name, and then she started typing over it.” She changed the message to “Peter Bacanovic re imclone.”
Stewart then had second thoughts, Armstrong continued. “She instantly stood up, and still standing at my desk, she told me to put it back. ‘Put it back the way it was.’ She walked back to her office door, and by the time she got to her office door she asked me to get her son-in-law on the phone.” Alexis’s husband, John Cuti, was a litigator who sometimes worked for Stewart and her company. He said to Armstrong, who became increasingly upset, “Stop in your tracks,” and told her not to change anything else. When Armstrong got home that evening, Stewart called and asked if she had been able to restore the message. Ultimately, with the help of a friend, Armstrong was able to find the original message and fax a copy to Savarese. The next morning, Stewart left for a quick trip to Germany, which would get her back just before her interview at the U.S. Attorney’s office.

Cuti told Savarese about the altering of the document, which suggested that Stewart was worried about the appearance, at least, of the ImClone transaction, if not the legality of her actions. But she was out of the country, and there was no way to get her ready for the interview. To make matters worse, Savarese had not gone over her phone logs with her.

Savarese could have delayed Stewart’s appearance. He could have gathered all the relevant documents and forced her to test her recollections against the physical evidence. “It’s not easy telling someone like Martha Stewart to take the Fifth,” a lawyer inside the Stewart camp says. “She would have gone ballistic.” Instead, Savarese sent into the hands of prosecutors an underprepared witness, who may not have told him the whole story, and who had already tried to doctor evidence in the case. “What Savarese did was an unbelievable disaster,” another person in the defense camp told me.

On February 4th, only four days after the incident at Armstrong’s desk, Savarese and an inexperienced associate at Wachtell, Lipton accompanied Stewart to her interview at the U.S. Attorney’s office in Manhattan. Confident that she could truthfully refute the charge that Waksal himself had tipped her, Stewart told investigators the fabricated story about the preexisting agreement to sell ImClone at sixty. Worse, Savarese allowed a second interrogation, on April 10th, during which Stewart again lied about the sixty-dollar agreement and asserted, falsely, that she couldn’t remember whether she was told on December 27th that the Waksals were selling. To be sure, it was Stewart, not her lawyer, who lied to the investigators, but Savarese had allowed his client to take an immense legal risk.

Savarese may not have realized how big a target Stewart had become, but Republicans in the House of Representatives did. In early June, 2002, the Energy and Commerce Committee, which had been examining Waksal’s role at ImClone, decided to investigate possible insider trading by Stewart. Later that month, as the investigation continued to grow, Douglas Faneuil walked into the U.S. Attorney’s office and made a deal: he admitted his role in the coverup and pleaded guilty to a misdemeanor. On June 13th, the F.B.I. arrested Sam Waksal on charges of insider trading. (Waksal eventually agreed to plead guilty to the insider-trading charges and also to obstruction of justice and tax fraud, among other charges. He is currently serving a seven-year federal sentence. As part of the bargain, his relatives avoided criminal prosecution.) On June 21st, Merrill Lynch suspended Bacanovic.

During the summer of 2002, leaks from Congress kept the Stewart story in the news-especially the tabloids, which saw Stewart as a perfect subject. Stewart’s only public discussion of her predicament came during an embarrassing appearance on the CBS “Early Show” on June 25th. She was conducting one of her regular cooking segments and, with a large knife, was chopping a head of cabbage. “I think this will all be resolved in the very near future and I will be exonerated of any ridiculousness,” Stewart told the show’s co-host, Jane Clayson, when she was asked about the story. “I want to focus on my salad, because that’s why we’re here.” Stewart stopped appearing on the show, because her lawyers, who now included the high-profile defense lawyer Robert Morvillo, as well as the Wachtell, Lipton team, didn’t want her to answer questions, and CBS vowed to pursue the issue. On October 3rd, with pressure from the investigation increasing, Stewart resigned as a member of the board of the New York Stock Exchange.

In late fall, frustrated by all the bad press, and desperate to get her side of the story before the public, Stewart hired a new helper: Lanny Davis, a former lawyer in the Clinton White House, who had been the President’s most visible public spokesman during the Monica Lewinsky affair. Davis, who didn’t believe in the conventional wisdom that criminal suspects should remain silent in public, offered me an interview in which Stewart would speak about the case publicly for the first time.

On a frigid Sunday afternoon in January, 2003, I drove to Stewart’s restored 1805 farmhouse, known as Turkey Hill. We had never met before. She seemed strangely nervous for a public figure, and I soon realized why: she had hired Davis, and arranged for this interview, without telling Morvillo or Savarese. (A couple of days before the article appeared, Savarese called and implored me to tell him what his client had said. I was also subpoenaed by the S.E.C. for my tape of the interview; when I declined to produce it, the agency dropped the matter.)

It was a peculiar afternoon. Stewart was obviously infuriated by the experience of being investigated, yet she never came out and said so. “My public image has been one of trustworthiness, of being a fine, fine editor, a fine purveyor of historic and contemporary information for the homemaker,” she told me as we ate an almost comically elaborate Chinese lunch prepared by her chef, Lily. “My business is about homemaking. And that I have been turned into, or vilified openly as, something other than what I really am has been really confusing.” Davis’s team provided me with a summary of the ImClone trade from Stewart’s perspective. As I later learned, that version of the facts had crucial omissions.

By this time, prosecutors were talking to Douglas Faneuil and weighing the question of whether to indict Stewart. My article certainly didn’t help; rather, it let the prosecutors know that she was sticking with her original story-that she got rid of her ImClone stock pursuant to a preexisting agreement to sell at sixty.

Stewart got one last chance to avoid prison. In the spring of 2003, Stewart’s lawyers were expecting an indictment in the first week of June; as a result, they entered plea negotiations on her behalf. On Sunday, June 1st, Stewart went to the Wachtell, Lipton offices, on West Fifty-second Street, to decide whether to accept a deal that Savarese and his partner Larry Pedowitz had worked out. Stewart would plead guilty to a single felony: making a false statement to federal agents. The agreed-upon sentencing guidelines would make probation or house arrest likely, although there was no guarantee that Stewart would avoid prison. Also, under this arrangement Stewart wouldn’t have to cooperate with prosecutors or give a proffer-an advance preview-of what she was going to say. During a speakerphone conversation with Stewart, Karen Patton Seymour, the chief of the criminal division of the U.S. Attorney’s office, and her colleague Richard Owens narrowed the issues down to this: Would Stewart admit that she had lied to the investigators? In the end, late Sunday night, Stewart decided that she couldn’t do it.

On Monday, Stewart and her defense team reassembled at Morvillo’s office, and continued to discuss the deal. Morvillo is sixty-five years old, three years older than Stewart, and she seemed to regard him not only as a lawyer but as a peer. He has been at or near the top of the white-collar-criminal-defense bar for three decades, and is, in a way, as prominent in his field as she is in hers. His firm of thirty-six lawyers is prosperous, but its offices, on two floors at Fifth Avenue and Forty-sixth Street, haven’t the splendor found at those of Wachtell, Lipton. And while Morvillo’s own office-cluttered with shabby baseball souvenirs and yellowing files from old cases-may have been a Martha Stewart nightmare, Stewart and Morvillo seemed to have a kinship as people who were self-made.

According to someone at the meeting, Morvillo, Savarese, and Pedowitz all told Stewart that she would never get a better deal. A trial was a risk. No doubt a felony plea would complicate her role at her company, but the alternative-indictment, trial, and possible conviction of multiple felonies-was far worse. But again Stewart said that she couldn’t do it. A grand jury indicted her two days later.

In a note to readers in the March, 2004, issue of Martha Stewart Living-the issue that was on newsstands when the testimony in her trial began-Stewart described the period leading up to the trial this way: “For the past several months, I have been happily immersed in scores of wonderfully written and beautifully illustrated garden catalogues.” The trilling adverbs are a touchstone of Stewart’s style. There was defiance in that “happily,” too-Stewart’s insistence that not even the power of the United States government could prevent her from extracting the soil’s bounty.

In a way, the prosecutors were no more pleased than Stewart’s team that the case had reached this point. By the day of opening statements, January 27th, the case had been reduced to a limited set of charges. The prosecution’s one attempt to broaden the case, by charging Stewart with securities fraud-on the theory that she was lying in order to inflate the value of her own company-looked dubious from the start. (Judge Miriam Goldman Cedarbaum, who presided over the trial, threw out that count before the jury could consider it.) Defenders of Stewart, and others, questioned whether a case based solely on her statements to federal agents merited such a major effort by the government-especially since she was accused of lying about something that wasn’t a crime. But the prosecutors felt that they had given Stewart two chances to tell the truth, then offered her what they considered a generous plea bargain. “We had no desire to prosecute this woman,”one investigator in the case told me. “But this was fairly egregious lying, worse than just asserting her innocence. She concocted a whole story, and we had to follow up to confirm or dispel it.” Another government official said to me, “What were we supposed to do? Just walk away?”
Karen Patton Seymour and Michael Schachter, the prosecutors in the trial, were shrewd choices for the government in a case in which the defense was certain at least to suggest that the prosecution amounted to a government vendetta against a prominent person-and a particular kind of celebrity. Schachter, who is thirty-four, and who looked like Seymour’s nerdy kid brother, barely changed his expression (or his boxy gray suit) during the entire trial. Seymour, who left a lucrative partnership at Sullivan & Cromwell to go to the U.S. Attorney’s office, also came across as more thoughtful than passionate. (The magnitude of her financial sacrifice shouldn’t be overstated; her husband is a partner at Sullivan.)

Morvillo, who has spent almost forty years in the courtroom, rarely tries cases anymore, preferring to use his blustering style to negotiate with (or browbeat) the city’s prosecutors. He is not physically prepossessing; he has a greasy comb-over, a second chin bigger than his first, and a stomach that defies expensive tailoring, and he isn’t a young sixty-five. Nevertheless, he had a commanding and wry manner in court, beginning his opening statement with a boast: “I tend to have a louder voice, so it should prevent you from dozing off.” No one slept.

Still, the language of Morvillo’s opening showed how weak a case his client had left him. There was no “direct” evidence against Stewart, he declared; her statements were not “deliberately” false. As Stewart herself had done when she and Savarese spoke with investigators almost two years earlier, Morvillo tried to shift attention to a subject more to his liking: the government investigation to determine whether Waksal had personally tipped Stewart about the bad news to come from the F.D.A. “Martha Stewart went to that meeting thinking that she had to convince the government that she was not tipped by Sam Waksal-that was her focus,” Morvillo said. Even the government acknowledged that Waksal had not done that.

One passage in Morvillo’s opening had an unexpected poignancy. He plainly knew little about Stewart’s career or her business, but he did feel an obligation to try to give the jury a sense of who she was. “Martha Stewart initiated a catering business which by virtue of sixteen-hour days, fierce desire to put forward the best possible product, whether it deals with flowers, fixtures, food, furniture, expanded into a successful multimedia corporation run predominantly by women with similar goals and ideas and skills,” Morvillo said. “Martha Stewart has devoted most of her life to improving the quality of life for others.” He went on, “And because she stressed the notion of making things as good and as perfect as possible, she has often been ridiculed and parodied.”
In the five weeks of the trial, these were the only words that addressed Stewart’s accomplishments. Morvillo was right. Stewart did create a thriving business that allowed and encouraged its customers, mostly women, to improve their daily lives. Because of the trial, of course, that empire began to fall apart.

The rhythms of the trial, which took place in Room 110 of the federal courthouse in Foley Square, never varied. Stewart’s S.U.V. arrived shortly before nine-thirty each morning, and the dozen or so photographers camped outside the courthouse got their arrival shots and then disappeared. Stewart and her bodyguard were excused from waiting in line for the front-door metal detector, but they did have to pass through it. From there, I saw them go to a fourth-floor war room, where, every morning, the team assembled. The group included Morvillo, three other lawyers (and assorted paralegals) from his firm, and John Cuti, Stewart’s son-in-law. (Later each morning, a catered lunch was delivered for the group.) Alexis Stewart attended almost every day, and sat directly behind her mother, in the first row of spectator seats. The Stewart table was stocked with Evian water and bottled green tea from Japan. Compared with the Stewart entourage, the prosecutors and Peter Bacanovic’s team (of three lawyers) drew little notice.

In a courtroom that had been the venue for many cases about organized-crime families, this case may have been the first about a clique. Few words were used more often than “friend”-a term that had a flexible definition. Bacanovic, Douglas Faneuil said, told him that he and Stewart “are close, we are very close friends and extremely loyal to one another,” although Bacanovic wasn’t close enough to attend Stewart’s annual Christmas dinner, at Chanterelle. (As for his own relationship with Bacanovic, Faneuil said, “I didn’t consider us to be friends, but we did-we did things socially.”) Heidi DeLuca, Stewart’s bookkeeper, called her a “friend,” but said that they never socialized. Sam Waksal, who is fifty-six, was at the center of the clique. Bacanovic had worked for Waksal at ImClone, and Alexis, who is thirty-eight, had dated Waksal for years. Waksal and Stewart were close friends who travelled together and spoke often. (For all his excesses, Waksal did truly believe in Erbitux, and it appears that his faith was justified. It was, of course, the F.D.A.’s rejection of Erbitux in late 2001 that set in motion the events leading to the criminal case. But ImClone kept working on the drug, and on February 12th, in the middle of Stewart’s trial, the F.D.A. finally gave its approval for Erbitux to be used in treating advanced colon cancer.)

It was clear from the start that if the government was going to win its case it would be because the jury believed Douglas Faneuil. In court, Faneuil, now twenty-eight, looked like a gawky child who had borrowed his father’s best suit. When he inched his chair toward the microphone in the witness box, his knees banged against the front of it. “My knees are long,” he told Judge Cedarbaum.

“Did there come a time when you were working at Merrill Lynch that you did something illegal?” Seymour asked him.

“Yes.”
“What did you do, briefly?”
“I told one client about what another client was doing in his account and then lied to cover it up.” Faneuil’s manner combined a studied meekness with a showy regard for the truth. Gravely, he noted that there was an “inaccuracy” in the resume he submitted to Merrill Lynch, saying, “I wrote that my grade-point average was 3.5, when in fact the number was actually 3.44.”
The most damaging moment in Faneuil’s testimony was his account of his workday on December 27, 2001. He had been Bacanovic’s assistant for just six months, but the day’s events turned on him. Throughout the trial, there was a fairly straightforward class division between people who, like Faneuil and Schimpfhauser, had to show up for work between Christmas and New Year’s, and those who, like Stewart and Bacanovic, left town. Shortly after Faneuil arrived on the morning of the twenty-seventh, the sell orders from the Waksal family came in, and early that afternoon, as Bacanovic had insisted, Faneuil and Stewart finally spoke. “Immediately she said, ‘Hi, this is Martha, what’s up with Sam?’ “ Faneuil recounted. “So I said, ‘Well, we have no news on the company, but Peter thought you might like to act on the information that Sam Waksal was trying to sell all of his shares.’ At that point, I may have mentioned Waksal’s daughters as well, I’m not sure.”
Morvillo objected, saying that Faneuil shouldn’t testify if he wasn’t “sure.” Given the opportunity, Faneuil made it worse for Stewart. “I’m confident saying with one-hundred-per-cent surety that I told her that Sam was trying to sell,” he said. “I’ll leave it at that.”
Everyone thought that Morvillo’s cross-examination of Faneuil would be the most important confrontation of the case, but, as it happened, the crucial turning point had nothing to do with him.

Through the early part of the trial, Peter Bacanovic’s lawyers generally deferred to Morvillo, much as their client did to Stewart. Bacanovic’s lead lawyer, Richard Strassberg, a former Assistant U.S. Attorney in Manhattan, who is now with the firm of Goodwin Procter, presented Bacanovic’s opening statement, but he shared substantial responsibility for the defense with David Apfel, a Boston-based partner at the firm. Apfel, who is fifty-one, had a distinguished career as a federal prosecutor in Massachusetts, where in 1997 he won the John Marshall Award, the Justice Department’s highest award for trial work. In the late nineties, he turned to private practice, and, at the lectern on February 4th, he proceeded to give life to the courtroom adage that the best prosecutors do not always make the best defense lawyers.

Apfel organized his notes, stared down Faneuil on the witness stand, and snarled at him, “Mr. Faneuil, let’s get a few things straight right away.”
Thus began a catastrophically ineffective cross-examination. The premise of Faneuil’s testimony was that he knew why Stewart had sold her shares-because he had told her that the Waksals were selling-and that any other explanation was a “cover story.” The defense team could have taken a softer route-one, in fact, anticipated during a practice cross-examination of Faneuil conducted at the U.S. Attorney’s office. As that session was described to me, the lawyers pointed out that Faneuil was little more than a glorified secretary who had no way of knowing the real reason that Stewart sold her shares. Faneuil was not privy to many of Stewart and Bacanovic’s conversations, and he was on vacation the week before the ImClone sale, when Stewart did make some tax-related sales of stock. Using this tack, Apfel could have dismissed Faneuil’s importance.

Instead, Apfel went to war. He suggested that Faneuil had changed his story; he implied that Faneuil was out for revenge; he charged that Faneuil was the real mastermind of the coverup; he all but accused him of being a nutcase, a publicity hound, a moron, and a junkie. (Faneuil had admitted to occasionally smoking marijuana.) At one point, Apfel asked him, “In January of 2002, at the time that you were having a series of discussions with Mr. Bacanovic that you have described as intimidating, did you ever send him e-mails with any funny articles attached?”
 After Faneuil said that it was possible, Apfel asked, “Do you recall sending him an article in January of 2003 about a man having sex with a goat?”
Seymour’s objection to that question was sustained, and the jury’s laughter came at Apfel’s expense. Faneuil stuck, ever more persuasively, to his original story. Then Apfel, not content with dragging down his own client, started to pull down Martha Stewart as well.

In his direct testimony, Faneuil implied that there was nothing special about his relationship with Stewart-that it amounted to a few telephone conversations. Apfel introduced a series of Faneuil’s e-mails to his friends suggesting that these were anything but bland encounters. On October 23, 2001, Faneuil recounted:

I have never, ever been treated so rudely by a stranger on the telephone. She actually hung up on me! And she had the nerve-the NERVE-to mention the layoffs in her anger. She said, “Do you know who the hell is answering your phones? You call and you know what he sounds like? He sounds like this. . . .” And then she made the most ridiculous sound I’ve heard coming from an adult in quite some time, kind of like a lion roaring underwater. I laughed; I thought she was joking. And then she yelled. . . . “Merrill Lynch is laying off ten thousand employees because of people like that idiot!” And then she hung up.

Three days later: “Martha yelled at me again today, but I snapped in her face and she actually backed down! Baby put Ms. Martha in her place.” Another time, Bacanovic had the temerity to put Stewart on hold, and that led to another tirade against Faneuil. “During that conversation,” Apfel asked Faneuil, “she told you that she was going to leave Peter Bacanovic and leave Merrill Lynch unless that hold music was changed, is that right?” Correct, Faneuil said. Even Bacanovic had to laugh at the story about Stewart’s “hold music” outburst. In a trial full of Stewart’s enablers and apologists, Faneuil was the great exception.

Robert Morvillo had a lot of damage to undo. Deepening the split that Apfel had opened between the two defendants, Morvillo pointed out that it was Bacanovic, not Stewart, who had urged Faneuil to lie to investigators. And Morvillo did, at last, raise the issue of whether Faneuil was in any position to know the real reason that Stewart had sold her shares of ImClone. As for Stewart’s somewhat intimidating personality, Morvillo tried to persuade the jury that it didn’t matter that Stewart had yelled at an underling. After all, she always yelled at underlings-that was her style. Morvillo tried to make that point in cross-examining Waksal’s secretary, Emily Perret, who had earlier said that Stewart was brusque when she called on December 27th. “Was there any difference between her tone on December 27th and the way she usually was with you?”
 “No, most of the time it was the same,” Perret replied.

“Most of the time she was hurried and harsh and direct when she spoke to you?”
“That’s correct.”
The positions of personal assistant and personal secretary may sound similar, but they represent distinct social archetypes. Assistants, like Faneuil, may aspire to be their bosses and see themselves as their social equals, while secretaries are more often denied the hope of advancement. The response of some secretaries to this plight is ever greater sublimation of self and dedication to the boss’s welfare. The more Stewart’s secretary, Ann E. (pronounced “Annie”) Armstrong, tried to help her boss, the more she helped usher her to her fate.

Armstrong has been Stewart’s secretary for six years. She has a nervous smile and a haunted look, and she mumbled through the first few minutes of her testimony. When she came to the events of December 27, 2001, she lost control of her emotions. When Stewart called on the way to Mexico, it marked the first time they had spoken since Christmas. “I thanked her for the plum pudding that she had sent home,” Armstrong said, and then started to weep. She tried to recover her composure, saying, “Martha made plum puddings and sent them home with a lot of us for Christmas, so I thanked her for that.” But then she started to cry again, and Judge Cedarbaum called a recess for the day.

As clearly as Faneuil loathed Martha Stewart, Armstrong loved her, which was why her testimony was so devastating. The central image she presented was vivid-the haughty Stewart sitting in her secretary’s cubicle (something Armstrong said she had never done before) and fiddling with the phone log. Armstrong tried to minimize what Stewart had done, emphasizing that Stewart had told her to change the document back “instantly.” On cross-examination, she told Morvillo that Stewart had never asked her to cover up or lie about the incident.

Still, the damage from Armstrong’s testimony was profound. It foreclosed what would have been one of Stewart’s best arguments in a case where she had not been charged with insider trading: Why would she lie if she hadn’t done anything wrong in the first place?

Another disaster for the defense came in the person of Stewart’s close friend Mariana Pasternak, a Westport real-estate broker. Stewart and Pasternak spoke daily, saw each other weekly, and had travelled together to the Galapagos, Egypt, Brazil, and Peru. In December of 2001, they went to Mexico and Panama. Pasternak’s hair was darker than Stewart’s, but they had the same expensive coiffure and similarly refined tastes. Regarding a conversation with Stewart on the balcony of their hotel suite in Los Cabos, Morvillo asked her, “You were in a chair?”
“I was in a chaise,” Pasternak corrected.

The government called her simply to corroborate Faneuil’s account of his conversation with Stewart on December 27th. Pasternak did that, but in her brief testimony she also gave a revealing glimpse into Stewart’s emotional life.

On December 30th, the two women had returned to their suite after a guided hike near their resort. They were relaxing with soft drinks on their balcony when Pasternak, as she recalled it, said, “Here we are again, just the two of us on a holiday trip with no male companionship.” They were both divorced, wealthy, and, in romantic terms, alone. Pasternak turned the conversation to Waksal, who had to be a complicated subject for Stewart. After all, Waksal and Stewart were about the same age, but he had dated her daughter. Stewart’s reported comments about Waksal reflected the ambivalence such complications might produce.

Waksal, Stewart suggested, was falling apart. He had “disappeared again”-that is, she couldn’t reach him. (She had tried calling him on the twenty-seventh after getting the tip from Faneuil.) He was “walking funny” at her Christmas party. Worse, Stewart went on, he and his daughters had sold or were trying to sell all their stock in ImClone. “His stock is going down, or went down, and I sold mine,” Stewart added. This was the crucial part of her testimony, because Stewart had no way of knowing that Waksal and his daughters were selling except from the conversation with Faneuil.

Pasternak’s appearance ended on a curious note. In her direct testimony, she said that, in another conversation in Mexico, Stewart had commented about Bacanovic’s tip, “Isn’t it nice to have brokers who tell you those things?” But, under Morvillo’s cross-examination, she said, “I do not know if that statement was made by Martha or just was a thought in my mind”-a concession so dramatic that it brought a gasp from the spectators. But then, when the prosecution questioned her again, Pasternak said her “best belief” was that Stewart said it.

Pasternak noted in passing that Stewart was rather sad to have sold her shares in Waksal’s company, because “it was a question of loyalty to her friend.” Stewart said something similar to me at Turkey Hill, explaining that she liked to buy shares in the companies of C.E.O.s she admired, as a kind of tribute but also as a way to learn from them. Her stock portfolio, which was made public during the trial, revealed that she fell for other emblematic figures of the nineteen-nineties. She did well with Wal-Mart and Dell, but lost with investments in Amazon, Lucent, Doubleclick, and JDS Uniphase.

One of the most frequently raised questions about the trial was why Stewart put on such a meagre defense. A high-powered defense team, it was asserted, should have come up with something in response to a month of government witnesses. As it turned out, however, when Morvillo finally had the chance to call witnesses he had almost no good options. Most important, he thought that it was out of the question for Stewart herself to testify. She had no good answers for the most basic questions. What explanation could she give for altering the phone log at Ann Armstrong’s desk? How did Pasternak know that the Waksals were dumping their shares? And if Stewart told her, as she certainly did, why did she deny to investigators that she knew of the Waksal sales?

What’s more, in a cross-examination of Stewart, the rest of her life would be open to ruthless scrutiny. Wasn’t it true that the State of New York had charged her with lying about the location of her residence in order to avoid some taxes? In that case, didn’t she testify under oath that she hadn’t appeared on the “Today” show in 1991-and wasn’t that testimony false? Was it true that the state concluded that the information Stewart supplied “could not always be relied upon”? (Stewart lost the tax case and ultimately paid the state more than two hundred thousand dollars.) Morvillo could imagine other cross-examination avenues: Ms. Stewart, let me direct your attention to May, 1997. Did you call your neighbor’s landscaper in East Hampton a “fucking liar,” then attempt to run him down in your Suburban truck? Did he scream that you were crushing him? Did you pay him a settlement for civil damages? (The landscaper, Matthew Munnich, filed a complaint with the police, which did not result in any charges against Stewart, but she did pay him an undisclosed amount to preempt a civil lawsuit.) How would the imperious Stewart hold up under this kind of questioning? Morvillo was not prepared to find out. Even more important, he knew that, under federal sentencing guidelines, Stewart would face a longer sentence if Judge Cedarbaum thought she had lied on the witness stand. Given the way the case was going, and the likelihood of conviction, Morvillo didn’t want to take that risk, either.

There was no shortage of potential character witnesses willing to testify to Stewart’s good works. But they would have opened up what was known in the defense camp as “Chris Byron issues.” Christopher Byron and Jerry Oppenheimer had written scathing biographies of Stewart, and the prosecution could have sampled their most damning stories to challenge the evidence having to do with Stewart’s character. Would it affect your opinion of Ms. Stewart’s character, the prosecutor might ask, if you knew she acknowledged lying in public about her ex-husband’s ability to father children? Stewart had admitted to that, but, under the rules of evidence, the prosecution wouldn’t be required to prove the published stories of her misbehavior. Fair or not, the questions alone would do enough damage.

So Morvillo couldn’t call Stewart, couldn’t call character witnesses, and couldn’t call anyone to verify Stewart’s preexisting agreement with Bacanovic to sell ImClone at sixty dollars-because, as was increasingly apparent, they had no such agreement. (In an effort to prove the sixty-dollar agreement, Bacanovic’s lawyers called Heidi DeLuca, Stewart’s bookkeeper; but in an artful cross-examination Schachter had shown that her conversation with Bacanovic probably concerned an earlier sale of ImClone shares by Stewart, not the one on December 27, 2001.) In the end, Morvillo called just a single witness, Steven Pearl, the associate at Wachtell, Lipton whom Savarese had brought along to the U.S. Attorney’s office to take notes during Stewart’s interview on February 4, 2002. The idea was to challenge the F.B.I. agent’s account of the meeting; as with most office interviews, there was no tape recording or transcript. Oddly, though, Pearl had little experience in note-taking, and in his testimony couldn’t remember much of what was said or decipher much of what he had written. Morvillo would have been better off calling no witnesses at all.

Schachter’s dense, factual summation left Morvillo with only the hoariest of arguments for guilty white-collar defendants: that no one could have been so stupid as to leave such an obvious trail of evidence. He said, mockingly, that the government had said that Stewart and Bacanovic belonged to a “confederacy of dunces.” But Karen Seymour, in her rebuttal summation, came up with the obvious rejoinder to Morvillo’s desperate argument: “Smart people committing stupid crimes or doing stupid things, your common sense tells you that that’s what white-collar criminals do every day.”
Judge Cedarbaum praised the jury throughout the trial, and it did seem a remarkably attentive group. Not one juror missed a day, so none of the six alternates were called to deliberate, and the testimony was never delayed because of juror tardiness-rare in New York. The jurors returned the Judge’s esteem by following her instructions with care.

Many jurors were interviewed after the verdict, and several took the opportunity to interpret its larger implications. One said that the case “sends a message to bigwigs in corporations that they have to abide by the law. No one is above the law.” Actually, the deliberations seem to have been tethered closely to the facts of the case, rather than following any broader agenda. “We never really had any arguments-we had discussions,” one of the jurors, Amos Mellinger, a market researcher from Riverdale, told me. The jurors quickly studied the key evidence, first asking to hear most of Faneuil’s testimony and then reviewing Stewart’s stock portfolio. Mellinger had once before served on a high-profile jury, in the case of one of the white men accused of murdering Yusef Hawkins in Bensonhurst in 1989. The Stewart jury, made up of eight women and four men, “got along beautifully,” he said.

The jurors’ first vote was on one of the false-statement counts against Stewart, and it was unanimous: guilty. Mellinger and other jurors said that Armstrong and Pasternak were especially effective for the prosecution. “As a loyal employee, Ann was just bent out of shape having to testify, and the same with Pasternak,” Mellinger said. “They didn’t want to be there, but they told the truth.”
Most of the jurors’ notes to the Judge concerned evidence against Bacanovic, so lawyers on both sides assumed that they hadn’t even turned their attention to the case against Stewart. It came as something of a surprise when the jurors, after lunch on Friday, March 5th, sent a note announcing that they had a verdict. After a five-week trial, they hadn’t deliberated for even two full days. “We thought the jury would be out longer,” Morvillo told me in an interview after the trial.

Jurors often look haggard and exhausted when they deliver a verdict; the emotional toll of passing judgment is often considerable, especially after a long trial. But as these jurors filed into Room 110, just before three o’clock, they looked relaxed, and several had half smiles. None of them looked at the defendants-often a tipoff of conviction-but it was their equanimity that was so startling. The jury convicted Stewart of all four counts and Bacanovic of four out of five.

Nothing seemed to go right for Stewart. In the first hours following the verdict, she posted a statement on her Web site, marthatalks.com, saying, “I am obviously distressed by the jury’s verdict but I continue to take comfort in knowing that I have done nothing wrong and that I have the enduring support of my family and friends.” Within minutes, though, apparently at the insistence of her lawyers, the words “I have done nothing wrong” were removed. This revision was certainly influenced by Stewart’s next problem: her sentencing.

Federal guidelines use a point system to help determine the length of a sentence. Stewart’s crime has a base level of twelve, and the recommended sentencing range is ten to sixteen months. But the probation department, which makes the first evaluation, and Judge Cedarbaum, who will render the final decision, could adjust Stewart’s score. If they found, for instance, that Stewart abused a position of trust, such as her status as a C.E.O., that could raise her score by another two points-indicating a prison sentence of fifteen to twenty-one months. The number could go down two points if Stewart shows “acceptance of responsibility.” That reduction usually goes only to defendants who plead guilty, but Stewart’s lawyers may argue for it, which is why they didn’t want her saying, “I have done nothing wrong.” Sentencing is set for June 17th. An investigation that began as a minor annoyance, a brief interview at the U.S. Attorney’s office squeezed in between trips to Europe and the West Coast, will end for Martha Stewart with a judge deciding how long-not whether-she will go to prison.

In Karen Seymour’s rebuttal summation, she implored the jurors, “Don’t think about the S.E.C. Don’t think about the F.B.I., though they certainly were victimized. It’s really our entire nation, our country, that is victimized.” Seymour was, to say the least, engaging in overstatement. Stewart didn’t steal anything, or fleece any investors. On December 27, 2001, more than seven million shares of ImClone changed hands. Stewart did sell her nearly four thousand shares advantageously, but it’s hard to imagine that her sale had any impact on the stock price. She also misled some federal agents, but not for very long. If anyone lost, it is the stockholders in Martha Stewart’s company-as a result of the prosecution of its chief. In all, it is difficult to translate Stewart’s lies into a crime against “our entire nation.”
Many other attempts were made to find large significance in this trial, and the case brought together unlikely allies. On the “Today” show, the writer Naomi Wolf attributed Stewart’s fall to “a social taboo against women being too powerful, too wealthy, too successful without being attached to a man.” Some conservatives, like Ann Coulter, heard an echo of Bill Clinton in her indifference to truth-telling-a presumption that the rules didn’t apply to her-and demanded punishment. Other conservatives saw the trial as big government run amok, with Stewart’s shareholders as the real victims-they were, according to the editorialists at the Wall Street Journal, “the innocent bystanders paying the biggest price for the prosecutors’ zeal to see Martha Stewart in an orange jumpsuit.” The facts of Stewart’s fall could fit almost any agenda.

There was also a distinctly American story of self-creation-of a dramatic rise and sudden fall-which invested an essentially banal trial with the weight of meaning and the potential for a schadenfreude festival. Martha Stewart came from a New Jersey suburb and created an American business success-persuading people to buy something they didn’t know they needed. In her case, she refined the ordinary comforts of middle-class life: a better Thanksgiving dinner, a prettier Christmas wreath. Her projects often took hard work, but they were never too exotic. After all, the phrase most closely associated with her is “a good thing”-not a great one. It was a modest, homely aesthetic with an overlay of Stewart’s odd glamour.

Stewart’s phone logs, displayed so often during the trial, revealed an existence of enviable privilege and variety. “Sec. Albright is trying to set up a follow-up meeting next week.” The president of Harvard wanted to talk. Could friends borrow a white Jaguar? Was there room for one more person to squeeze into Stewart’s helicopter-the one taking her to the party on a yacht off the coast of Panama? “Dick Gephardt wants to speak to you about his upcoming trip to New York.” What date was convenient for her to read David Letterman’s Top Ten list? “Melanie Griffith (sounding exactly 12 years old) heard you were looking for someone to ‘cook with on TV’ and she’d like to recommend her sister, Tracy, who is ‘forty, beautiful, a sushi chef in LA, and a huge Martha fan.’ “ Even the work didn’t sound much like work: “Choose Cookie issue cover.” It was another world. And then, overnight, it seemed, Stewart became a member of the Tabloid Hall of Fame, a place inhabited by Michael Jackson, David Gest, and Liza Minnelli. Already the same op-ed columnists and television panelists who had assigned various meanings to the affair were wondering if Stewart could return from prison and remake herself and her company. Or was the price of her felonies too high, and the damage to her image and story irreparable?
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I.
RPM: THE PER SE RULE & ITS EXCEPTIONS 


A.  Dr. Miles Medical Co.(1911):  


1.  P sues to enforce contractual RPM provision to prevent resale at lower prices



2.  SCt holds that RPM violates Sherman Act




a.  public entitled to benefit of competition in price of product




b.  seen as establishing per se rule against vertical price restraints



c.  key quote:

 Where commodities have passed into the channels of trade and are owned by dealers, the validity of agreements to pre-vent competition and to maintain prices is not to be deter-mined by the circumstance whether they were produced by several manufacturers or by one, or whether they were previously owned by one or by many.  The complainant having sold its product at prices satisfactory to itself, the public is entitled to whatever advantage may be derived from competition in the subsequent traffic.



3.  Three large exceptions in per se rule (1919-1975)


B.  Exception 1: Colgate Doctrine 

1.  Colgate (1919)

a.  seller can suggest prices & terminate dealers that don't follow

b.  rests on lack of concerted action 


2.  Later cases limit:




a.  can have implied contracts that violate Dr Miles



b.  policing mechanisms seen as showing agmt




c.  reinstatement of violators who express intent to comply = agreement


3.  By 1975, Colgate viewed as trivial exception; not useful as planning device


C.  Exception 2: Consignment 



1.  G.E. (1926):  Dr. Miles rule doesn't apply where consignment operation



a.  rests on manufacturer’s ownership interest




b.  After GE, widespread use of consignment


2.  Simpson (1964): big limits on consignment exception




a.  can't be used to hide price fixing across large distribution system



b.  Distinguishes GE as case about rights of patent holders




c.  Read to mean: consignment fails if large scope, market power, intent bad.


D.  Fair Trade Laws: 


1.  Congressional Acts in 1937 & 1952: states can allow RPM.  


2.  Studies showed prices in states that allowed 19% higher.  

3.  States begin to repeal in 60s



4.  Fed’l Acts on books till 1975 

II. 
PRE-SYLVANIA NON-PRICE CASES


A.  White Motor (1963) (territorial restraints) 

1.  D claimed necessary for effective interbrand comp.  

2.  SCt. rev'd DCt holding that per se illegal; wanted to know more about economic 




effects.  


B.  Schwinn (1967):  (Described in Sylvania) (territorial and customer restraints)



1.  SCt found per se illegality where seller retains title/risk of loss



2.  Theory is inconsistent w Simpson
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DEBATE ON COMPETITIVE IMPACT OF VERTICAL RESTRAINTS

I.  Theory behind vertical restraints:  supplier limits intra-brand comp to improve inter-brand

II.  Why Would Supplier Want Impose Non-Price Restraints on Distributors?


A.  Territorial & customer restraints and exclusive Ks limit # players in intra-brand mkt 


1.
distributors reap more rewards of own promotion


2.
incentive to take more steps to promote product, which should yield higher sales


B.  Requiring service/info etc 


1.
Make distributors present product in best light to maximize sales




2.
Distributors know that all have to perform required service, so no hesitation to do

C.  Most commentators agree non-p restraints unlikely to harm comp

III.
Why Would Supplier Institute RPM (Forces Higher Price/Lower Output)?

A.  Set P high enough to guarantee reasonable margins for distributors



1.  Encourage distributors to spend $ on ads/services 


2.  No Free Rider Problems.


B.  Quality signaling 


C.  Facilitate Supplier Cartel (Easier to Monitor)


1.  check if cartel-like industry



2.  check if most in industry doing


D.  Exercise of retail market power by powerful retailer or cartel



1.  check if cartel-like retail trade



2.  check if retailer w mkt power trying to eliminate competitor (e.g., Klor's)

IV.
Extensive Debate about Competitive Impact of RPM 


A.  Chicago school position (adopted by DOJ in Monsanto) 



1.  Prevents discounters from free-riding



2.  Harm unlikely absent cartel; easier just to attack cartels


3.  Supplier has no reason to want less output


B.  Difficult Empirical Qs re free-riding as justifying RPM



1.  Not clear how often is reason for RPM



2.  Harm from free-riding will vary from industry to industry



3.  Unclear if gain from extra info/services justifies higher prices


C.  Non-price restrictions probably less likely to cause harm



1.  dealers can benefit from lower prices if find cheaper way to do service



2.  less likely to facilitate cartels



3.  But maybe expensive to monitor
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CONTINENTAL T. V., INC. v. GTE SYLVANIA INC.

433 U.S. 36 (1977)

Justice POWELL delivered the opinion of the Court.  Franchise agreements between manufacturers and retailers frequently include provisions barring the retailers from selling franchised products from locations other than those specified in the agreements. This case presents important questions concerning the appropriate antitrust analysis of these restrictions under §1 of the Sherman Act, and the Court’s decision in U.S. v. Arnold, Schwinn & Co., 388 U.S. 365 (1967) [Schwinn].

I.
Respondent GTE Sylvania Inc. (Sylvania) manufactures and sells television sets through its Home Entertainment Products Division. Prior to 1962, like most other television manufacturers, Sylvania sold its televisions to independent or company-owned distributors who in turn resold to a large and diverse group of retailers. Prompted by a decline in its market share to a relatively insignificant 1% to 2% of national television sales, Sylvania conducted an intensive reassessment of its marketing strategy, and in 1962 adopted the franchise plan challenged here. Sylvania phased out its wholesale distributors and began to sell its televisions directly to a smaller and more select group of franchised retailers. An acknowledged purpose of the change was to decrease the number of competing Sylvania retailers in the hope of attracting the more aggressive and competent retailers thought necessary to the improvement of the company’s market position.  To this end, Sylvania limited the number of franchises granted for any given area and required each franchisee to sell his Sylvania products only from the location or locations at which he was franchised.  A franchise did not constitute an exclusive territory, and Sylvania retained sole discretion to increase the number of retailers in an area in light of the success or failure of existing retailers in developing their market. The revised marketing strategy appears to have been successful during the period at issue here, for by 1965 Sylvania’s share of national television sales had increased to approximately 5%….


This suit is the result of the rupture of a franchiser-franchisee relationship that had previously prospered under the revised Sylvania plan. Dissatisfied with its sales in the city of San Francisco, Sylvania decided in the spring of 1965 to franchise Young Brothers, an established San Francisco retailer of televisions, as an additional San Francisco retailer. The proposed location of the new franchise was approximately a mile from a retail outlet operated by petitioner Continental T. V., Inc. (Continental), one of the most successful Sylvania franchisees.  Continental protested that the location of the new franchise violated Sylvania’s marketing policy, but Sylvania persisted in its plans. Continental then canceled a large Sylvania order and placed a large order with Phillips, one of Sylvania’s competitors.

  
During this same period, Continental expressed a desire to open a store in Sacramento, Cal., a desire Sylvania attributed at least in part to Continental’s displeasure over the Young Brothers decision. Sylvania believed that the Sacramento market was adequately served by the existing Sylvania retailers and denied the request.  In the face of this denial, Continental advised Sylvania in early September 1965, that it was in the process of moving Sylvania merchandise from its San Jose, Cal., warehouse to a new retail location that it had leased in Sacramento. Two weeks later, allegedly for unrelated reasons, Sylvania’s credit department reduced Continental’s credit line from $300,000 to $50,000.  In response to the reduction in credit and the generally deteriorating relations with Sylvania, Continental withheld all payments owed to John P. Maguire & Co., Inc. (Maguire), the finance company that handled the credit arrangements between Sylvania and its retailers. Shortly thereafter, Sylvania terminated Continental’s franchises, and Maguire filed this diversity action … seeking recovery of money owed and of secured merchandise held by Continental.

  
The antitrust issues before us originated in cross-claims brought by Continental against Sylvania and Maguire. Most important for our purposes was the claim that Sylvania had violated §1 of the Sherman Act by entering into and enforcing franchise agreements that prohibited the sale of Sylvania products other than from specified locations.  At the close of evidence in the jury trial of Continental’s claims, Sylvania requested the District Court to instruct the jury that its location restriction was illegal only if it unreasonably restrained or suppressed competition. Relying on … Schwinn, the District Court rejected the proffered instruction in favor of the following one:

Therefore, if you find by a preponderance of the evidence that Sylvania entered into a contract, combination or conspiracy with one or more of its dealers pursuant to which Sylvania exercised dominion or control over the products sold to the dealer, after having parted with title and risk to the products, you must find any effort thereafter to restrict outlets or store locations from which its dealers resold the merchandise which they had purchased from Sylvania to be a violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, regardless of the reasonableness of the location restrictions.

In answers to special interrogatories, the jury found that Sylvania had engaged “in a contract, combination or conspiracy in restraint of trade in violation of the antitrust laws with respect to location restrictions alone,” and assessed Continental’s damages at $591,505, which was trebled … to produce an award of $1,774,515.9 

  
On appeal, the Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, sitting en banc, reversed by a divided vote. The court acknowledged that there is language in Schwinn that could be read to support the District Court’s instruction but concluded that Schwinn was distinguishable on several grounds. Contrasting the nature of the restrictions, their competitive impact, and the market shares of the franchisers in the two cases, the court concluded that Sylvania’s location restriction had less potential for competitive harm than the restrictions invalidated in Schwinn and thus should be judged under the “rule of reason” rather than the per se rule stated in Schwinn. The court found support for its position in the policies of the Sherman Act and in the decisions of other federal courts involving nonprice vertical restrictions. We granted Continental’s petition for certiorari to resolve this important question of antitrust law. 

II. 
A.
We turn first to Continental’s contention that Sylvania’s restriction on retail locations is a per se violation of §1 of the Sherman Act as interpreted in Schwinn. The restrictions at issue in Schwinn were part of a three-tier distribution system comprising, in addition to Arnold, Schwinn & Co. (Schwinn), 22 intermediate distributors and a network of franchised retailers. Each distributor had a defined geographic area in which it had the exclusive right to supply franchised retailers. Sales to the public were made only through franchised retailers, who were authorized to sell Schwinn bicycles only from specified locations. In support of this limitation, Schwinn prohibited both distributors and retailers from selling Schwinn bicycles to nonfranchised retailers. At the retail level, therefore, Schwinn was able to control the number of retailers of its bicycles in any given area according to its view of the needs of that market.

As of 1967 approximately 75% of Schwinn’s total sales were made under the “Schwinn Plan.” Acting essentially as a manufacturer’s representative or sales agent, a distributor participating in this plan forwarded orders from retailers to the factory. Schwinn then shipped the ordered bicycles directly to the retailer, billed the retailer, bore the credit risk, and paid the distributor a commission on the sale. Under the Schwinn Plan, the distributor never had title to or possession of the bicycles. The remainder of the bicycles moved to the retailers through the hands of the distributors. For the most part, the distributors functioned as traditional wholesalers with respect to these sales….  Distributors acquired title only to those bicycles that they purchased as wholesalers; retailers, of course, acquired title to all of the bicycles ordered by them. …

[In Schwinn, this] Court proceeded to articulate the following “bright line” per se rule of illegality for vertical restrictions: “Under the Sherman Act, it is unreasonable without more for a manufacturer to seek to restrict and confine areas or persons with whom an article may be traded after the manufacturer has parted with dominion over it.” But the Court expressly stated that the rule of reason governs when “the manufacturer retains title, dominion, and risk with respect to the product and the position and function of the dealer in question are, in fact, indistinguishable from those of an agent or salesman of the manufacturer.” 

Application of these principles to the facts of Schwinn produced sharply contrasting results depending on the role played by the distributor in the distribution system.  With respect to that portion of Schwinn’s sales for which the distributors acted as ordinary wholesalers buying and reselling bicycles, the Court held that the territorial and customer restrictions … were per se illegal. But, with respect to that larger portion of Schwinn’s sales in which the distributors functioned under the Schwinn Plan and [other] consignment and agency arrangements, the Court held that the same restrictions should be judged under the rule of reason. The only retail restriction challenged by the Government prevented franchised retailers from supplying nonfranchised retailers. The Court apparently perceived no material distinction between the restrictions on distributors and retailers, for it held:

The principle is, of course, equally applicable to sales to retailers, and the decree should similarly enjoin the making of any sales to retailers upon any condition, agreement or understanding limiting the retailer’s freedom as to where and to whom it will resell the products.


Applying the rule of reason to the restrictions that were not imposed in conjunction with the sale of bicycles, the Court had little difficulty finding them all reasonable in light of the competitive situation in “the product market as a whole.” 

B.
In the present case, it is undisputed that title to the television sets passed from Sylvania to Continental. Thus, the Schwinn per se rule applies unless Sylvania’s restriction on locations falls outside Schwinn’s prohibition against a manufacturer’s attempting to restrict a “retailer’s freedom as to where and to whom it will resell the products.” As the Court of Appeals conceded, the language of Schwinn is clearly broad enough to apply to the present case. Unlike the Court of Appeals, however, we are unable to find a principled basis for distinguishing Schwinn from the case now before us.

Both Schwinn and Sylvania sought to reduce but not to eliminate competition among their respective retailers through the adoption of a franchise system. Although it was not one of the issues addressed …, the Schwinn franchise plan included a location restriction similar to the one challenged here. These restrictions allowed Schwinn and Sylvania to regulate the amount of competition among their retailers by preventing a franchisee from selling franchised products from outlets other than the one covered by the franchise agreement. To exactly the same end, the Schwinn franchise plan included a companion restriction, apparently not found in the Sylvania plan, that prohibited franchised retailers from selling Schwinn products to nonfranchised retailers. In Schwinn the Court expressly held that this restriction was impermissible under the broad principle stated there. In intent and competitive impact, the retail-customer restriction n Schwinn is indistinguishable from the location restriction in the present case. In both cases the restrictions limited the freedom of the retailer to dispose of the purchased products as he desired. The fact that one restriction was addressed to territory and the other to customers is irrelevant to functional antitrust analysis, and indeed, to the language and broad thrust of the opinion in Schwinn.12  …

III.
Sylvania argues that if Schwinn cannot be distinguished, it should be reconsidered. Although Schwinn is supported by the principle of stare decisis, we are convinced that the need for clarification of the law in this area justifies reconsideration. Schwinn itself was an abrupt and largely unexplained departure from White Motor Co. v. U.S., 372 U.S. 253 (1963), where only four years earlier the Court had refused to endorse a per se rule for vertical restrictions. Since its announcement, Schwinn has been the subject of continuing controversy and confusion, both in the scholarly journals and in the federal courts. The great weight of scholarly opinion has been critical of the decision, and a number of the federal courts confronted with analogous vertical restrictions have sought to limit its reach.  In our view, the experience of the past 10 years should be brought to bear on this subject of considerable commercial importance.

The traditional framework of analysis under §1 of the Sherman Act is familiar and does not require extended discussion. Section 1 prohibits “[e]very contract, combination ..., or conspiracy, in restraint of trade or commerce.” Since the early years of this century a judicial gloss on this statutory language has established the “rule of reason” as the prevailing standard of analysis. Under this rule, the factfinder weighs all of the circumstances of a case in deciding whether a restrictive practice should be prohibited as imposing an unreasonable restraint on competition.  Per se rules of illegality are appropriate only when they relate to conduct that is manifestly anticompetitive. As the Court explained in Northern Pac. R. Co. v. U.S., 356 U.S. 1, 5 (1958), “there are certain agreements or practices which because of their pernicious effect on competition and lack of any redeeming virtue are conclusively presumed to be unreasonable and therefore illegal without elaborate inquiry as to the precise harm they have caused or the business excuse for their use.”16 

  
…[T]he issue before us is whether Schwinn’s per se rule can be justified under the demanding standards of Northern Pac. R. Co. The Court’s refusal to endorse a per se rule in White Motor Co. was based on its uncertainty as to whether vertical restrictions satisfied those standards. Addressing this question for the first time, the Court stated:

We need to know more than we do about the actual impact of these arrangements on competition to decide whether they have such a “pernicious effect on competition and lack . . . any redeeming virtue” (Northern Pac. R. Co.) and therefore should be classified as per se violations of the Sherman Act. 

Only four years later the Court in Schwinn announced its sweeping per se rule without even a reference to Northern Pac. R. Co. and with no explanation of its sudden change in position. We turn now to consider Schwinn in light of Northern Pac. R. Co.


The market impact of vertical restrictions18 is complex because of their potential for a simultaneous reduction of intrabrand competition and stimulation of interbrand competition.19  Significantly, the Court in Schwinn did not distinguish among the challenged restrictions on the basis of their individual potential for intrabrand harm or interbrand benefit. Restrictions that completely eliminated intrabrand competition among Schwinn distributors were analyzed no differently from those that merely moderated intrabrand competition among retailers. The pivotal factor was the passage of title: All restrictions were held to be per se illegal where title had passed, and all were evaluated and sustained under the rule of reason where it had not. The location restriction at issue here would be subject to the same pattern of analysis under Schwinn.

  
It appears that this distinction between sale and nonsale transactions resulted from the Court’s effort to accommodate the perceived intrabrand harm and interbrand benefit of vertical restrictions. The per se rule for sale transactions reflected the view that vertical restrictions are “so obviously destructive” of intrabrand competition that their use would “open the door to exclusivity of outlets and limitation of territory  further than prudence permits.” Conversely, the continued adherence to the traditional rule of reason for nonsale transactions reflected the view that the restrictions have too great a potential for the promotion of interbrand competition to justify complete prohibition.  The Court’s opinion provides no analytical support for these contrasting positions. Nor is there even an assertion in the opinion that the competitive impact of vertical restrictions is significantly affected by the form of the transaction. Non-sale transactions appear to be excluded from the per se rule, not because of a greater danger of intrabrand harm or a greater promise of interbrand benefit, but rather because of the Court’s unexplained belief that a complete per se prohibition would be too “inflexibl[e].” 


Vertical restrictions reduce intrabrand competition by limiting the number of sellers of a particular product competing for the business of a given group of buyers. Location restrictions have this effect because of practical constraints on the effective marketing area of retail outlets. Although intrabrand competition may be reduced, the ability of retailers to exploit the resulting market may be limited both by the ability of consumers to travel to other franchised locations and, perhaps more importantly, to purchase the competing products of other manufacturers. None of these key variables, however, is affected by the form of the transaction by which a manufacturer conveys his products to the retailers.

  
Vertical restrictions promote interbrand competition by allowing the manufacturer to achieve certain efficiencies in the distribution of his products. These “redeeming virtues” are implicit in every decision sustaining vertical restrictions under the rule of reason. Economists have identified a number of ways in which manufacturers can use such restrictions to compete more effectively against other manufacturers.23  For example, new manufacturers and manufacturers entering new markets can use the restrictions in order to induce competent and aggressive retailers to make the kind of investment of capital and labor that is often required in the distribution of products unknown to the consumer. Established manufacturers can use them to induce retailers to engage in promotional activities or to provide service and repair facilities necessary to the efficient marketing of their products. Service and repair are vital for many products, such as automobiles and major household appliances. The availability and quality of such services affect a manufacturer’s goodwill and the competitiveness of his product. Because of market imperfections such as the so-called “free rider” effect, these services might not be provided by retailers in a purely competitive situation, despite the fact that each retailer’s benefit would be greater if all provided the services than if none did. 

  
Economists also have argued that manufacturers have an economic interest in maintaining as much intrabrand competition as is consistent with the efficient distribution of their products. Bork, The Rule of Reason and the Per Se Concept: Price Fixing and the Market Division (II), 75 Yale L.J. 373, 403 (1966); Posner, [Antitrust Policy and the Supreme Court: An Analysis of the Restricted Distribution, Horizontal Merger and Potential Competition  Decisions, 75 Colum.L.Rev. 282, 283, 287-288 (1975)].24  Although the view that the manufacturer’s interest necessarily corresponds with that of the public is not universally shared, even the leading critic of vertical restrictions concedes that Schwinn ‘s distinction between sale and nonsale transactions is essentially unrelated to any relevant economic impact. Comanor, Vertical Territorial and Customer Restrictions: White Motor and Its Aftermath, 81 Harv.L.Rev. 1419, 1422 (1968).25  Indeed, to the extent that the form of the transaction is related to interbrand benefits, the Court’s distinction is inconsistent with its articulated concern for the ability of smaller firms to compete effectively with larger ones. Capital requirements and administrative expenses may prevent smaller firms from using the exception for nonsale transactions.26 

  
We conclude that the distinction drawn in Schwinn between sale and nonsale transactions is not sufficient to justify the application of a per se rule in one situation and a rule of reason in the other. The question remains whether the per se rule stated in Schwinn should be expanded to include non-sale transactions or abandoned in favor of a return to the rule of reason. We have found no persuasive support for expanding the per se rule. As noted above, the Schwinn Court recognized the undesirability of “prohibit[ing] all vertical restrictions of territory and all franchising . . ..”27 And even Continental does not urge us to hold that all such restrictions are per se illegal.


We revert to the standard articulated in Northern Pac. R. Co., and reiterated in White Motor, for determining whether vertical restrictions must be “conclusively presumed to be unreasonable and therefore illegal without elaborate inquiry as to the precise harm they have caused or the business excuse for their use.” … Certainly, there has been no showing in this case, either generally or with respect to Sylvania’s agreements, that vertical restrictions have or are likely to have a “pernicious effect on competition” or that they “lack . . . any redeeming virtue.” Accordingly, we conclude that the rule stated in Schwinn must be overruled.  … [W]e do not foreclose the possibility that particular applications of vertical restrictions might justify per se prohibition under Northern Pac. R. Co., [b]ut … departure from the rule-of-reason standard must be based upon demonstrable economic effect rather than as in Schwinn upon formalistic line drawing.

  
In sum, we conclude that the appropriate decision is to return to the rule of reason that governed vertical restrictions prior to Schwinn. When anticompetitive effects are shown to result from particular vertical restrictions they can be adequately policed under the rule of reason, the standard traditionally applied for the majority of anticompetitive practices challenged under §1 of the Act. … 

Justice WHITE, concurring in the judgment.  Although I agree with the majority that the location clause at issue in this case is not a per se violation of the Sherman Act and should be judged under the rule of reason, I cannot agree that this result requires the overruling of Schwinn. In my view this case is distinguishable from Schwinn because there is less potential for restraint of intrabrand competition and more potential for stimulating interbrand competition. As to intrabrand competition, Sylvania, unlike Schwinn, did not restrict the customers to whom or the territories where its purchasers could sell. As to interbrand competition, Sylvania, unlike Schwinn, had an insignificant market share at the time it adopted its challenged distribution practice and enjoyed no consumer preference that would allow its retailers to charge a premium over other brands. … 

One element of the system of interrelated vertical restraints invalidated in Schwinn was a retail-customer restriction prohibiting franchised retailers from selling Schwinn products to nonfranchised retailers. The Court rests its inability to distinguish Schwinn entirely on this retail-customer restriction, finding it “[i]n intent and competitive impact . . . indistinguishable from the location restriction in the present case,” because “[i]n both cases the restrictions limited the freedom of the retailer to dispose of the purchased products as he desired.” The customer restriction may well have, however, a very different “intent and competitive impact” than the location restriction: It prevents discount stores from getting the manufacturer’s product and thus prevents intrabrand price competition. Suppose, for example, that interbrand competition is sufficiently weak that the franchised retailers are able to charge a price substantially above wholesale. Under a location restriction, these franchisers are free to sell to discount stores seeking to exploit the potential for sales at prices below the prevailing retail level. One of the franchised retailers may be tempted to lower its price and act in effect as a wholesaler for the discount house in order to share in the profits to be had from lowering prices and expanding volume.  Under a retail-customer restriction, on the other hand, the franchised dealers cannot sell to discounters, who are cut off altogether from the manufacturer’s product and the opportunity for intrabrand price competition. … 

  
… [A]s the majority states, Sylvania’s location restriction inhibited to some degree “the freedom of the retailer to dispose of the purchased products” by requiring the retailer to sell from one particular place of business. But the retailer is still free to sell to any type of customer including discounters and other unfranchised dealers from any area. I think this freedom implies a significant difference for the effect of a location clause on intrabrand competition. … 

An additional basis for finding less restraint of intrabrand competition in this case, emphasized by the Ninth Circuit en banc, is that Schwinn involved restrictions on competition among distributors at the wholesale level.  As Judge Ely wrote for the six-member majority below:

[Schwinn] had created exclusive geographical sales territories for each of its 22 wholesaler bicycle distributors and had made each distributor the sole Schwinn outlet for the distributor’s designated area. Each distributor was prohibited from selling to any retailers located outside its territory. . . .

. . . Schwinn’s territorial restrictions requiring dealers to confine their sales to exclusive territories prescribed by Schwinn prevented a dealer from competing for customers outside his territory. . . . Schwinn’s restrictions guaranteed each wholesale distributor that it would be absolutely isolated from all competition from other Schwinn wholesalers.

Moreover, like its franchised retailers, Schwinn’s distributors were absolutely barred from selling to nonfranchised retailers, further limiting the possibilities of intrabrand price competition. …

  
… [T]here are also significant differences with respect to interbrand competition. Unlike Schwinn, Sylvania clearly had no economic power in the generic product market. At the time they instituted their respective distribution policies, Schwinn was “the leading bicycle producer in the Nation,” with a national market share of 22.5%, whereas Sylvania was a “faltering, if not failing” producer of television sets, with “a relatively insignificant 1% to 2%” share of the national market in which the dominant manufacturer had a 60% to 70% share. Moreover, the Schwinn brand name enjoyed superior consumer acceptance and commanded a premium price as, in the District Court’s words, “the Cadillac of the bicycle industry.” This premium gave Schwinn dealers a margin of protection from interbrand competition and created the possibilities for price cutting by discounters that the Government argued were forestalled by Schwinn’s customer restrictions.  Thus, Schwinn enjoyed a substantially stronger position in the bicycle market than did Sylvania in the television market. …

  
In my view there are at least two considerations, both relied upon by the majority to justify overruling Schwinn, that would provide a “principled basis” for instead refusing to extend Schwinn to a vertical restraint that is imposed by a “faltering” manufacturer with a “precarious” position in a generic product market dominated by another firm. The first is that, as the majority puts it, “when interbrand competition exists, as it does among television manufacturers, it provides a significant check on the exploitation of intrabrand market power because of the ability of consumers to substitute a different brand of the same product.”  Second is the view, argued forcefully in the economic literature …, that the potential benefits of vertical restraints in promoting interbrand competition are particularly strong where the manufacturer imposing the restraints is seeking to enter a new market or to expand a small market share.  The majority even recognizes that Schwinn “hinted” at an exception for new entrants and failing firms from its per se rule. 

  
In other areas of antitrust law, this Court has not hesitated to base its rules of per se illegality in part on the defendant’s market power. Indeed, in the very case from which the majority draws its standard for per se rules, Northern Pac. R. Co., the Court stated the reach of the per se rule against tie-ins under §1 of the Sherman Act as extending to all defendants with “sufficient economic power with respect to the tying product to appreciably restrain free competition in the market for the tied product... .” … I see no doctrinal obstacle to excluding firms with such minimal market power as Sylvania’s from the reach of the Schwinn rule.8  …


I have a further reservation about the majority’s reliance on “relevant economic impact” as the test for retaining per se rules regarding vertical restraints. It is common ground among the leading advocates of a purely economic approach to the question of distribution restraints that the economic arguments in favor of allowing vertical nonprice restraints generally apply to vertical price restraints as well. Although the majority asserts that “the per se illegality of price restrictions . . . involves significantly different questions of analysis and policy,” I suspect this purported distinction may be as difficult to justify as that of Schwinn under the terms of the majority’s analysis. Thus Professor Posner, in an article cited five times by the majority, concludes: “I believe that the law should treat price and nonprice restrictions the same and that it should make no distinction between the imposition of restrictions in a sale contract and their imposition in an agency contract.” Posner, [Antitrust Policy and the Supreme Court: An Analysis of the Restricted Distribution, Horizontal Merger and Potential Competition  Decisions, 75 Colum.L.Rev. 282, 298 (1975)]. Indeed, the Court has already recognized that resale price maintenance may increase output by inducing “demand-creating activity” by dealers (such as additional retail outlets, advertising and promotion, and product servicing) that outweighs the additional sales that would result from lower prices brought about by dealer price competition. Albrecht. These same output-enhancing possibilities of nonprice vertical restraints are relied upon by the majority as evidence of their social utility and economic soundness, and as a justification for judging them under the rule of reason. The effect, if not the intention, of the Court’s opinion is necessarily to call into question the firmly established per se rule against price restraints. …

…[T]o decide this case, the Court need only hold that a location clause imposed by a manufacturer with negligible economic power in the product market has a competitive impact sufficiently less restrictive than the Schwinn restraints to justify a rule-of-reason standard…. I therefore concur in the judgment.

Justice BRENNAN with whom Justice MARSHALL joins, dissenting.  I would not overrule the per se rule stated in Schwinn, and would therefore reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit.

$   $   $   $   $   $   $
MONSANTO CO. v. SPRAY-RITE SERVICE CORP.

465 U.S. 752 (1984)

Justice POWELL delivered the opinion of the Court.  This case presents a question as to the standard of proof required to find a vertical price-fixing conspiracy in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act.

I.   Petitioner Monsanto Company manufactures chemical products, including agricultural herbicides.  By the late 1960’s, the time at issue in this case, its sales accounted for approximately 15% of the corn herbicide market and 3% of the soybean herbicide market.  In the corn herbicide market, the market leader commanded a 70% share.  In the soybean herbicide market, two other competitors each had between 30% and 40% of the market.  Respondent Spray-Rite Service Corporation was engaged in the wholesale distribution of agricultural chemicals from 1955 to 1972.  Spray-Rite was essentially a family business, whose owner and president, Donald Yapp, was also its sole salaried salesman.  Spray-Rite was a discount operation, buying in large quantities and selling at a low margin.

Spray-Rite was an authorized distributor of Monsanto herbicides from 1957 to 1968.  In October 1967, Monsanto announced that it would appoint distributors for one-year terms, and that it would renew distributorships according to several new criteria.  Among the criteria were:  (i) whether the distributor’s primary activity was soliciting sales to retail dealers;  (ii) whether the distributor employed trained salesmen capable of educating its customers on the technical aspects of Monsanto’s herbicides;  and (iii) whether the distributor could be expected “to exploit fully” the market in its geographical area of primary responsibility.  Shortly thereafter, Monsanto also introduced a number of incentive programs, such as making cash payments to distributors that sent salesmen to training classes, and providing free deliveries of products to customers within a distributor’s area of primary responsibility.1

In October 1968, Monsanto declined to renew Spray-Rite’s distributorship.  At that time, Spray-Rite was the tenth largest out of approximately 100 distributors of Monsanto’s primary corn herbicide.  Ninety percent of Spray-Rite’s sales volume was devoted to herbicide sales, and 16% of its sales were of Monsanto products.  After Monsanto’s termination, Spray-Rite continued as a herbicide dealer until 1972.  It was able to purchase some of Monsanto’s products from other distributors, but not as much as it desired or as early in the season as it needed.  Monsanto introduced a new corn herbicide in 1969.  By 1972, its share of the corn herbicide market had increased to approximately 28%.  Its share of the soybean herbicide market had grown to approximately 19%.  Spray-Rite brought this action under Section 1 of the Sherman Act.  It alleged that Monsanto and some of its distributors conspired to fix the resale prices of Monsanto herbicides.  Its complaint further alleged that Monsanto terminated Spray-Rite’s distributorship, adopted compensation programs and shipping policies, and encouraged distributors to boycott Spray-Rite in furtherance of this conspiracy.  Monsanto denied the allegations of conspiracy, and asserted that Spray-Rite’s distributorship had been terminated because of its failure to hire trained salesmen and promote sales to dealers adequately.

The case was tried to a jury.  The District Court instructed the jury that Monsanto’s conduct was per se unlawful if it was in furtherance of a conspiracy to fix prices.  In answers to special interrogatories, the jury found that (i) the termination of Spray-Rite was pursuant to a conspiracy between  Monsanto and one or more of its distributors to set resale prices, (ii) the compensation programs, areas of primary responsibility, and/or shipping policies were created by Monsanto pursuant to such a conspiracy, and (iii) Monsanto conspired with one or more distributors to limit Spray-Rite’s access to Monsanto herbicides after 1968.2  The jury awarded $3.5 million in damages, which was trebled to $10.5 million.  Only the first of the jury’s findings is before us today. 3
  
The Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit affirmed.  It held that there was sufficient evidence to satisfy Spray-Rite’s burden of proving a conspiracy to set resale prices.  The court stated that “proof of termination following competitor complaints is sufficient to support an inference of concerted action.”4 Canvassing the testimony and exhibits that were before the jury, the court found evidence of numerous complaints from competing Monsanto distributors about Spray-Rite’s price-cutting practices.  It also noted that there was testimony that a Monsanto official had said that Spray-Rite was terminated because of the price complaints.

In substance, the Court of Appeals held that an antitrust plaintiff can survive a motion for a directed verdict if it shows that a manufacturer terminated a price-cutting distributor in response to or following complaints by other distributors.  This view brought the Seventh Circuit into direct conflict with a number of other Courts of Appeals.5  We granted certiorari to resolve the conflict. We reject the statement by the Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit of the standard of proof required to submit a case to the jury in distributor-termination litigation, but affirm the judgment under the standard we announce today.6 

II.  This Court has drawn two important distinctions that are at the center of this and any other distributor-termination case.  First, there is the basic distinction between concerted and independent action–a distinction not always clearly drawn by parties and courts.  Section 1 of the Sherman Act requires that there be a “contract, combination ... or conspiracy” between the manufacturer and other distributors in order to establish a violation.  Independent action is not proscribed.  A manufacturer of course generally has a right to deal, or refuse to deal, with whomever it likes, as long as it does so independently. Colgate; cf. Parke, Davis. Under Colgate, the manufacturer can announce its resale prices in advance and refuse to deal with those who fail to comply.  And a distributor is free to acquiesce in the manufacturer’s demand in order to avoid termination.

The second important distinction in distributor-termination cases is that between concerted action to set prices and concerted action on nonprice restrictions.  The former have been per se illegal since the early years of national antitrust enforcement.  See Dr. Miles Medical Co.. The latter are judged under the rule of reason, which requires a weighing of the relevant circumstances of a case to decide whether a restrictive practice constitutes an unreasonable restraint on competition.  See Sylvania.7 

While these distinctions in theory are reasonably clear, often they are difficult to apply in practice.  In Sylvania we emphasized that the legality of arguably anticompetitive conduct should be judged primarily by its “market impact.”  But the economic effect of all of the conduct described above–unilateral and concerted vertical price-setting, agreements on price and nonprice restrictions–is in many, but not all, cases similar or identical. See, e.g., Parke, Davis;  note 7 supra.  And judged from a distance, the conduct of the parties in the various situations can be indistinguishable.  For example, the fact that a manufacturer and its distributors are in constant communication about prices and marketing strategy does not alone show that the distributors are not making independent pricing decisions.  A manufacturer and its distributors have legitimate reasons to exchange information about the prices and the reception of their products in the market.  Moreover, it is precisely in cases in which the manufacturer attempts to further a particular marketing strategy by means of agreements on often costly nonprice restrictions that it will have the most interest in the distributors’ resale prices.  The manufacturer often will want to ensure that its distributors earn sufficient profit to pay for programs such as hiring and training additional salesmen or demonstrating the technical features of the product, and will want to see that “free-riders” do not interfere.  See Sylvania.  Thus, the manufacturer’s strongly felt concern about resale prices does not necessarily mean that it has done more than the Colgate doctrine allows.

Nevertheless, it is of considerable importance that independent action by the manufacturer, and concerted action on nonprice restrictions, be distinguished from price-fixing agreements, since under present law the latter are subject to per se treatment and treble damages.  On a claim of concerted price-fixing, the antitrust plaintiff must present evidence sufficient to carry its burden of proving that there was such an agreement.  If an inference of such an agreement may be drawn from highly ambiguous evidence, there is a considerable danger that the doctrines enunciated in Sylvania and Colgate will be seriously eroded.

The flaw in the evidentiary standard adopted by the Court of Appeals in this case is that it disregards this danger.  Permitting an agreement to be inferred merely from the existence of complaints, or even from the fact that termination came about “in response to” complaints, could deter or penalize perfectly legitimate conduct.  As Monsanto points out, complaints about price-cutters “are natural–and from the manufacturer’s perspective, unavoidable–reactions by distributors to the activities of their rivals.”  Such complaints, particularly where the manufacturer has imposed a costly set of nonprice restrictions, “arise in the normal course of business and do not indicate illegal concerted action.”  Roesch, Inc. v. Star Cooler Corp., 671 F.2d 1168, 1172 (8th Cir. 1982), on rehearing en banc, 712 F.2d 1235 (8th Cir. 1983) (affirming District Court judgment by an equally divided court).  Moreover, distributors are an important source of information for manufacturers.  In order to assure an efficient distribution system, manufacturers and distributors constantly must coordinate their activities to assure that their product will reach the consumer persuasively and efficiently.  To bar a manufacturer from acting solely because the information upon which it acts originated as a price complaint would create an irrational dislocation in the market.  See F. Warren-Boulton, Vertical Control of Markets 13, 164 (1978).  In sum, “[t]o permit the inference of concerted action on the basis of receiving complaints alone and thus to expose the defendant to treble damage liability would both inhibit management’s exercise of independent business judgment and emasculate the terms of the statute.”  Edward J. Sweeney & Sons v. Texaco, Inc., 637 F.2d 105, 111, n.2 (3d Cir. 1980), cert. denied, 451 U.S. 911 (1981).8 

  
Thus, something more than evidence of complaints is needed.  There must be evidence that tends to exclude the possibility that the manufacturer and nonterminated distributors were acting independently.  As Judge Aldisert has written, the antitrust plaintiff should present direct or circumstantial evidence that reasonably tends to prove that the manufacturer and others “had a conscious commitment to a common scheme designed to achieve an unlawful objective.”  Edward J. Sweeney & Sons, 637 F.2d, at 111;  accord H.L. Moore Drug Exchange v. Eli Lilly & Co., 662 F.2d 935, 941 (2d Cir. 1981) cert. denied, 459 U.S. 880 (1982);  cf. American Tobacco Co. v. U.S., 328 U.S. 781, 810 (1946) (Circumstances must reveal “a unity of purpose or a common design and understanding, or a meeting of minds in an unlawful arrangement”).9
III.  A.  Applying this standard to the facts of this case, we believe there was sufficient evidence for the jury reasonably to have concluded that Monsanto and some of its distributors were parties to an “agreement” or “conspiracy” to maintain resale prices and terminate price-cutters.  In fact there was substantial direct evidence of agreements to maintain prices.  There was testimony from a Monsanto district manager, for example, that Monsanto on at least two occasions in early 1969, about five months after Spray-Rite was terminated, approached price-cutting distributors and advised that if they did not maintain the suggested resale price, they would not receive adequate supplies of Monsanto’s new corn herbicide. When one of the distributors did not assent, this information was referred to the Monsanto regional office, and it complained to the distributor’s parent company.  There was evidence that the parent instructed its subsidiary to comply, and the distributor informed Monsanto that it would charge the suggested price. Evidence of this kind plainly is relevant and persuasive as to a meeting of minds.10 

  
An arguably more ambiguous example is a newsletter from one of the distributors to his dealer-customers.  The newsletter is dated October 1, 1968, just four weeks before Spray-Rite was terminated.  It was written after a meeting between the author and several Monsanto officials, and discusses Monsanto’s efforts to “get[ ] the ‘market place in order.’” The newsletter reviews some of Monsanto’s incentive and shipping policies, and then states that in addition “every effort will be made to maintain a minimum market price level.” The newsletter relates these efforts as follows:

In other words, we are assured that Monsanto’s company-owned outlets will not retail at less than their suggested retail price to the trade as a whole.  Furthermore, those of us on the distributor level are not likely to deviate downward on price to anyone as the idea is implied that doing this possibly could discolor the outlook for continuity as one of the approved distributors during the future upcoming seasons.  So, none interested in the retention of this arrangement is likely to risk being deleted from this customer service opportunity.  Also, so far as the national accounts are concerned, they are sure to recognize the desirability of retaining Monsanto’s favor on a continuing basis by respecting the wisdom of participating in the suggested program in a manner assuring order on the retail level “playground” throughout the entire country.  It is elementary that harmony can only come from following the rules of the game and that in case of dispute, the decision of the umpire is final.

It is reasonable to interpret this newsletter as referring to an agreement or understanding that distributors and retailers would maintain prices, and Monsanto would not undercut those prices on the retail level and would terminate competitors who sold at prices below those of complying distributors;  these were “the rules of the game.”11 

B.  If, as the courts below reasonably could have found, there was evidence of an agreement with one or more distributors to maintain prices, the remaining question is whether the termination of Spray-Rite was part of or pursuant to that agreement.  It would be reasonable to find that it was, since it is necessary for competing distributors contemplating compliance with suggested prices to know that those who do not comply will be terminated.  Moreover, there is some circumstantial evidence of such a link.  Following the termination, there was a meeting between Spray-Rite’s president and a Monsanto official.  There was testimony that the first thing the official mentioned was the many complaints Monsanto had received about Spray-Rite’s prices.12  In addition, there was reliable testimony that Monsanto never discussed with Spray-Rite prior to the termination the distributorship criteria that were the alleged basis for the action.  By contrast, a former Monsanto salesman for Spray-Rite’s area testified that Monsanto representatives on several occasions in 1965-1966 approached Spray-Rite, informed the distributor of complaints from other distributors–including one major and influential one–and requested that prices be maintained.  Later that same year, Spray-Rite’s president testified, Monsanto officials made explicit threats to terminate Spray-Rite unless it raised its prices.13 

IV.  We conclude that the Court of Appeals applied an incorrect standard to the evidence in this case.  The correct standard is that there must be evidence that tends to exclude the possibility of independent action by the manufacturer and distributor.  That is, there must be direct or circumstantial evidence that reasonably tends to prove that the manufacturer and others had a conscious commitment to a common scheme designed to achieve an unlawful objective.  Under this standard, the evidence in this case created a jury issue as to whether Spray-Rite was terminated pursuant to a price-fixing conspiracy between Monsanto and its distributors.14  The judgment of the court below is affirmed.

Justice BRENNAN, concurring.  As the Court notes, the Solicitor General has filed a brief in this Court as amicus curiae urging us to overrule the Court’s decision in Dr. Miles Medical Co.  That decision has stood for 73 years, and Congress has certainly been aware of its existence throughout that time.  Yet Congress has never enacted legislation to overrule the interpretation of the Sherman Act adopted in that case.  Under these circumstances, I see no reason for us to depart from our longstanding interpretation of the Act.  Because the Court adheres to that rule and, in my view, properly applies Dr. Miles to this case, I join the opinion and judgment of the Court.

$   $   $   $   $   $   $
MATSUSHITA ELECTRIC INDUSTRIAL CO.  v. 

ZENITH RADIO CORP.

475 U.S. 574 (1986)

Justice POWELL delivered the opinion of the Court.  This case requires that we again consider the standard district courts must apply when deciding whether to grant summary judgment in an antitrust conspiracy case. 

I. …  A.  Petitioners, defendants below, are 21 corporations that manufacture or sell “consumer electronic products” (CEPs)–for the most part, television sets. Petitioners include both Japanese manufacturers of CEPs and American firms, controlled by Japanese parents, that sell the Japanese-manufactured products. Respondents, plaintiffs below, are Zenith Radio Corporation (Zenith) and National Union Electric Corporation (NUE).  Zenith is an American firm that manufactures and sells television sets.  NUE is the corporate successor to Emerson Radio Company, an American firm that manufactured and sold television sets until 1970, when it withdrew from the market after sustaining substantial losses.  Zenith and NUE began this lawsuit in 1974, claiming that petitioners had illegally conspired to drive American firms from the American CEP market.  According to respondents, the gist of this conspiracy was a “‘scheme to raise, fix and maintain artificially high prices for television receivers sold by [petitioners] in Japan and, at the same time, to fix and maintain low prices for television receivers exported to and sold in the United States.’”   These “low prices” were allegedly at levels that produced substantial losses for petitioners. The conspiracy allegedly began as early as 1953, and according to respondents was in full operation by sometime in the late 1960’s.  Respondents claimed that various portions of this scheme violated §§1 and 2 of the Sherman Act….

After several years of detailed discovery, petitioners filed motions for summary judgment on all claims against them.  The District Court … found that the admissible evidence did not raise a genuine issue of material fact as to the existence of the alleged conspiracy.  At bottom, the court found, respondents’ claims rested on the inferences that could be drawn from petitioners’ parallel conduct in the Japanese and American markets, and from the effects of that conduct on petitioners’ American competitors. After reviewing the evidence both by category and in toto, the court found that any inference of conspiracy was unreasonable, because (i) some portions of the evidence suggested that petitioners conspired in ways that did not injure respondents, and (ii) the evidence that bore directly on the alleged price-cutting conspiracy did not rebut the more plausible inference that petitioners were cutting prices to compete in the American market and not to monopolize it.  Summary judgment therefore was granted on respondents’ claims ….

B.  The Court of Appeals … reversed. … The court acknowledged that “there are legal limitations upon the inferences which may be drawn from circumstantial evidence,” but it found that “the legal problem ... is different” when “there is direct evidence of concert of action.”  Here, the court concluded, “there is both direct evidence of certain kinds of concert of action and circumstantial evidence having some tendency to suggest that other kinds of concert of action may have occurred.”   Thus, the court reasoned, cases concerning the limitations on inferring conspiracy from ambiguous evidence were not dispositive. Turning to the evidence, the court determined that a factfinder reasonably could draw the following conclusions: 

1. 
The Japanese market for CEPs was characterized by oligopolistic behavior, with a small number of producers meeting regularly and exchanging information on price and other matters.  This created the opportunity for a stable combination to raise both prices and profits in Japan.  American firms could not attack such a combination because the Japanese Government imposed significant barriers to entry.  

2. 
Petitioners had relatively higher fixed costs than their American counterparts, and therefore needed to operate at something approaching full capacity in order to make a profit.  

3. 
Petitioners’ plant capacity exceeded the needs of the Japanese market. 

4. 
By formal agreements arranged in cooperation with Japan’s Ministry of International Trade and Industry (MITI), petitioners fixed minimum prices for CEPs exported to the American market.  The parties refer to these prices as the “check prices,” and to the agreements that require them as the “check price agreements.”

5. 
Petitioners agreed to distribute their products in the U.S. according to a “five company rule”:  each Japanese producer was permitted to sell only to five American distributors.  

6. 
Petitioners undercut their own check prices by a variety of rebate schemes.  Petitioners sought to conceal these rebate schemes both from the U.S. Customs Service and from MITI, the former to avoid various customs regulations as well as action under the antidumping laws, and the latter to cover up petitioners’ violations of the check-price agreements.

  
Based on inferences from the foregoing conclusions,5 the Court of Appeals concluded that a reasonable factfinder could find a conspiracy to depress prices in the American market in order to drive out American competitors, which conspiracy was funded by excess profits obtained in the Japanese market.  The court apparently did not consider whether it was as plausible to conclude that petitioners’ price-cutting behavior was independent and not conspiratorial. …

We granted certiorari to determine … whether the Court of Appeals applied the proper standards in evaluating the District Court’s decision to grant petitioners’ motion for summary judgment….  We reverse….

II.  We begin by emphasizing what respondents’ claim is not.  Respondents cannot recover antitrust damages based solely on an alleged cartelization of the Japanese market, because American antitrust laws do not regulate the competitive conditions of other nations’ economies. Nor can respondents recover damages for any conspiracy by petitioners to charge higher than competitive prices in the American market.  Such conduct would indeed violate the Sherman Act, but it could not injure respondents:  as petitioners’ competitors, respondents stand to gain from any conspiracy to raise the market price in CEPs. Finally, for the same reason, respondents cannot recover for a conspiracy to impose nonprice restraints that have the effect of either raising market price or limiting output.  Such restrictions, though harmful to competition, actually benefit competitors by making supracompetitive pricing more attractive.  Thus, neither petitioners’ alleged supracompetitive pricing in Japan, nor the five-company rule that limited distribution in this country, nor the check prices insofar as they established minimum prices in this country, can by themselves give respondents a cognizable claim against petitioners for antitrust damages.  The Court of Appeals therefore erred to the extent that it found evidence of these alleged conspiracies to be “direct evidence” of a conspiracy that injured respondents.  


Respondents nevertheless argue that these supposed conspiracies, if not themselves grounds for recovery of antitrust damages, are circumstantial evidence of another conspiracy that is cognizable:  a conspiracy to monopolize the American market by means of pricing below the market level.7   The thrust of respondents’ argument is that petitioners used their monopoly profits from the Japanese market to fund a concerted campaign to price predatorily and thereby drive respondents and other American manufacturers of CEPs out of business.  Once successful, according to respondents, petitioners would cartelize the American CEP market, restricting output and raising prices above the level that fair competition would produce.  The resulting  monopoly profits, respondents contend, would more than compensate petitioners for the losses they incurred through years of pricing below market level.

  
The Court of Appeals found that respondents’ allegation of a horizontal conspiracy to engage in predatory pricing,8 if proved,9 would be a per se violation of §1 of the Sherman Act.  Petitioners did not appeal from that conclusion.  The issue in this case thus becomes whether respondents adduced sufficient evidence in support of their theory to survive summary judgment.  We therefore examine the principles that govern the summary judgment determination.

III.  To survive petitioners’ motion for summary judgment, respondents must establish that there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether petitioners entered into an illegal conspiracy that caused respondents to suffer a cognizable injury.  Fed.Rule Civ.Proc. 56(e); First National Bank of Arizona v. Cities Service Co., 391 U.S. 253, 288-289 (1968).  This showing has two components.  First, respondents must show more than a conspiracy in violation of the antitrust laws;  they must show an injury to them resulting from the illegal conduct. Respondents charge petitioners with a whole host of conspiracies in restraint of trade. Except for the alleged conspiracy to monopolize the American market through predatory pricing, these alleged conspiracies could not have caused respondents to suffer an “antitrust injury,”  Brunswick Corp. v. Pueblo Bowl-O-Mat, 429 U.S. 477, 489 (1977), because they actually tended to benefit respondents. Therefore, unless, in context, evidence of these “other” conspiracies raises a genuine issue concerning the existence of a predatory pricing conspiracy, that evidence cannot defeat petitioners’ summary judgment motion. 


Second, the issue of fact must be “genuine.” When the moving party has carried its burden under Rule 56(c), its opponent must do more than simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts. In the language of the Rule, the nonmoving party must come forward with “specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.”  Fed. Rule Civ. Proc. 56(e)…. Where the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the non-moving party, there is no “genuine issue for trial.”  Cities Service, 391 U.S. at 289.

  
It follows from these settled principles that if the factual context renders respondents’ claim implausible–if the claim is one that simply makes no economic sense–respondents must come forward with more persuasive evidence to support their claim than would otherwise be necessary.  Cities Service is instructive.  The issue in that case was whether proof of the defendant’s refusal to deal with the plaintiff supported an inference that the defendant willingly had joined an illegal boycott.  Economic factors strongly suggested that the defendant had no motive to join the alleged conspiracy. The Court acknowledged that, in isolation, the defendant’s refusal to deal might well have sufficed to create a triable issue. But the refusal to deal had to be evaluated in its factual context.  Since the defendant lacked any rational motive to join the alleged boycott, and since its refusal to deal was consistent with the defendant’s independent interest, the refusal to deal could not by itself support a finding of antitrust liability.  

Respondents correctly note that “[o]n summary judgment the inferences to be drawn from the underlying facts ... must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion.”  U.S. v. Diebold, Inc., 369 U.S. 654, 655 (1962). But antitrust law limits the range of permissible inferences from ambiguous evidence in a §1 case.  Thus, in Monsanto, we held that conduct as consistent with permissible competition as with illegal conspiracy does not, standing alone, support an inference of antitrust conspiracy. To survive a motion for summary judgment or for a directed verdict, a plaintiff seeking damages for a violation of §1 must present evidence “that tends to exclude the possibility” that the alleged conspirators acted independently. Respondents in this case, in other words, must show that the inference of conspiracy is reasonable in light of the competing inferences of independent action or collusive action that could not have harmed respondents.  See Cities Service.

  
Petitioners argue that these principles apply fully to this case.  According to petitioners, the alleged conspiracy is one that is economically irrational and practically infeasible.  Consequently, petitioners contend, they had no motive to engage in the alleged predatory pricing conspiracy; indeed, they had a strong motive not to conspire in the manner respondents allege.  Petitioners argue that, in light of the absence of any apparent motive and the ambiguous nature of the evidence of conspiracy, no trier of fact reasonably could find that the conspiracy with which petitioners are charged actually existed.  This argument requires us to consider the nature of the alleged conspiracy and the practical obstacles to its implementation. 

IV.  A.  A predatory pricing conspiracy is by nature speculative.  Any agreement to price below the competitive level requires the conspirators to forgo profits that free competition would offer them.  The forgone profits may be considered an investment in the future.  For the investment to be rational, the conspirators must have a reasonable expectation of recovering, in the form of later monopoly profits, more than the losses suffered. … [T]he success of such schemes is inherently uncertain:  the short-run loss is definite, but the long-run gain depends on successfully neutralizing the competition.  Moreover, it is not enough simply to achieve monopoly power, as monopoly pricing may breed quick entry by new competitors eager to share in the excess profits.  The success of any predatory scheme depends on maintaining monopoly power for long enough both to recoup the predator’s losses and to harvest some additional gain.  Absent some assurance that the hoped-for monopoly will materialize, and that it can be sustained for a significant period of time, “[t]he predator must make a substantial investment with no assurance that it will pay off.”  Easterbrook, Predatory Strategies and Counterstrategies, 48 U.Chi.L.Rev. 263, 268 (1981).  For this reason, there is a consensus among commentators that predatory pricing schemes are rarely tried, and even more rarely successful.  

  
These observations apply even to predatory pricing by a single firm seeking monopoly power.  In this case, respondents allege that a large number of firms have conspired over a period of many years to charge below-market prices in order to stifle competition.  Such a conspiracy is incalculably more difficult to execute than an analogous plan undertaken by a single predator. The conspirators must allocate the losses to be sustained during the conspiracy’s operation, and must also allocate any gains to be realized from its success.  Precisely because success is speculative and depends on a willingness to endure losses for an indefinite period, each conspirator has a strong incentive to cheat, letting its partners suffer the losses necessary to destroy the competition while sharing in any gains if the conspiracy succeeds. The necessary allocation is therefore difficult to accomplish.  Yet if conspirators cheat to any substantial extent, the conspiracy must fail, because its success depends on depressing the market price for all buyers of CEPs.  If there are too few goods at the artificially low price to satisfy demand, the would-be victims of the conspiracy can continue to sell at the “real” market price, and the conspirators suffer losses to little purpose.  

Finally, if predatory pricing conspiracies are generally unlikely to occur, they are especially so where, as here, the prospects of attaining monopoly power seem slight.  In order to recoup their losses, petitioners must obtain enough market power to set higher than competitive prices, and then must sustain those prices long enough to earn in excess profits what they earlier gave up in below-cost prices. Two decades after their conspiracy is alleged to have commenced, petitioners appear to be far from achieving this goal:  the two largest shares of the retail market in television sets are held by RCA and respondent Zenith, not by any of petitioners.  Moreover, those shares, which together approximate 40% of sales, did not decline appreciably during the 1970’s.  Petitioners’ collective share rose rapidly during this period, from one-fifth or less of the relevant markets to close to 50%.14  Neither the District Court nor the Court of Appeals found, however, that petitioners’ share presently allows them to charge monopoly prices;  to the contrary, respondents contend that the conspiracy is ongoing–that petitioners are still artificially depressing the market price in order to drive Zenith out of the market.  The data in the record strongly suggest that that goal is yet far distant.15
The alleged conspiracy’s failure to achieve its ends in the two decades of its asserted operation is strong evidence that the conspiracy does not in fact exist.  Since the losses in such a conspiracy accrue before the gains, they must be “repaid” with interest.  And because the alleged losses have accrued over the course of two decades, the conspirators could well require a correspondingly long time to recoup.  Maintaining supracompetitive prices in turn depends on the continued cooperation of the conspirators, on the inability of other would-be competitors to enter the market, and (not incidentally) on the conspirators’ ability to escape antitrust liability for their minimum price-fixing cartel.16  Each of these factors weighs more heavily as the time needed to recoup losses grows.  If the losses have been substantial–as would likely be necessary in order to drive out the competition–petitioners would most likely have to sustain their cartel for years simply to break even.


Nor does the possibility that petitioners have obtained supracompetitive profits in the Japanese market change this calculation.  Whether or not petitioners have the means to sustain substantial losses in this country over a long period of time, they have no motive to sustain such losses absent some strong likelihood that the alleged conspiracy in this country will eventually pay off.  The courts below found no evidence of any such success, and–as indicated above–the facts actually are to the contrary:  RCA and Zenith, not any of the petitioners, continue to hold the largest share of the American retail market in color television sets.  More important, there is nothing to suggest any relationship between petitioners’ profits in Japan and the amount petitioners could expect to gain from a conspiracy to monopolize the American market.  In the absence of any such evidence, the possible existence of supracompetitive profits in Japan simply cannot overcome the economic obstacles to the ultimate success of this alleged predatory conspiracy. 

B.  In Monsanto, we emphasized that courts should not permit factfinders to infer conspiracies when such inferences are implausible, because the effect of such practices is often to deter procompetitive conduct. Respondents, petitioners’ competitors, seek to hold petitioners liable for damages caused by the alleged conspiracy to cut prices.  Moreover, they seek to establish this conspiracy indirectly, through evidence of other combinations (such as the check-price agreements and the five company rule) whose natural tendency is to raise prices, and through evidence of rebates and other price-cutting activities that respondents argue tend to prove a combination to suppress prices. But cutting prices in order to increase business often is the very essence of competition.  Thus, mistaken inferences in cases such as this one are especially costly, because they chill the very conduct the antitrust laws are designed to protect.  See Monsanto.  “[W]e must be concerned lest a rule or precedent that authorizes a search for a particular type of undesirable pricing behavior end up by discouraging legitimate price competition.”  Barry Wright  v. ITT Grinnell Corp., 724 F.2d 227, 234 (1st Cir. 1983).

  
In most cases, this concern must be balanced against the desire that illegal conspiracies be identified and punished.  That balance is, however, unusually one-sided in cases such as this one.  As we earlier explained, predatory pricing schemes require conspirators to suffer losses in order eventually to realize their illegal gains;  moreover, the gains depend on a host of uncertainties, making such schemes more likely to fail than to succeed.  These economic realities tend to make predatory pricing conspiracies self-deterring:  unlike most other conduct that violates the antitrust laws, failed predatory pricing schemes are costly to the conspirators. Finally, unlike predatory pricing by a single firm, successful predatory pricing conspiracies involving a large number of firms can be identified and punished once they succeed, since some form of minimum price-fixing agreement would be necessary in order to reap the benefits of predation.  Thus, there is little reason to be concerned that by granting summary judgment in cases where the evidence of conspiracy is speculative or ambiguous, courts will encourage such conspiracies.

V.  As our discussion in Part IV-A shows, petitioners had no motive to enter into the alleged conspiracy.  To the contrary, as presumably rational businesses, petitioners had every incentive not to engage in the conduct with which they are charged, for its likely effect would be to generate losses for petitioners with no corresponding gains. The Court of Appeals did not take account of the absence of a plausible motive to enter into the alleged predatory pricing conspiracy.  It focused instead on whether there was “direct evidence of concert of action.” The Court of Appeals erred in two respects:  (i) the “direct evidence” on which the court relied had little, if any, relevance to the alleged predatory pricing conspiracy;  and (ii) the court failed to consider the absence of a plausible motive to engage in predatory pricing.

The “direct evidence” on which the court relied was evidence of other combinations, not of a predatory pricing conspiracy.  Evidence that petitioners conspired to raise prices in Japan provides little, if any, support for respondents’ claims:  a conspiracy to increase profits in one market does not tend to show a conspiracy to sustain losses in another.  Evidence that petitioners agreed to fix minimum prices (through the check-price agreements) for the American market actually works in petitioners’ favor, because it suggests that petitioners were seeking to place a floor under prices rather than to lower them.  The same is true of evidence that petitioners agreed to limit the number of distributors of their products in the American market–the so-called five company rule.  That practice may have facilitated a horizontal territorial allocation, but its natural effect would be to raise market prices rather than reduce them. Evidence that tends to support any of these collateral conspiracies thus says little, if anything, about the existence of a conspiracy to charge below-market prices in the American market over a period of two decades.

That being the case, the absence of any plausible motive to engage in the conduct charged is highly relevant to whether a “genuine issue for trial” exists within the meaning of Rule 56(e).  Lack of motive bears on the range of permissible conclusions that might be drawn from ambiguous evidence:  if petitioners had no rational economic motive to conspire, and if their conduct is consistent with other, equally plausible explanations, the conduct does not give rise to an inference of conspiracy. Here, the conduct in question consists largely of (i) pricing at levels that succeeded in taking business away from respondents, and (ii) arrangements that may have limited petitioners’ ability to compete with each other (and thus kept prices from going even lower).  This conduct suggests either that petitioners behaved competitively, or that petitioners conspired to raise prices.  Neither possibility is consistent with an agreement among 21 companies to price below-market levels.  Moreover, the predatory pricing scheme that this conduct is said to prove is one that makes no practical sense:  it calls for petitioners to destroy companies larger and better established than themselves, a goal that remains far distant more than two decades after the conspiracy’s birth.  Even had they succeeded in obtaining their monopoly, there is nothing in the record to suggest that they could recover the losses they would need to sustain along the way.  In sum, in light of the absence of any rational motive to conspire, neither petitioners’ pricing practices, nor their conduct in the Japanese market, nor their agreements respecting prices and distribution in the American market, suffice to create a “genuine issue for trial.”  Fed.Rule Civ.Proc. 56(e).21 

  
On remand, the Court of Appeals is free to consider whether there is other evidence that is sufficiently unambiguous to permit a trier of fact to find that petitioners conspired to price predatorily for two decades despite the absence of any apparent motive to do so.  The evidence must “ten[d] to exclude the possibility” that petitioners underpriced respondents to compete for business rather than to implement an economically senseless conspiracy.  Monsanto.  In the absence of such evidence, there is no “genuine issue for trial” under Rule 56(e), and petitioners are entitled to have summary judgment reinstated.

VI.  … The decision of the Court of Appeals is reversed, and the case is remanded for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.  It is so ordered.

Justice WHITE, with whom Justice BRENNAN, Justice BLACKMUN, and Justice STEVENS join, dissenting.  It is indeed remarkable that the Court, in the face of the long and careful opinion of the Court of Appeals, reaches the result it does.  The Court of Appeals faithfully followed the relevant precedents, including Cities Service and Monsanto, and it kept firmly in mind the principle that proof of a conspiracy should not be fragmented, see Continental Ore Co. v. Union Carbide & Carbon Corp., 370 U.S. 690, 699 (1962).  After surveying the massive record, including very significant evidence that the District Court erroneously had excluded, the Court of Appeals concluded that the evidence taken as a whole creates a genuine issue of fact whether petitioners engaged in a conspiracy in violation of §§1 and 2 of the Sherman Act …. In my view, the Court of Appeals’ opinion more than adequately supports this judgment.  

The Court’s opinion today, far from identifying reversible error, only muddies the waters.  In the first place, the Court makes confusing and inconsistent statements about the appropriate standard for granting summary judgment. Second, the Court makes a number of assumptions that invade the factfinder’s province.  Third, the Court faults the [Court of Appeals] for nonexistent errors and remands the case although it is plain that respondents’ evidence raises genuine issues of material fact.

I.  The Court’s initial discussion of summary judgment standards appears consistent with settled doctrine.  I agree that “[w]here the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, there is no ‘genuine issue for trial.’” [Majority opinion] (quoting Cities Service).  I also agree that “‘[o]n summary judgment the inferences to be drawn from the underlying facts ... must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion.’”  [Majority opinion] (quoting U.S. v. Diebold, Inc., 369 U.S. 654, 655 (1962)).  But other language in the Court’s opinion suggests a departure from traditional summary judgment doctrine.  Thus, the Court gives the following critique of the [Court of Appeals’] opinion:

[T]he Court of Appeals concluded that a reasonable factfinder could find a conspiracy to depress prices in the American market in order to drive out American competitors, which conspiracy was funded by excess profits obtained in the Japanese market.  The court apparently did not consider whether it was as plausible to conclude that petitioners’ price-cutting behavior was independent and not conspiratorial.

In a similar vein, the Court summarizes Monsanto as holding that “courts should not permit factfinders to infer conspiracies when such inferences are implausible....” Such language suggests that a judge hearing a defendant’s motion for summary judgment in an antitrust case should go beyond the traditional summary judgment inquiry and decide for himself whether the weight of the evidence favors the plaintiff.  Cities Service and Monsanto do not stand for any such proposition.  Each of those cases simply held that a particular piece of evidence standing alone was insufficiently probative to justify sending a case to the jury.1  These holdings in no way undermine the doctrine that all evidence must be construed in the light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment.

  
If the Court intends to give every judge hearing a motion for summary judgment in an antitrust case the job of determining if the evidence makes the inference of conspiracy more probable than not, it is overturning settled law.  If the Court does not intend such a pronouncement, it should refrain from using unnecessarily broad and confusing language.

II.  In defining what respondents must show in order to recover, the Court makes assumptions that invade the factfinder’s province.  The Court states with very little discussion that respondents can recover under §1 of the Sherman Act only if they prove that “petitioners conspired to drive respondents out of the relevant markets by (i) pricing below the level necessary to sell their products, or (ii) pricing below some appropriate measure of cost.”  This statement is premised on the assumption that “[a]n agreement without these features would either leave respondents in the same position as would market forces or would actually benefit respondents by raising market prices.”  In making this assumption, the Court ignores the contrary conclusions of respondents’ expert DePodwin, whose report in very relevant part was erroneously excluded by the District Court.    

The DePodwin Report, on which the Court of Appeals relied along with other material, indicates that respondents were harmed in two ways that are independent of whether petitioners priced their products below “the level necessary to sell their products or ... some appropriate measure of cost.”  First, the Report explains that the price-raising scheme in Japan resulted in lower consumption of petitioners’ goods in that country and the exporting of more of petitioners’ goods to this country than would have occurred had prices in Japan been at the competitive level.  Increasing  exports to this country resulted in depressed prices here, which harmed respondents.  Second, the DePodwin Report indicates that petitioners exchanged confidential proprietary information and entered into agreements such as the five company rule with the goal of avoiding intragroup competition in the United States market.  The Report explains that petitioners’ restrictions on intragroup competition caused respondents to lose business that they would not have lost had petitioners competed with one another. 

The DePodwin Report alone creates a genuine factual issue regarding the harm to respondents caused by Japanese cartelization and by agreements restricting competition among petitioners in this country.  No doubt the Court prefers its own economic theorizing to Dr. DePodwin’s, but that is not a reason to deny the factfinder an opportunity to consider Dr. DePodwin’s views on how petitioners’ alleged collusion harmed respondents. 

The Court, in discussing the unlikelihood of a predatory conspiracy, also consistently assumes that petitioners valued profit-maximization over growth.  In light of the evidence that petitioners sold their goods in this country at substantial losses over a long period of time, I believe that this is an assumption that should be argued to the factfinder, not decided by the Court.

III.  In reversing the Third Circuit’s judgment, the Court identifies two alleged errors:  “(i) [T]he ‘direct evidence’ on which the [Court of Appeals] relied had little, if any, relevance to the alleged predatory pricing conspiracy; and (ii) the court failed to consider the absence of a plausible motive to engage in predatory pricing.”  The Court’s position is without substance.

A.  The first claim of error is that the Third Circuit treated evidence regarding price fixing in Japan and the so-called five company rule and check prices as “‘direct evidence’ of a conspiracy that injured respondents.” The passage from the Third Circuit’s opinion in which the Court locates this alleged error makes what I consider to be a quite simple and correct observation, namely, that this case is distinguishable from traditional “conscious parallelism” cases, in that there is direct evidence of concert of action among petitioners.  The Third Circuit did not, as the Court implies, jump unthinkingly from this observation to the conclusion that evidence regarding the five company rule could support a finding of antitrust injury to respondents.  The Third Circuit twice specifically noted that horizontal agreements allocating customers, though illegal, do not ordinarily injure competitors of the agreeing parties. However, after reviewing evidence of cartel activity in Japan, collusive establishment of dumping prices in this country, and long-term, below-cost sales, the Third Circuit held that a factfinder could reasonably conclude that the five company rule was not a simple price-raising device:

 [A] factfinder might reasonably infer that the allocation of customers in the U.S., combined with price-fixing in Japan, was intended to permit concentration of the effects of dumping upon American competitors while eliminating competition among the Japanese manufacturers in either market.

I see nothing erroneous in this reasoning.

B.  The Court’s second charge of error is that the Third Circuit was not sufficiently skeptical of respondents’ allegation that petitioners engaged in predatory pricing conspiracy.  But the Third Circuit is not required to engage in academic discussions about predation;  it is required to decide whether respondents’ evidence creates a genuine issue of material fact.  The Third Circuit did its job, and remanding the case so that it can do the same job again is simply pointless.  

The Third Circuit indicated that it considers respondents’ evidence sufficient to create a genuine factual issue regarding long-term, below-cost sales by petitioners.   The Court tries to whittle away at this conclusion by suggesting that the “expert opinion evidence of below-cost pricing has little probative value in comparison with the economic factors ... that suggest that such conduct is irrational.” But the question is not whether the Court finds respondents’ experts persuasive, or prefers the District Court’s analysis;  it is whether, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to respondents, a jury or other factfinder could reasonably conclude that petitioners engaged in long-term, below-cost sales.  I agree with the Third Circuit that the answer to this question is “yes.”  

It is misleading for the Court to state that the Court of Appeals “did not disturb the District Court’s analysis of the factors that substantially undermine the probative value of [evidence in the DePodwin Report respecting below-cost sales].”  The Third Circuit held that the exclusion of the portion of the DePodwin Report regarding below-cost pricing was erroneous because “the trial court ignored DePodwin’s uncontradicted affidavit that all data relied on in his report were of the type on which experts in his field would reasonably rely.”  In short, the Third Circuit found DePodwin’s affidavit sufficient to create a genuine factual issue regarding the correctness of his conclusion that petitioners sold below cost over a long period of time.  Having made this determination, the court saw no need–nor do I–to address the District Court’s analysis point by point.  The District Court’s criticisms of DePodwin’s methods are arguments that a factfinder should consider.

IV.  Because I believe that the Third Circuit was correct in holding that respondents have demonstrated the existence of genuine issues of material fact, I would affirm the judgment below and remand this case for trial.

$   $   $   $   $   $   $
BUSINESS ELECTRONICS CORP. v. 

SHARP ELECTRONICS CORP.

485 U.S. 717 (1988) 

Justice SCALIA delivered the opinion of the Court.  Petitioner Business Electronics Corporation seeks review of a decision … holding that a vertical restraint is per se illegal under §1 of the Sherman Act, only if there is an express or implied agreement to set resale prices at some level.  We granted certiorari, to resolve a conflict in the Courts of Appeals regarding the proper dividing line between the rule that vertical price restraints are illegal per se and the rule that vertical nonprice restraints are to be judged under the rule of reason.                                      

I.  In 1968, petitioner became the exclusive retailer in the Houston, Texas, area of electronic calculators manufactured by respondent Sharp Electronics Corporation.  In 1972, respondent appointed Gilbert Hartwell as a second retailer in the Houston area. …  While much of the evidence in this case was conflicting–in particular, concerning whether petitioner was “free riding” on Hartwell’s provision of presale educational and promotional services by providing inadequate services itself–a few facts are undisputed.  Respondent published a list of suggested minimum retail prices, but its written dealership agreements with petitioner and Hartwell did not obligate either to observe them, or to charge any other specific price.  Petitioner’s retail prices were often below respondent’s suggested retail prices and generally below Hartwell’s retail prices, even though Hartwell too sometimes priced below respondent’s suggested retail prices.  Hartwell complained to respondent on a number of occasions about petitioner’s prices.  In June 1973, Hartwell gave respondent the ultimatum that Hartwell would terminate his dealership unless respondent ended its relationship with petitioner within 30 days.  Respondent terminated petitioner’s dealership in July 1973.  

Petitioner brought suit … alleging that respondent and Hartwell had conspired to terminate petitioner and that such conspiracy was illegal per se under §1 of the Sherman Act.  The case was tried to a jury.  The District Court submitted a liability interrogatory to the jury that asked whether “there was an agreement or understanding between Sharp Electronics Corporation and Hartwell to terminate Business Electronics as a Sharp dealer because of Business Electronics’ price cutting.”  The District Court instructed the jury at length about this question:

The Sherman Act is violated when a seller enters into an agreement or understanding with one of its dealers to terminate another dealer because of the other dealer’s price cutting.  Plaintiff contends that Sharp terminated Business Electronics in furtherance of Hartwell’s desire to eliminate Business Electronics as a price-cutting rival.

If you find that there was an agreement between Sharp and Hartwell to terminate Business Electronics because of Business Electronics’ price cutting, you should answer yes to Question Number 1.  … 

A combination, agreement or understanding to terminate a dealer because of his price cutting unreasonably restrains trade and cannot be justified for any reason.  Therefore, even though the combination, agreement or understanding may have been formed or engaged in ... to eliminate any alleged evils of price cutting, it is still unlawful....

If a dealer demands that a manufacturer terminate a price cutting dealer, and the manufacturer agrees to do so, the agreement is illegal if the manufacturer’s purpose is to eliminate the price cutting.  

The jury answered Question 1 affirmatively and awarded $600,000 in damages.  The District Court … entered judgment for petitioner for treble damages plus attorney’s fees.  The Fifth Circuit reversed, holding that the jury interrogatory and instructions were erroneous….   It held that, to render illegal per se a vertical agreement between a manufacturer and a dealer to terminate a second dealer, the first dealer “must expressly or impliedly agree to set its prices at some level, though not a specific one.  The distributor cannot retain complete freedom to set whatever price it chooses.” 

II.  A.  … Since the earliest decisions of this Court interpreting [Section 1], we have recognized that it was intended to prohibit only unreasonable restraints of trade. Ordinarily, whether particular concerted action violates §1 of the Sherman Act is determined through case-by-case application of the so-called rule of reason…. Certain categories of agreements, however, have been held to be per se illegal, dispensing with the need for case-by-case evaluation.  We have said that per se rules are appropriate only for “conduct that is manifestly anticompetitive,” [Sylvania], that is, conduct “‘that would always or almost always tend to restrict competition and decrease output,’” Northwest Wholesale Stationers, quoting Broadcast Music.  …   

Although vertical agreements on resale prices have been illegal per se since Dr. Miles Medical Co., we have recognized that the scope of per se illegality should be narrow in the context of vertical restraints.  In Sylvania, we refused to extend per se illegality to vertical nonprice restraints, specifically to a manufacturer’s termination of one dealer pursuant to an exclusive territory agreement with another.  We noted that especially in the vertical restraint context “departure from the rule-of-reason standard must be based on demonstrable economic effect rather than ... upon formalistic line drawing.” We concluded that vertical nonprice restraints had not been shown to have such a “‘pernicious effect on competition’” and to be so “‘lack[ing] [in] ... redeeming value’” as to justify per se illegality. [Sylvania] quoting Northern Pacific R. Co. v. U.S., 356 U.S. 1, 5 (1958).  Rather, we found, they had real potential to stimulate interbrand competition, “the primary concern of antitrust law,” Sylvania. …  

Moreover, we observed that a rule of per se illegality for vertical nonprice restraints was not needed or effective to protect intrabrand competition. First, so long as interbrand competition existed, that would provide a “significant check” on any attempt to exploit intrabrand market power.  Id.  In fact, in order to meet that interbrand competition, a manufacturer’s dominant incentive is to lower resale prices. Second, the per se illegality of vertical restraints would create a perverse incentive for manufacturers to integrate vertically into distribution, an outcome hardly conducive to fostering the creation and maintenance of small businesses.  Id.  

Finally, our opinion in Sylvania noted a significant distinction between vertical nonprice and vertical price restraints.  That is, there was support for the proposition that vertical price restraints reduce inter brand price competition because they “‘facilitate cartelizing.’”  Id., quoting Posner, Antitrust Policy and the Supreme Court:  An Analysis of the Restricted Distribution, Horizontal Merger and Potential Competition Decisions, 75 Colum.L.Rev. 282, 294 (1975).  The authorities cited by the Court suggested how vertical price agreements might assist horizontal price fixing at the manufacturer level (by reducing the manufacturer’s incentive to cheat on a cartel, since its retailers could not pass on lower prices to consumers) or might be used to organize cartels at the retailer level. Similar support for the cartel-facilitating effect of vertical nonprice restraints was and remains lacking.  

We have been solicitous to assure that the market-freeing effect of our decision in Sylvania is not frustrated by related legal rules.  In Monsanto, which addressed the evidentiary showing necessary to establish vertical concerted action, we expressed concern that “[i]f an inference of such an agreement may be drawn from highly ambiguous evidence, there is considerable danger that the doctrin[e] enunciated in Sylvania ... will be seriously eroded.” We eschewed adoption of an evidentiary standard that “could deter or penalize perfectly legitimate conduct” or “would create an irrational dislocation in the market” by preventing legitimate communication between a manufacturer and its distributors.  

Our approach to the question presented in the present case is guided by the premises of Sylvania and Monsanto: that there is a presumption in favor of a rule-of-reason standard;  that departure from that standard must be justified by demonstrable economic effect, such as the facilitation of cartelizing, rather than formalistic distinctions;  that interbrand competition is the primary concern of the antitrust laws;  and that rules in this area should be formulated with a view towards protecting the doctrine of Sylvania.  These premises lead us to conclude that the line drawn by the Fifth Circuit is the most appropriate one.  

There has been no showing here that an agreement between a manufacturer and a dealer to terminate a “price cutter,” without a further agreement on the price or price levels to be charged by the remaining dealer, almost always tends to restrict competition and reduce output.  Any assistance to cartelizing that such an agreement might provide cannot be distinguished from the sort of minimal assistance that might be provided by vertical nonprice agreements like the exclusive territory agreement in Sylvania, and is insufficient to justify a per se rule.  Cartels are neither easy to form nor easy to maintain.  Uncertainty over the terms of the cartel, particularly the prices to be charged in the future, obstructs both formation and adherence by making cheating easier. Without an agreement with the remaining dealer on price, the manufacturer both retains its incentive to cheat on any manufacturer-level cartel (since lower prices can still be passed on to consumers) and cannot as easily be used to organize and hold together a retailer-level cartel.2 

  
The District Court’s rule on the scope of per se illegality for vertical restraints would threaten to dismantle the doctrine of Sylvania.  Any agreement between a manufacturer and a dealer to terminate another dealer who happens to have charged lower prices can be alleged to have been directed against the terminated dealer’s “price cutting.”  In the vast majority of cases, it will be extremely difficult for the manufacturer to convince a jury that its motivation was to ensure adequate services, since price cutting and some measure of service cutting usually go hand in hand.  Accordingly, a manufacturer that agrees to give one dealer an exclusive territory and terminates another dealer pursuant to that agreement, or even a manufacturer that agrees with one dealer to terminate another for failure to provide contractually obligated services, exposes itself to the highly plausible claim that its real motivation was to terminate a price cutter.  Moreover, even vertical restraints that do not result in dealer termination, such as the initial granting of an exclusive territory or the requirement that certain services be provided, can be attacked as designed to allow existing dealers to charge higher prices.  Manufacturers would be likely to forego legitimate and competitively useful conduct rather than risk treble damages and perhaps even criminal penalties.  

We cannot avoid this difficulty by invalidating as illegal per se only those agreements imposing vertical restraints that contain the word “price,” or that affect the “prices” charged by dealers.  Such formalism was explicitly rejected in Sylvania.  As the above discussion indicates, all vertical restraints, including the exclusive territory agreement held not to be per se illegal in Sylvania, have the potential to allow dealers to increase “prices” and can be characterized as intended to achieve just that. In fact, vertical nonprice restraints only accomplish the benefits identified in Sylvania because they reduce intrabrand price competition to the point where the dealer’s profit margin permits provision of the desired services.  As we described it in Monsanto:  “The manufacturer often will want to ensure that its distributors earn sufficient profit to pay for programs such as hiring and training additional salesmen or demonstrating the technical features of the product, and will want to see that ‘free-riders’ do not interfere.”  

  
The … dissent’s reasoning hinges upon its perception that the agreement between Sharp and Hartwell was a “naked” restraint–that is, it was not “ancillary” to any other agreement between Sharp and Hartwell.  But that is not true, unless one assumes, contrary to Sylvania and Monsanto, and contrary to our earlier discussion, that it is not a quite plausible purpose of the restriction to enable Hartwell to provide better services under the sales franchise agreement.3  From its faulty conclusion that what we have before us is a “naked” restraint, the dissent proceeds, by reasoning we do not entirely follow, to the further conclusion that it is therefore a horizontal rather than a vertical restraint.  We pause over this only to note that in addition to producing what we think the wrong result in the present case, it introduces needless confusion into antitrust terminology.  Restraints imposed by agreement between competitors have traditionally been denominated as horizontal restraints, and those imposed by agreement between firms at different levels of distribution as vertical restraints.4 

  
Finally, we do not agree … that an agreement on the remaining dealer’s price or price levels will so often follow from terminating another dealer “because of [its] price cutting” that prophylaxis against resale price maintenance warrants the District Court’s per se rule.  Petitioner has provided no support for the proposition that vertical price agreements generally underlie agreements to terminate a price cutter. That proposition is simply incompatible with the conclusion of Sylvania and Monsanto that manufacturers are often motivated by a legitimate desire to have dealers provide services, combined with the reality that price cutting is frequently made possible by “free riding” on the services provided by other dealers.  The District Court’s per se rule would therefore discourage conduct recognized by Sylvania and Monsanto as beneficial to consumers.


B.  … Petitioner’s principal contention has been that the District Court’s rule on per se illegality is compelled … by … recent Sherman Act precedents.  First, petitioner contends that since certain horizontal agreements have been held to constitute price fixing (and thus to be per se illegal) though they did not set prices or price levels, it is improper to require that a vertical agreement set prices or price levels before it can suffer the same fate.  This notion of equivalence between the scope of horizontal per se illegality and that of vertical per se illegality was explicitly rejected in Sylvania–as it had to be, since a horizontal agreement to divide territories is per se illegal, while Sylvania held that a vertical agreement to do so is not. …  

Second, petitioner contends that per se illegality here follows from our two cases holding per se illegal a group boycott of a dealer because of its price cutting.  See U.S. v. General Motors Corp., 384 U.S. 127 (1966);  Klor’s.  This second contention is merely a restatement of the first, since both cases involved horizontal combinations–General Motors at the dealer level,5 and Klor’s at the manufacturer and wholesaler levels.  …


Third, petitioner contends, relying on Albrecht and Parke, Davis, that our vertical price-fixing cases have already rejected the proposition that per se illegality requires setting a price or a price level.  We disagree.  In Albrecht, the maker of the product formed a combination to force a retailer to charge the maker’s advertised retail price  This combination had two aspects.  Initially, the maker hired a third party to solicit customers away from the noncomplying retailer.  This solicitor “was aware that the aim of the solicitation campaign was to force [the noncomplying retailer] to lower his price” to the suggested retail price. Next, the maker engaged another retailer who “undertook to deliver [products] at the suggested price” to the noncomplying retailer’s customers obtained by the solicitor. This combination of maker, solicitor, and new retailer was held to be per se illegal. It is plain that the combination involved both an explicit agreement on resale price and an agreement to force another to adhere to the specified price.  

In Parke, Davis, a manufacturer combined first with wholesalers and then with retailers in order to gain the “retailers’ adherence to its suggested minimum retail prices.” The manufacturer also brokered an agreement among its retailers not to advertise prices below its suggested retail prices, which agreement was held to be part of the per se illegal combination.  This holding also does not support a rule that an agreement on price or price level is not required for a vertical restraint to be per se illegal–first, because the agreement not to advertise prices was part and parcel of the combination that contained the price agreement, and second because the agreement among retailers that the manufacturer organized was a horizontal conspiracy among competitors.    

In sum, economic analysis supports the view, and no precedent opposes it, that a vertical restraint is not illegal per se unless it includes some agreement on price or price levels.  Accordingly, the judgment of the Fifth Circuit is Affirmed.

Justice STEVENS, with whom Justice WHITE joins, dissenting.  In its opinion the majority assumes, without analysis, that the question presented by this case concerns the legality of a “vertical nonprice restraint.”  As I shall demonstrate, the restraint that results when one or more dealers threaten to boycott a manufacturer unless it terminates its relationship with a price-cutting retailer is more properly viewed as a “horizontal restraint.”  Moreover, an agreement to terminate a dealer because of its price cutting is most certainly not a “nonprice restraint.”  The distinction between “vertical nonprice restraints” and “vertical price restraints,” on which the majority focuses its attention, is therefore quite irrelevant to the outcome of this case.  Of much greater importance is the distinction between “naked restraints” and “ancillary restraints” that has been a part of our law since … Addyston Pipe & Steel Co.

I.  …  [Judge Taft in Addyston Pipe] explained that in England there had been two types of objection to voluntary restraints on one’s ability to transact business.  

One was that by such contracts a man disabled himself from earning a livelihood with the risk of becoming a public charge, and deprived the community of the benefit of his labor.  The other was that such restraints tended to give to the covenantee, the beneficiary of such restraints, a monopoly of the trade, from which he had thus excluded one competitor, and by the same means might exclude others.  

Certain contracts, however, such as covenants not to compete in a particular business, for a certain period of time, within a defined geographical area, had always been considered reasonable when necessary to carry out otherwise procompetitive contracts, such as the sale of a business.  The difference between ancillary covenants that may be justified as reasonable and those that are “void” because there is “nothing to justify or excuse the restraint,” was described in the opinion’s seminal discussion: 

[T]he contract must be one in which there is a main purpose, to which the covenant in restraint of trade is merely ancillary.  The covenant is inserted only to protect one of the parties from the injury which, in the execution of the contract or enjoyment of its fruits, he may suffer from the unrestrained competition of the other.  The main purpose of the contract suggests the measure of protection needed, and furnishes a sufficiently uniform standard by which the validity of such restraints may be judicially determined.  In such a case, if the restraint exceeds the necessity presented by the main purpose of the contract, it is void for two reasons:  First, because it oppresses the covenantor, without any corresponding benefit to the covenantee;  and, second, because it tends to a monopoly.  But where the sole object of both parties in making the contract as expressed therein is merely to restrain competition, and enhance or maintain prices, it would seem that there was nothing to justify or excuse the restraint, that it would necessarily have a tendency to monopoly, and therefore would be void.  In such a case there is no measure of what is necessary to the protection of either party, except the vague and varying opinion of judges as to how much, on principles of political economy, men ought to be allowed to restrain competition.  There is in such contracts no main lawful purpose, to subserve which partial restraint is permitted, and by which its reasonableness is measured, but the sole object is to restrain trade in order to avoid the competition which it has always been the policy of the common law to foster.

Although Judge Taft was writing as a Circuit Judge, his opinion is universally accepted as authoritative.  We affirmed his decision without dissent, we have repeatedly cited it with approval, and it is praised by a respected scholar as “one of the greatest, if not the greatest, antitrust opinions in the history of the law.”  R. Bork, The Antitrust Paradox 26 (1978).  In accordance with the teaching in that opinion, it is therefore appropriate to look more closely at the character of the restraint of trade found by the jury in this case.

II.  It may be helpful to begin by explaining why the agreement in this case does not fit into certain categories of agreement that are frequently found in antitrust litigation.  First, … this is not a case in which the manufacturer is alleged to have imposed any vertical nonprice restraints on any of its dealers.  The term “vertical nonprice restraint,” as used in Sylvania and similar cases, refers to a contractual term that a dealer must accept in order to qualify for a franchise.  Typically, the dealer must agree to meet certain standards in its advertising, promotion, product display, and provision of repair and maintenance services in order to protect the goodwill of the manufacturer’s product. … Restrictions of that kind, which are a part of, or ancillary to, the basic franchise agreement, are perfectly lawful unless the “rule of reason” is violated. Although vertical nonprice restraints may have some adverse effect on competition, as long as they serve the main purpose of a procompetitive distribution agreement, the ancillary restraints may be defended under the rule of reason.  And, of course, a dealer who violates such a restraint may properly be terminated by the manufacturer. 

  
In this case, it does not appear that respondent imposed any vertical nonprice restraints upon either petitioner or Hartwell. … The case is one in which one of two competing dealers entered into an agreement with the manufacturer to terminate a particular competitor without making any promise to provide better or more efficient services and without receiving any guarantee of exclusivity in the future.  The contractual relationship between respondent and Hartwell was exactly the same after petitioner’s termination as it had been before that termination.   

Second, this case does not involve a typical vertical price restraint. As the Court of Appeals noted, there is some evidence in the record that may support the conclusion that respondent and Hartwell implicitly agreed that Hartwell’s prices would be maintained at a level somewhat higher than petitioner had been charging before petitioner was terminated. The illegality of the agreement found by the jury does not, however, depend on such evidence.  For purposes of analysis, we should assume that no such agreement existed and that respondent was perfectly willing to allow its dealers to set prices at levels that would maximize their profits.  That seems to have been the situation during the period when petitioner was the only dealer in Houston.  Moreover, after respondent appointed Hartwell as its second dealer, it was Hartwell, rather than respondent, who objected to petitioner’s pricing policies.  

Third, this is not a case in which the manufacturer acted independently. Indeed, given the jury’s verdict, … the termination can[not] be explained as having been based on the violation of any distribution policy adopted by respondent.  The termination was motivated by the ultimatum that respondent received from Hartwell and that ultimatum, in turn, was the culmination of Hartwell’s complaints about petitioner’s competitive price cutting.  The termination was plainly the product of coercion by the stronger of two dealers rather than an attempt to maintain an orderly and efficient system of distribution.4 


In sum, this case does not involve the reasonableness of any vertical restraint imposed on one or more dealers by a manufacturer in its basic franchise agreement.  What the jury found was a simple and naked “‘agreement between Sharp and Hartwell to terminate Business Electronics because of Business Electronics’ price cutting.’”  

III.  Because naked agreements to restrain the trade of third parties are seldom identified with such stark clarity as in this case, there appears to be no exact precedent that determines the outcome here.  There are, however, perfectly clear rules that would be decisive if the facts were changed only slightly.  

Thus, on the one hand, if it were clear that respondent had acted independently and decided to terminate petitioner because respondent, for reasons of its own, objected to petitioner’s pricing policies, the termination would be lawful.  See Parke, Davis.  On the other hand, it is equally clear that if respondent had been represented by three dealers in the Houston market instead of only two, and if two of them had threatened to terminate their dealerships “unless respondent ended its relationship with petitioner within 30 days,” an agreement to comply with the ultimatum would be an obvious violation of the Sherman Act.  See, e.g., U.S. v. General Motors Corp., 384 U.S. 127 (1966);  Klor’s. The question then is whether the two-party agreement involved in this case is more like an illegal three-party agreement or a legal independent decision.  For me, the answer is plain.


The distinction between independent action and joint action is fundamental in antitrust jurisprudence. Any attempt to define the boundaries of per se illegality by the number of parties to different agreements with the same anticompetitive consequences can only breed uncertainty in the law and confusion for the businessman.

  
More importantly, if … we focus on the precise character of the agreement before us, we can readily identify its anticompetitive nature.  Before the agreement was made, there was price competition in the Houston retail market for respondent’s products.  The stronger of the two competitors was unhappy about that competition;  it wanted to have the power to set the price level in the market and therefore it “complained to respondent on a number of occasions about petitioner’s prices.”  Quite obviously, if petitioner had agreed with either Hartwell or respondent to discontinue its competitive pricing, there would have been no ultimatum from Hartwell and no termination by respondent.  It is equally obvious that either of those agreements would have been illegal per se. Moreover, it is also reasonable to assume that if respondent were to replace petitioner with another price-cutting dealer, there would soon be more complaints and another ultimatum from Hartwell.  Although respondent has not granted Hartwell an exclusive dealership–it retains the right to appoint multiple dealers–its agreement has protected Hartwell from price competition.  Indeed, given the jury’s finding and the evidence in the record, that is the sole function of the agreement found by the jury in this case.  It therefore fits squarely within the category of “naked restraints of trade with no purpose except stifling of competition.”  White Motor Co. 


This is the sort of agreement that scholars readily characterize as “inherently suspect.”8  When a manufacturer responds to coercion from a dealer, instead of making an independent decision to enforce a predetermined distribution policy, the anticompetitive character of the response is evident. … [T]hat the agreement is between only one complaining dealer and the manufacturer does not prevent it from imposing a “horizontal” restraint.  If two critical facts are present–a naked purpose to eliminate price competition as such and coercion of the manufacturer–the conflict with antitrust policy is manifest. 

  
Indeed, since the economic consequences of Hartwell’s ultimatum to respondent are identical to those that would result from a comparable ultimatum by two of three dealers in a market–and since a two-party price-fixing agreement is just as unlawful as a three-party price-fixing agreement–it is appropriate to employ the term “boycott” to characterize this agreement.  In my judgment the case is therefore controlled by our decision in U.S. v. General Motors Corp.  

The majority disposes quickly of both General Motors and Klor’s, by concluding that “both cases involved horizontal combinations.” But this distinction plainly will not suffice.  In General Motors, a group of Chevrolet dealers conspired with General Motors to eliminate sales from the manufacturer to discounting dealers.  We held that “[e]limination, by joint collaborative action, of discounters from access to the market is a per se violation of the Act,” and explained that “inherent in the success of the combination in this case was a substantial restraint upon price competition–a goal unlawful per se when sought to be effected by combination or conspiracy.” Precisely the same goal was sought and effected in this case–the elimination of price competition at the dealer level.  Moreover, the method of achieving that goal was precisely the same in both cases–the manufacturer’s refusal to sell to discounting dealers.  The difference between the two cases is not a difference between horizontal and vertical agreements–in both cases the critical agreement was between market actors at the retail level on the one hand and the manufacturer level on the other.  Rather, the difference is simply a difference in the number of conspirators.  Hartwell’s coercion of respondent in order to eliminate petitioner because of its same-level price competition is not different in kind from the Chevrolet dealers’ coercion of General Motors in order to eliminate other, price-cutting dealers;  the only difference between the two cases–one dealer seeking a naked price-based restraint in today’s case, many dealers seeking the same end in General Motors–is merely a difference in degree.  Both boycotts lack any efficiency justification–they are simply naked restraints on price competition, rather than integral, or ancillary, parts of the manufacturers’ predetermined distribution policies.

IV.  What is most troubling about the majority’s opinion is its failure to attach any weight to the value of intrabrand competition.  In Sylvania, we correctly held that a demonstrable benefit to interbrand competition will outweigh the harm to intrabrand competition that is caused by the imposition of vertical nonprice restrictions on dealers.  But we also expressly reaffirmed earlier cases in which the illegal conspiracy affected only intrabrand competition. Not a word in the Sylvania opinion implied that the elimination of intrabrand competition could be justified as reasonable without any evidence of a purpose to improve interbrand competition.


In the case before us today, the relevant economic market was the sale at retail in the Houston area of calculators manufactured by respondent.  There is no dispute that an agreement to fix prices in that market, either horizontally between petitioner and Hartwell or vertically between respondent and either or both of the two dealers, would violate the Sherman Act.  The “quite plausible” assumption that such an agreement might enable the retailers to provide better services to their customers would not have avoided the strict rule against price fixing that this Court has consistently enforced in the past.


Under petitioner’s theory of the case, an agreement between respondent and Hartwell to terminate petitioner because of its price cutting was just as indefensible as any of those price-fixing agreements.  At trial the jury found the existence of such an agreement to eliminate petitioner’s price competition.  Respondent had denied that any agreement had been made and asked the jury to find that it had independently decided to terminate petitioner because of its poor sales performance, but after hearing several days of testimony, the jury concluded that this defense was pretextual.


Neither the Court of Appeals nor the majority questions the accuracy of the jury’s resolution of the factual issues in this case.  Nevertheless, the rule the majority fashions today is based largely on its concern that in other cases juries will be unable to tell the difference between truthful and pretextual defenses.  Thus, it opines that “even a manufacturer that agrees with one dealer to terminate another for failure to provide contractually obligated services, exposes itself to the highly plausible claim that its real motivation was to terminate a price cutter.”  But such a “plausible” concern in a hypothetical case that is so different from this one should not be given greater weight than facts that can be established by hard evidence.  If a dealer has, in fact, failed to provide contractually obligated services, and if the manufacturer has, in fact, terminated the dealer for that reason, both of those objective facts should be provable by admissible evidence. Both in its disposition of this case and in its attempt to justify a new approach to agreements to eliminate price competition, the majority exhibits little confidence in the judicial process as a means of ascertaining the truth. 

  
The majority fails to consider that manufacturers such as respondent will only be held liable in the rare case in which the following can be proved:  First, the terminated dealer must overcome the high hurdle of Monsanto.  A terminated dealer must introduce “evidence that tends to exclude the possibility that the manufacturer and nonterminated distributors were acting independently.” Requiring judges to adhere to the strict test for agreement laid down in Monsanto, in their jury instructions or own findings of fact, goes a long way toward ensuring that many legitimate dealer termination decisions do not succumb improperly to antitrust liability. 


Second, the terminated dealer must prove that the agreement was based on a purpose to terminate it because of its price cutting.  Proof of motivation is another commonplace in antitrust litigation of which the majority appears apprehensive, but as we have explained or demonstrated many times, see, e.g., Aspen Skiing Co. v. Aspen Highlands Skiing , 472 U.S. 585, 610-611 (1985) …, in antitrust, as in many other areas of the law, motivation matters and factfinders are able to distinguish bad from good intent.

Third, the manufacturer may rebut the evidence tending to prove that the sole purpose of the agreement was to eliminate a price cutter by offering evidence that it entered the agreement for legitimate, nonprice-related reasons.  

Although in this case the jury found a naked agreement to terminate a dealer because of its price cutting, the majority boldly characterizes the same agreement as “this nonprice vertical restriction.” That characterization is surely an oxymoron when applied to the agreement the jury actually found.  Nevertheless, the majority proceeds to justify it as “ancillary” to a “quite plausible purpose ... to enable Hartwell to provide better services under the sales franchise agreement.”  There are two significant reasons why that justification is unacceptable.  First, it is not supported by the jury’s verdict.  Although it did not do so with precision, the District Court did instruct the jury that in order to hold respondent liable it had to find that the agreement’s purpose was to eliminate petitioner because of its price cutting and that no valid vertical nonprice restriction existed to which the motivation to eliminate price competition at the dealership level was merely ancillary. 

Second, the “quite plausible purpose” the majority hypothesizes as salvation for the otherwise anticompetitive elimination of price competition–”to enable Hartwell to provide better services under the sales franchise agreement,” is simply not the type of concern we sought to protect in Sylvania.  I have emphasized in this dissent the difference between restrictions imposed in pursuit of a manufacturer’s structuring of its product distribution, and those imposed at the behest of retailers who care less about the general efficiency of a product’s promotion than their own profit margins.  Sylvania stressed the importance of the former, not the latter;  we referred to the use that manufacturers can make of vertical nonprice restraints, and nowhere did we discuss the benefits of permitting dealers to structure intrabrand competition at the retail level by coercing manufacturers into essentially anticompetitive agreements.  Thus, while Hartwell may indeed be able to provide better services under the sales franchise agreement with petitioner out of the way, one would not have thought, until today, that the mere possibility of such a result–at the expense of the elimination of price competition and absent the salutary overlay of a manufacturer’s distribution decision with the entire product line in mind–would be sufficient to legitimate an otherwise purely anticompetitive restraint.  In fact, given the majority’s total reliance on “economic analysis,”, it is hard to understand why, if such a purpose were sufficient to avoid the application of a per se rule in this context, the same purpose should not also be sufficient to trump the per se rule in all other price-fixing cases that arguably permit cartel members to “provide better services.”  

If, however, we continue to accept the premise that competition in the relevant market is worthy of legal protection–that we should not rely on competitive pressures exerted by sellers in other areas and purveyors of similar but not identical products–and if we are faithful to the competitive philosophy that has animated our antitrust jurisprudence since Judge Taft’s opinion in Addyston Pipe, we can agree that the elimination of price competition will produce wider gross profit margins for retailers, but we may not assume that the retailer’s self-interest will result in a better marketplace for consumers. … Under the facts as found by the jury in this case, the agreement before us is one whose “sole object is to restrain trade in order to avoid the competition which it has always been the policy of the common law to foster.” Addyston Pipe & Steel Co., 85 F., at 283. …
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STATE OIL COMPANY v. KHAN

522 U.S. 3 (1997)

Justice O’CONNOR delivered the opinion of the Court.  Under §1 of the Sherman Act, “[e]very contract, combination ..., or conspiracy, in restraint of trade” is illegal.  In Albrecht v. Herald Co., 390 U.S. 145, (1968), this Court held that vertical maximum price fixing is a per se violation of that statute.  In this case, we are asked to reconsider that decision in light of subsequent decisions of this Court.  We conclude that Albrecht should be overruled.

I.  Respondents, Barkat U. Khan and his corporation, entered into an agreement with petitioner, State Oil Company, to lease and operate a gas station and convenience store owned by State Oil.  The agreement provided that respondents would obtain the station’s gasoline supply from State Oil at a price equal to a suggested retail price set by State Oil, less a margin of 3.25 cents per gallon.  Under the agreement, respondents could charge any amount for gasoline sold to the station’s customers, but if the price charged was higher than State Oil’s suggested retail price, the excess was to be rebated to State Oil. Respondents could sell gasoline for less than State Oil’s suggested retail price, but any such decrease would reduce their 3.25 cents‑per‑gallon margin.

 
About a year after respondents began operating the gas station, they fell behind in lease payments.  State Oil then gave notice of its intent to terminate the agreement and commenced a state court proceeding to evict respondents.  At State Oil’s request, the state court appointed a receiver to operate the gas station.  The receiver operated the station for several months without being subject to the price restraints in respondents’ agreement with State Oil.  According to respondents, the receiver obtained an overall profit margin in excess of 3.25 cents per gallon by lowering the price of regular‑ grade gasoline and raising the price of premium grades.

 
Respondents sued State Oil…, alleging in part that State Oil had engaged in price fixing in violation of 1 of the Sherman Act by preventing respondents from raising or lowering retail gas prices. According to the complaint, but for the agreement with State Oil, respondents could have charged different prices based on the grades of gasoline, in the same way that the receiver had, thereby achieving increased sales and profits.  State Oil responded that the agreement did not actually prevent respondents from setting gasoline prices, and that, in substance, respondents did not allege a violation of antitrust laws by their claim that State Oil’s suggested retail price was not optimal.

 
The District Court found that the allegations in the complaint did not state a per se violation of the Sherman Act because they did not establish the sort of “manifestly anticompetitive implications or pernicious effect on competition” that would justify per se prohibition of State Oil’s conduct. Subsequently…, the District Court concluded that respondents had failed to demonstrate antitrust injury or harm to competition. The District Court held that respondents had not shown that a difference in gasoline pricing would have increased the station’s sales;  nor had they shown that State Oil had market power or that its pricing provisions affected competition in a relevant market. Accordingly, the District Court entered summary judgment for State Oil on respondents’ Sherman Act claim.  

 
The Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit reversed. The court first noted that the agreement between respondents and State Oil did indeed fix maximum gasoline prices by making it “worthless” for respondents to exceed the suggested retail prices. After reviewing legal and economic aspects of price fixing, the court concluded that State Oil’s pricing scheme was a per se antitrust violation under Albrecht.  Although the Court of Appeals characterized Albrecht as “unsound when decided” and “inconsistent with later decisions” of this Court, it felt constrained to follow that decision. In light of Albrecht and Atlantic Richfield Co. v. USA Petroleum Co., 495 U.S. 328 (1990) (ARCO ), the court found that respondents could have suffered antitrust injury from not being able to adjust gasoline prices.  We granted certiorari to consider … whether State Oil’s conduct constitutes a per se violation of the Sherman Act … 

II.  A.  Although the Sherman Act, by its terms, prohibits every agreement “in restraint of trade,” this Court has long recognized that Congress intended to outlaw only unreasonable restraints. As a consequence, most antitrust claims are analyzed under a “rule of reason,” according to which the finder of fact must decide whether the questioned practice imposes an unreasonable restraint on competition, taking into account a variety of factors, including specific information about the relevant business, its condition before and after the restraint was imposed, and the restraint’s history, nature, and effect.  


Some types of restraints, however, have such predictable and pernicious anticompetitive effect, and such limited potential for procompetitive benefit, that they are deemed unlawful per se. Northern Pacific R. Co..  Per se treatment is appropriate “[o]nce experience with a particular kind of restraint enables the Court to predict with confidence that the rule of reason will condemn it.” Maricopa County;  see also BMI.  Thus, we have expressed reluctance to adopt per se rules with regard to “restraints imposed in the context of business relationships where the economic impact of certain practices is not immediately obvious.”  Indiana Federation of Dentists. 

 
A review of this Court’s decisions leading up to and beyond Albrecht is relevant to our assessment of the continuing validity of the per se rule established in Albrecht.  Beginning with Dr. Miles Medical Co., the Court recognized the illegality of agreements under which manufacturers or suppliers set the minimum resale prices to be charged by their distributors.  By 1940, the Court broadly declared all business combinations “formed for the purpose and with the effect of raising, depressing, fixing, pegging, or stabilizing the price of a commodity in interstate or foreign commerce” illegal per se. Socony‑Vacuum Oil Co.  Accordingly, the Court condemned an agreement between two affiliated liquor distillers to limit the maximum price charged by retailers in Kiefer‑Stewart Co. v. Joseph E. Seagram & Sons, Inc., 340 U.S. 211 (1951), noting that agreements to fix maximum prices, “no less than those to fix minimum prices, cripple the freedom of traders and thereby restrain their ability to sell in accordance with their own judgment.” 

 
In subsequent cases, the Court’s attention turned to arrangements through which suppliers imposed restrictions on dealers with respect to matters other than resale price.  In White Motor Co., the Court considered the validity of a manufacturer’s assignment of exclusive territories to its distributors and dealers.  The Court determined that too little was known about the competitive impact of such vertical limitations to warrant treating them as per se unlawful.  Four years later, in Schwinn, the Court reconsidered the status of exclusive dealer territories and held that, upon the transfer of title to goods to a distributor, a supplier’s imposition of territorial restrictions on the distributor was “so obviously destructive of competition” as to constitute a per se violation of the Sherman Act. In Schwinn, the Court acknowledged that some vertical restrictions, such as the conferral of territorial rights or franchises, could have procompetitive benefits by allowing smaller enterprises to compete, and that such restrictions might avert vertical integration in the distribution process  The Court drew the line, however, at permitting manufacturers to control product marketing once dominion over the goods had passed to dealers. 

 
Albrecht, decided the following Term, involved a newspaper publisher who had granted exclusive territories to independent carriers subject to their adherence to a maximum price on resale of the newspapers to the public. Influenced by its decisions in Socony‑Vacuum, Kiefer‑Stewart, and Schwinn, the Court concluded that it was per se unlawful for the publisher to fix the maximum resale price of its newspapers  The Court acknowledged that “[m]aximum and minimum price fixing may have different consequences in many situations,” but nonetheless condemned maximum price fixing for “substituting the perhaps erroneous judgment of a seller for the forces of the competitive market.” 

 
Albrecht was animated in part by the fear that vertical maximum price fixing could allow suppliers to discriminate against certain dealers, restrict the services that dealers could afford to offer customers, or disguise minimum price fixing schemes.  The Court rejected the notion (both on the record of that case and in the abstract) that, because the newspaper publisher “granted exclusive territories, a price ceiling was necessary to protect the public from price gouging by dealers who had monopoly power in their own territories.”  

 
In a vigorous dissent, Justice Harlan asserted that the majority had erred in equating the effects of maximum and minimum price fixing. Justice Harlan pointed out that, because the majority was establishing a per se rule, the proper inquiry was “not whether dictation of maximum prices is ever illegal, but whether it is always illegal.” He also faulted the majority for conclusively listing “certain unfortunate consequences that maximum price dictation might have in other cases,” even as it rejected evidence that the publisher’s practice of fixing maximum prices counteracted potentially anticompetitive actions by its distributors. Justice Stewart also dissented, asserting that the publisher’s maximum price fixing scheme should be properly viewed as promoting competition, because it protected consumers from dealers such as Albrecht, who, as “the only person who could sell for home delivery the city’s only daily morning newspaper,” was “a monopolist within his own territory.” 

 
Nine years later, in Sylvania, the Court overruled Schwinn, thereby rejecting application of a per se rule in the context of vertical nonprice restrictions.  The Court acknowledged the principle of stare decisis, but explained that the need for clarification in the law justified reconsideration of Schwinn :

Since its announcement, Schwinn has been the subject of continuing controversy and confusion, both in the scholarly journals and in the federal courts.  The great weight of scholarly opinion has been critical of the decision, and a number of the federal courts confronted with analogous vertical restrictions have sought to limit its reach.  In our view, the experience of the past 10 years should be brought to bear on this subject of considerable commercial importance.  

 

The Court considered the historical context of Schwinn, noting that  Schwinn’s per se rule against vertical nonprice restrictions came only four years after the Court had refused to endorse a similar rule in White Motor Co., and that the decision neither explained the “sudden change in position,” nor referred to the accepted requirements for per se violations set forth in Northern Pacific R. Co.  The Court then reviewed scholarly works supporting the economic utility of vertical nonprice restraints.  The Court concluded that, because “departure from the rule of reason standard must be based upon demonstrable economic effect rather than as in Schwinn upon formalistic line drawing,” the appropriate course would be “to return to the rule of reason that governed vertical restrictions prior to Schwinn.”  

 

In Sylvania, the Court declined to comment on Albrecht’s per se treatment of vertical maximum price restrictions, noting that the issue “involve[d] significantly different questions of analysis and policy.” Subsequent decisions of the Court, however, have hinted that the analytical underpinnings of Albrecht were substantially weakened by Sylvania.  We noted in Maricopa County that vertical restraints are generally more defensible than horizontal restraints.  And we explained in 324 Liquor Corp. v. Duffy, 479 U.S. 335, 341‑342 (1987), that decisions such as Sylvania “recognize the possibility that a vertical restraint imposed by a single manufacturer or wholesaler may stimulate interbrand competition even as it reduces intrabrand competition.”



Most recently, in ARCO, although Albrecht’s continuing validity was not squarely before the Court, some disfavor with that decision was signaled by our statement that we would “assume, arguendo, that Albrecht correctly held that vertical, maximum price fixing is subject to the per se rule.” More significantly, we specifically acknowledged that vertical maximum price fixing “may have procompetitive interbrand effects,” and pointed out that, in the wake of Sylvania, “[t]he procompetitive potential of a vertical maximum price restraint is more evident ... than it was when Albrecht was decided, because exclusive territorial arrangements and other nonprice restrictions were unlawful per se in 1968.”  495 U.S., at 344, n.13 (citing several commentators identifying procompetitive effects of vertical maximum price fixing…).



B.  Thus, our reconsideration of Albrecht’s continuing validity is informed by several of our decisions, as well as a considerable body of scholarship discussing the effects of vertical restraints.  Our analysis is also guided by our general view that the primary purpose of the antitrust laws is to protect interbrand competition.  See, e.g., Business Electronics Corp.  “Low prices,” we have explained, “benefit consumers regardless of how those prices are set, and so long as they are above predatory levels, they do not threaten competition.”  ARCO.  Our interpretation of the Sherman Act also incorporates the notion that condemnation of practices resulting in lower prices to consumers is “especially costly” because “cutting prices in order to increase business often is the very essence of competition.”  Matsushita.

 

So informed, we find it difficult to maintain that vertically‑imposed maximum prices could harm consumers or competition to the extent necessary to justify their per se invalidation.  As Chief Judge Posner wrote for the Court of Appeals in this case:

As for maximum resale price fixing, unless the supplier is a monopsonist he cannot squeeze his dealers’ margins below a competitive level;  the attempt to do so would just drive the dealers into the arms of a competing supplier.  A supplier might, however, fix a maximum resale price in order to prevent his dealers from exploiting a monopoly position....  [S]uppose that State Oil, perhaps to encourage ... dealer services ... has spaced its dealers sufficiently far apart to limit competition among them (or even given each of them an exclusive territory); and suppose further that Union 76 is a sufficiently distinctive and popular brand to give the dealers in it at least a modicum of monopoly power.  Then State Oil might want to place a ceiling on the dealers’ resale prices in order to prevent them from exploiting that monopoly power fully.  It would do this not out of disinterested malice, but in its commercial self‑interest.  The higher the price at which gasoline is resold, the smaller the volume sold, and so the lower the profit to the supplier if the higher profit per gallon at the higher price is being snared by the dealer. 

See also R. Bork, The Antitrust Paradox 281‑282 (1978) (“There could, of course, be no anticonsumer effect from [the type of price fixing considered in Albrecht], and one suspects that the paper has a legitimate interest in keeping subscriber prices down in order to increase circulation and maximize revenues from advertising”).

 

We recognize that the Albrecht decision presented a number of theoretical justifications for a per se rule against vertical maximum price fixing.  But criticism of those premises abounds.  The Albrecht decision was grounded in the fear that maximum price fixing by suppliers could interfere with dealer freedom  In response, as one commentator has pointed out, “the ban on maximum resale price limitations declared in Albrecht in the name of ‘dealer freedom’ has actually prompted many suppliers to integrate forward into distribution, thus eliminating the very independent trader for whom Albrecht professed solicitude.”  7 P. Areeda, Antitrust Law, §1635, p.395 (1989). …



 The Albrecht Court also expressed the concern that maximum prices may be set too low for dealers to offer consumers essential or desired services. But such conduct, by driving away customers, would seem likely to harm manufacturers as well as dealers and consumers, making it unlikely that a supplier would set such a price as a matter of business judgment. In addition, Albrecht noted that vertical maximum price fixing could effectively channel distribution through large or specially‑advantaged dealers.  It is unclear, however, that a supplier would profit from limiting its market by excluding potential dealers. Further, although vertical maximum price fixing might limit the viability of inefficient dealers, that consequence is not necessarily harmful to competition and consumers. 



Finally, Albrecht reflected the Court’s fear that maximum price fixing could be used to disguise arrangements to fix minimum prices, which remain illegal per se.  Although we have acknowledged the possibility that maximum pricing might mask minimum pricing, see Maricopa County, we believe that such conduct as with the other concerns articulated in Albrecht can be appropriately recognized and punished under the rule of reason.  

 

Not only are the potential injuries cited in Albrecht less serious than the Court imagined, the per se rule established therein could in fact exacerbate problems related to the unrestrained exercise of market power by monopolist‑dealers.  Indeed, both courts and antitrust scholars have noted that Albrecht’s rule may actually harm consumers and manufacturers.  See, e.g., Caribe BMW, Inc. v. Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft, 19 F.3d 745, 753 (1st Cir.1994) (Breyer, C. J.);  Areeda, supra, §1636a, at 395;  G. Mathewson & R. Winter, Competition Policy and Vertical Exchange 13‑14 (1985).  Other commentators have also explained that Albrecht’s per se rule has even more potential for deleterious effect on competition after our decision in GTE Sylvania, because, now that vertical nonprice restrictions are not unlawful per se, the likelihood of dealer monopoly power is increased. See, e.g., Easterbrook[, Maximum Price Fixing, 48 U.Chi. L.Rev. 886, 890 n.20 (1981))]; see also ARCO. We do not intend to suggest that dealers generally possess sufficient market power to exploit a monopoly situation. Such retail market power may in fact be uncommon. Nor do we hold that a ban on vertical maximum price fixing inevitably has anticompetitive consequences in the exclusive dealer context.



After reconsidering Albrecht’s rationale and the substantial criticism the decision has received, however, we conclude that there is insufficient economic justification for per se invalidation of vertical maximum price fixing.  That is so not only because it is difficult to accept the assumptions underlying Albrecht, but also because Albrecht has little or no relevance to ongoing enforcement of the Sherman Act. Moreover, neither the parties nor any of the amici curiae have called our attention to any cases in which enforcement efforts have been directed solely against the conduct encompassed by Albrecht’s per se rule.



Respondents argue that reconsideration of Albrecht should require  “persuasive, expert testimony establishing that the per se rule has distorted the market.” Their reasoning ignores the fact that Albrecht itself relied solely upon hypothetical effects of vertical maximum price fixing.  Further, Albrecht’s dire predictions have not been borne out, even though manufacturers and suppliers appear to have fashioned schemes to get around the per se rule against vertical maximum price fixing.  In these circumstances, it is the retention of the rule of Albrecht, and not, as respondents would have it, the rule’s elimination, that lacks adequate justification. …



C.  Despite what Chief Judge Posner aptly described as Albrecht’s  “infirmities, [and] its increasingly wobbly, moth‑eaten foundations,” there remains the question whether Albrecht deserves continuing respect under the doctrine of stare decisis.  The Court of Appeals was correct in applying that principle despite disagreement with Albrecht, for it is this Court’s prerogative alone to overrule one of its precedents.



We approach the reconsideration of decisions of this Court with the utmost caution.  Stare decisis reflects “a policy judgment that ‘in most matters it is more important that the applicable rule of law be settled than that it be settled right.’”  Agostini v. Felton, 521 U.S. 203 (1997) (quoting Burnet v. Coronado Oil & Gas Co., 285 U.S. 393, 406 (1932) (Brandeis, J., dissenting)).  It “is the preferred course because it promotes the evenhanded, predictable, and consistent development of legal principles, fosters reliance on judicial decisions, and contributes to the actual and perceived integrity of the judicial process.” Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 827.  This Court has expressed its reluctance to overrule decisions involving statutory interpretation, see, e.g., Illinois Brick Co. v. Illinois, 431 U.S. 720, 7367 (1977), and has acknowledged that stare decisis concerns are at their acme in cases involving property and contract rights, see, e.g., Payne, 501 U.S., at 828.  Both of those concerns are arguably relevant in this case.



But “[s]tare decisis is not an inexorable command.”   Ibid.  In the area of antitrust law, there is a competing interest, well‑represented in this Court’s decisions, in recognizing and adapting to changed circumstances and the lessons of accumulated experience.  Thus, the general presumption that legislative changes should be left to Congress has less force with respect to the Sherman Act in light of the accepted view that Congress “expected the courts to give shape to the statute’s broad mandate by drawing on common‑law tradition.”  National Soc. of Professional Engineers.  As we have explained, the term “restraint of trade,” as used in §1, also “invokes the common law itself, and not merely the static content that the common law had assigned to the term in 1890.”  Business Electronics. Accordingly, this Court has reconsidered its decisions construing the Sherman Act when the theoretical underpinnings of those decisions are called into serious question.  See, e.g., Copperweld; Sylvania.



Although we do not “lightly assume that the economic realities underlying earlier decisions have changed, or that earlier judicial perceptions of those realities were in error,” we have noted that “different sorts of agreements” may amount to restraints of trade “in varying times and circumstances,” and “[i]t would make no sense to create out of the single term ‘restraint of trade’ a chronologically schizoid statute, in which a ‘rule of reason’ evolves with new circumstances and new wisdom, but a line of per se illegality remains forever fixed where it was.”  Business Electronics.  Just as Schwinn was “the subject of continuing controversy and confusion” under the “great weight” of scholarly criticism, Sylvania, Albrecht has been widely criticized since its inception.  With the views underlying Albrecht eroded by this Court’s precedent, there is not much of that decision to salvage. 

 

Although the rule of Albrecht has been in effect for some time, the inquiry we must undertake requires considering “‘the effect of the antitrust laws upon vertical distributional restraints in the American economy today.’” Sylvania (quoting Schwinn (Stewart, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part)).  As the Court noted in ARCO, there has not been another case since Albrecht in which this Court has “confronted an unadulterated vertical, maximum‑price‑fixing arrangement.”  Now that we confront Albrecht directly, we find its conceptual foundations gravely weakened.



In overruling Albrecht, we of course do not hold that all vertical maximum price fixing is per se lawful.  Instead, vertical maximum price fixing, like the majority of commercial arrangements subject to the antitrust laws, should be evaluated under the rule of reason.  In our view, rule‑of‑reason analysis will effectively identify those situations in which vertical maximum price fixing amounts to anticompetitive conduct.  …

$   $   $   $   $   $   $
NYNEX CORP. v. DISCON, INC.

525 U.S. 128 (1998)

Justice Breyer delivered the opinion of the Court.   In this case we ask whether the antitrust rule that group boycotts are illegal per se as set forth in Klor’s applies to a buyer’s decision to buy from one seller rather than another, when that decision cannot be justified in terms of ordinary competitive objectives. We hold that the per se group boycott rule does not apply. 

I.  Before 1984 American Telephone and Telegraph Company (AT&T) supplied most of the Nation’s telephone service and, through wholly owned subsidiaries such as Western Electric, it also supplied much of the Nation’s telephone equipment. In 1984 an antitrust consent decree took AT&T out of the local telephone service business and left AT&T a long-distance telephone service provider, competing with such firms as MCI and Sprint. The decree transformed AT&T’s formerly owned local telephone companies into independent firms. At the same time, the decree insisted that those local firms help assure competitive long-distance service by guaranteeing long-distance companies physical access to their systems and to their local customers.  To guarantee that physical access, some local telephone firms had to install new call-switching equipment; and to install new call-switching equipment, they often had to remove old call-switching equipment. This case involves the business of removing that old switching equipment (and other obsolete telephone equipment)—a business called “removal services.” 

     
Discon, Inc., the respondent, sold removal services used by New York Telephone Company, a firm supplying local telephone service in much of New York State and parts of Connecticut. New York Telephone is a subsidiary of NYNEX Corporation. NYNEX also owns Materiel Enterprises Company, a purchasing entity that bought removal services for New York Telephone. Discon, in a lengthy detailed complaint, alleged that the NYNEX defendants (namely, NYNEX, New York Telephone, Materiel Enterprises, and several NYNEX related individuals) engaged in unfair, improper, and anticompetitive activities in order to hurt Discon and to benefit Discon’s removal services competitor, AT&T Technologies, a lineal descendant of Western Electric. The Federal District Court dismissed Discon’s complaint for failure to state a claim. The Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit affirmed that dismissal with an exception, and that exception is before us for consideration. 

     
The Second Circuit focused on one of Discon’s specific claims, a claim that Materiel Enterprises had switched its purchases from Discon to Discon’s competitor, AT&T Technologies, as part of an attempt to defraud local telephone service customers by hoodwinking regulators. According to Discon, Materiel Enterprises would pay AT&T Technologies more than Discon would have charged for similar removal services. It did so because it could pass the higher prices on to New York Telephone, which in turn could pass those prices on to telephone consumers in the form of higher regulatory-agency-approved telephone service charges. At the end of the year, Materiel Enterprises would receive a special rebate from AT&T Technologies, which Materiel Enterprises would share with its parent, NYNEX. Discon added that it refused to participate in this fraudulent scheme, with the result that Materiel Enterprises would not buy from Discon, and Discon went out of business. 

     
These allegations, the Second Circuit said, state a cause of action under §1 of the Sherman Act, though under a “different legal theory” from the one articulated by Discon. The Second Circuit conceded that ordinarily “the decision to discriminate in favor of one supplier over another will have a pro-competitive intent and effect.” But, it added, in this case, “no such pro-competitive rationale appears on the face of the complaint.” Rather, the complaint alleges Materiel Enterprises’ decision to buy from AT&T Technologies, rather than from Discon, was intended to be, and was, “anti-competitive.” Hence, “Discon has alleged a cause of action under, at least, the rule of reason, and possibly under the per se rule applied to group boycotts in Klor’s, if the restraint of trade ‘“has no purpose except stifling competition.” ’ ” (quoting Oreck Corp. v. Whirlpool Corp., 579 F.2d 126, 131 (CA2) (en banc) (in turn quoting White Motor Co. v. U.S., 372 U. S. 253, 263 (1963)). … 

     
The Second Circuit noted that the Courts of Appeals are uncertain as to whether, or when, the per se group boycott rule applies to a decision by a purchaser to favor one supplier over another (which the Second Circuit called a “two-firm group boycott”). We granted certiorari in order to consider the applicability of the per se group boycott rule where a single buyer favors one seller over another, albeit for an improper reason. 

II.  As this Court has made clear, the Sherman Act’s prohibition of “[e]very” agreement in “restraint of trade,” prohibits only agreements that unreasonably restrain trade. Yet certain kinds of agreements will so often prove so harmful to competition and so rarely prove justified that the antitrust laws do not require proof that an agreement of that kind is, in fact, anticompetitive in the particular circumstances. See Khan; Northwest Wholesale Stationers. An agreement of such a kind is unlawful per se. See, e.g. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co.; Dr. Miles Medical Co; Palmer. 

III.  The Court has found the per se rule applicable in certain group boycott cases. Thus, in Fashion Originators’ Guild of America, this Court considered a group boycott created by an agreement among a group of clothing designers, manufacturers, suppliers, and retailers. The defendant designers, manufacturers, and suppliers had promised not to sell their clothes to retailers who bought clothes from competing manufacturers and suppliers. The defendants wanted to present evidence that would show their agreement was justified because the boycotted competitors used “pira[ted]” fashion designs. But the Court wrote that “it was not error to refuse to hear the evidence offered”--evidence that the agreement was reasonable and necessary to “protect ... against the devastating evils” of design pirating—for that evidence “is no more material than would be the reasonableness of the prices fixed” by a price-fixing agreement. 


In Klor’s the Court also applied the per se rule. The Court considered a boycott created when a retail store, Broadway-Hale, and 10 household appliance manufacturers and their distributors agreed that the distributors would not sell, or would sell only at discriminatory prices, household appliances to Broadway-Hale’s small, nearby competitor, namely, Klor’s. The defendants had submitted undisputed evidence that their agreement hurt only one competitor (Klor’s) and that so many other nearby appliance-selling competitors remained that competition in the marketplace continued to thrive. The Court held that this evidence was beside the point. The conspiracy was “not to be tolerated merely because the victim is just one merchant.” The Court thereby inferred injury to the competitive process itself from the nature of the boycott agreement. And it forbade, as a matter of law, a defense based upon a claim that only one small firm, not competition itself, had suffered injury. 

     
The case before us involves Klor’s. The Second Circuit did not forbid the defendants to introduce evidence of “justification.” To the contrary, it invited the defendants to do so, for it said that the “per se rule” would apply only if no “pro-competitive justification” were to be found. Cf. 7 P. Areeda & H. Hovenkamp, Antitrust Law ¶1510, p. 416 (1986) (“Boycotts are said to be unlawful per se but justifications are routinely considered in defining the forbidden category”). Thus, the specific legal question before us is whether an antitrust court considering an agreement by a buyer to purchase goods or services from one supplier rather than another should (after examining the buyer’s reasons or justifications) apply the per se rule if it finds no legitimate business reason for that purchasing decision. We conclude no boycott-related per se rule applies and that the plaintiff here must allege and prove harm, not just to a single competitor, but to the competitive process, i.e., to competition itself. 

     
Our conclusion rests in large part upon precedent, for precedent limits the per se rule in the boycott context to cases involving horizontal agreements among direct competitors. The agreement in Fashion Originators’ Guild involved what may be called a group boycott in the strongest sense: A group of competitors threatened to withhold business from third parties unless those third parties would help them injure their directly competing rivals. Although Klor’s involved a threat made by a single powerful firm, it also involved a horizontal agreement among those threatened, namely, the appliance suppliers, to hurt a competitor of the retailer who made the threat. See Klor’s; see also P.Areeda & L. Kaplow, Antitrust Analysis: Problems, Text, and Cases 333 (5th ed. 1997) (defining paradigmatic boycott as “collective action among a group of competitors that may inhibit the competitive vitality of rivals”). This Court emphasized in Klor’s that the agreement at issue was 

not a case of a single trader refusing to deal with another, nor even of a manufacturer and a dealer agreeing to an exclusive distributorship. Alleged in this complaint is a wide combination consisting of manufacturers, distributors and a retailer. 

     
This Court subsequently pointed out specifically that Klor’s was a case involving not simply a “vertical” agreement between supplier and customer, but a case that also involved a “horizontal” agreement among competitors. See Business Electronics. And in doing so, the Court held that a “vertical restraint is not illegal per se unless it includes some agreement on price or price levels.” Id. This precedent makes the per se rule inapplicable, for the case before us concerns only a vertical agreement and a vertical restraint, a restraint that takes the form of depriving a supplier of a potential customer. 

     
Nor have we found any special feature of this case that could distinguish it from the precedent we have just discussed. We concede Discon’s claim that the petitioners’ behavior hurt consumers by raising telephone service rates. But that consumer injury naturally flowed not so much from a less competitive market for removal services, as from the exercise of market power that is lawfully in the hands of a monopolist, namely, New York Telephone, combined with a deception worked upon the regulatory agency that prevented the agency from controlling New York Telephone’s exercise of its monopoly power. 

     
To apply the per se rule here—where the buyer’s decision, though not made for competitive reasons, composes part of a regulatory fraud—would transform cases involving business behavior that is improper for various reasons, say, cases involving nepotism or personal pique, into treble-damages antitrust cases. And that per se rule would discourage firms from changing suppliers--even where the competitive process itself does not suffer harm. 

     
The freedom to switch suppliers lies close to the heart of the competitive process that the antitrust laws seek to encourage. Cf. Standard Oil, 221 U. S., at 62 (noting “the freedom of the individual right to contract when not unduly or improperly exercised [is] the most efficient means for the prevention of monopoly”). At the same time, other laws, for example, “unfair competition” laws, business tort laws, or regulatory laws, provide remedies for various “competitive practices thought to be offensive to proper standards of business morality.” 3 P. Areeda & H. Hovenkamp, Antitrust Law ¶651d, p.78 (1996). Thus, this Court has refused to apply per se reasoning in cases involving that kind of activity. See Brooke Group Ltd. v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 509 U. S. 209, 225 (1993) (“Even an act of pure malice by one business competitor against another does not, without more, state a claim under the federal antitrust laws”); 3 Areeda & Hovenkamp, supra, ¶651d, at 80 (“[I]n the presence of substantial market power, some kinds of tortious behavior could anticompetitively create or sustain a monopoly, [but] it is wrong categorically to condemn such practices ... or categorically to excuse them”). 

     
Discon points to another special feature of its complaint, namely, its claim that Materiel Enterprises hoped to drive Discon from the market lest Discon reveal its behavior to New York Telephone or to the relevant regulatory agency. That hope, says Discon, amounts to a special anticompetitive motive. 

     
We do not see how the presence of this special motive, however, could make a significant difference. That motive does not turn Materiel Enterprises’ actions into a “boycott” within the meaning of this Court’s precedents. Nor, for that matter, do we understand how Discon believes the motive affected Materiel Enterprises’ behavior. Why would Discon’s demise have made Discon’s employees less likely, rather than more likely, to report the overcharge/rebate scheme to telephone regulators? Regardless, a per se rule that would turn upon a showing that a defendant not only knew about but also hoped for a firm’s demise would create a legal distinction--between corporate knowledge and corporate motive—that does not necessarily correspond to behavioral differences and which would be difficult to prove, making the resolution of already complex antitrust cases yet more difficult. We cannot find a convincing reason why the presence of this special motive should lead to the application of the per se rule. 

     
Finally, we shall consider an argument that is related tangentially to Discon’s per se claims. The complaint alleges that New York Telephone (through Materiel Enterprises) was the largest buyer of removal services in New York State, and that only AT&T Technologies competed for New York Telephone’s business. One might ask whether these accompanying allegations are sufficient to warrant application of a Klor’s-type presumption of consequent harm to the competitive process itself. 

     
We believe that these allegations do not do so, for, as we have said, antitrust law does not permit the application of the per se rule in the boycott context in the absence of a horizontal agreement. (Though in other contexts, say, vertical price fixing, conduct may fall within the scope of a per se rule not at issue here. See, e.g., Dr. Miles Medical Co.) The complaint itself explains why any such presumption would be particularly inappropriate here, for it suggests the presence of other potential or actual competitors, which fact, in the circumstances, could argue against the likelihood of anticompetitive harm. The complaint says, for example, that New York Telephone itself was a potential competitor in that New York Telephone considered removing its equipment by itself, and in fact did perform a few jobs itself. The complaint also suggests that other nearby small local telephone companies needing removal services must have worked out some way to supply them. The complaint’s description of the removal business suggests that entry was easy, perhaps to the point where other firms, employing workers who knew how to remove a switch and sell it for scrap, might have entered that business almost at will. To that extent, the complaint suggests other actual or potential competitors might have provided roughly similar checks upon “equipment removal” prices and services with or without Discon. At the least, the complaint provides no sound basis for assuming the contrary. Its simple allegation of harm to Discon does not automatically show injury to competition. …


For these reasons, the judgment of the Court of Appeals is vacated, and the case is remanded for further proceedings consistent with this opinion. 

$   $   $   $   $   $   $
In re TOYS “R” US, INC.,

1998 FTC LEXIS 119 (October 13, 1998)

OPINION OF THE COMMISSION BY PITOFSKY, CHAIRMAN:  INTRODUCTION. … [T]his case is about how Toys “R” Us (“TRU”), the largest toy retailer in the United States, responded to a new type of competition in toy retailing posed by wholesale clubs (“clubs”)… .  Instead of meeting this new competition in the market place, TRU communicated with all the toy manufacturers that supplied both TRU and the clubs, and induced many suppliers to agree – with TRU and each other – either that they would not sell to the clubs at all, or more usually that they would sell on disadvantageous terms and conditions. TRU’s goal was to prevent consumers from comparing the price and quality of products in the clubs to the price and quality of the same toys displayed and sold at TRU, and thereby to reduce the effectiveness of the clubs as competitors.  We find that TRU’s conduct violates Section 5 of the FTC Act.  …

I.  DISCUSSION OF FACT.

   
A.  THE TOY INDUSTRY.  Hundreds of companies around the world make thousands of different toys. Overall concentration among toy manufacturers is low: the top ten firms in 1993 produced about half of the industry’s output. … [T]he total market share of … the top four manufacturers of traditional toys4 falls … between 34 and 45%.

 
B.  TOY RETAILING.  … TRU operates about 650 United States stores and roughly 300 stores in other countries. Recently, Wal-Mart and other … large discounters that stock an extremely broad array of products have challenged older discount chains like TRU by offering lower prices across their many lines of products, including toys, through efficient purchasing, distribution and in-store operations.  

   
TRU offers an assortment of about 11,000 individual toy items throughout the year. No other toy retailer carries as many toys. TRU stores are typically … similar in size to a large food supermarket, and are located primarily in the suburbs outside major metropolitan areas. TRU rose to its current position as the largest toy retailer in the United States in part by offering a larger selection of toys than any other retailer at the lowest prices. ...  TRU was [originally] able to distinguish itself from other toy outlets through lower prices and wider selection. Today, TRU still strives to offer competitive prices, but it is TRU’s broad range of toys that gives it a distinct competitive advantage.  

   
1.  TRU is a very large buyer and seller of toys in the United States and the world.  … TRU buys about 30% or more of the large, traditional toy companies’ total output, and is usually their most important customer.10 … [T]oy manufacturers would have great difficulty replacing TRU. … Even the very largest traditional toy manufacturers…, felt a regrettable but growing dependence on TRU. ... A Hasbro executive testified that Hasbro could not find other retailers to replace TRU.  Mattel’s CEO explained that “[TRU] is 30% of our business, so that would be a very big number to put into other accounts that are already committed to what they [feel] is correct.” …

   
2.  Retail prices of toys vary widely in different retail channels.  … Department stores and other “traditional” toy stores sell toys for about 40% to 50% above their cost. TRU’s average margins are close to 30% above cost, but there is significant variation across the range of products sold. ... The clubs sell at mark-ups as low as 9% … and as high as 14%… . As a group, the clubs sell product at average gross margins – the difference between the cost of merchandise and its selling price – of between 9 and 12%. 

   
Wal-Mart is generally acknowledged as the price leader among discount retailers of toys. Wal-Mart carries an inventory of between 3,000 to 4,000 toys … and … Wal-Mart and similar discounters tend to carry the newer and more popular toy products. ... 

   
Although TRU’s general price structure is consistent across the country, TRU varies the prices charged for some toy products to meet local competition. … In adjusting regional prices, TRU considers the strength and the number of the national discounters, such as Target, K-Mart and Wal-Mart, that are in the area as well as regional discounters…. The greater the level of competition, the lower the advertised price…. 

   
TRU has continued to profit from its own unique strength of being a full-line toy discounter by charging greater retail mark-ups for its broad line of moderately popular products. Other specialized toy outlets were not able to profit from this strategy as effectively as TRU. Lionel Leisure and Child World, two toy discounters similar to TRU, went bankrupt in the early 90’s, at which point TRU’s principal remaining competition became Wal-Mart, Target, K-Mart, and other general merchandise discounters.   

 
C.  THE WAREHOUSE CLUBS.  Warehouse clubs are a recent retail innovation. … By 1992 the warehouse club chains … operated about 600 individual club stores. … In June of 1992, TRU estimated that 238 of its 497 then-existing stores in the United States were within five miles of a club. Clubs, moreover, were within or near the [newspaper advertising area] of almost all of TRU’s 1992 stores – 486 of 497. This is not surprising since … the circulation area of local newspapers [is] often significantly larger than five miles. In other words, if TRU lowered its prices on newspaper-advertised toys [in stores in the newspapers’ advertising ranges] to meet club prices, then 97.8% of TRU’s stores would have been affected… . 

   
… The clubs sell only to members, who pay an annual fee of about $30 for the opportunity to shop at the club. Clubs target consumers who want to buy merchandise at low prices but are willing to forgo plentiful sales staff or other services.  Clubs offer the lowest prices of any retail store … by reducing operating costs and increasing the rate of inventory turnover. ...  

As the clubs attracted more individual customers, they began to carry a wider variety of products and compete with a larger range of retail outlets. … The clubs seek to offer name-brand merchandise. As one warehouse club executive put it, “generally speaking, by selling a branded product at a great price, that equals the best value.” Clubs also utilize an inventory strategy whereby the mix of non-food products changes regularly. This creates a “treasure hunt” atmosphere, meaning that customers can visit the same store often and always search out new bargain products. The BJ’s club, for example, stocked between 50 and 150 toy items at any time, but over a full year carried 300 different toy items. Costco carried 100 toy items at Christmas and as few as 15 at other times, but still offered its customers a total of 400 different toys over the whole year.   

 
D.  TOY SALES AT THE CLUBS. … During the late 1980s and early 1990s, warehouse clubs could select and purchase from the toy manufacturers’ full array of products. Clubs bought both the ordinary merchandise that was sold to all classes of retailers and customized products that were specially designed for the club class of trade. [They] sometimes worked with toy manufacturers to develop certain specially-packaged products…. For example, warehouse clubs purchased combination (or “combo”) packs containing multiple inexpensive toys, such as Matchbox or Hot Wheels cars ...  .

   
… [H]owever, … clubs did not always, or even usually, prefer combo packs. Costco’s toy buyer testified that regular products were generally preferable to combo packs because combo packs could make it difficult for consumers to compare the club’s offerings to those sold by other retailers. The buyer for BJ’s, the warehouse club with the most extensive toy selection, testified that … combo packs … could be perceived as designed to force the customer to buy a second unwanted product in order to obtain the one the customer’s child wanted. Pace’s toy buyer also felt that combo packs needed to contain obvious, extra value to generate demand among club shoppers. … 

   
Like all large retailers, clubs attempted to purchase toy items that they believed would sell well. … [H]owever, the clubs did not carry primarily best-sellers, even before TRU implemented its policy. Of the 310 toy products sold by clubs in 1991, only 11% were among the top 100 selling products and only 27% were among the top 500. … [I]n deciding whether products [were] likely to sell well, club toy buyers relied on their own assessments of a product[ ], [rather than on] other retailers’ advertising plans or sales experience, since information on such matters, if available to them at all, was not available at the time they made their own purchasing decisions. …


E.  TRU’s CLUB POLICY.  By 1989, TRU senior executives were concerned that the clubs presented a threat to TRU’s low-price image and its profits. ... TRU had already lowered the prices of … popular items to meet Wal-Mart’s challenge, but the clubs’ marketing strategies threatened to bring prices even lower. … In 1989, TRU executives … began to formulate a response to club competition. ... 


In 1989 and 1990, TRU began to discuss clubs with some of its suppliers, including Mattel, Hasbro, and Fisher Price. TRU made various general representations about not buying from manufacturers that sold to clubs. TRU first attempted to set forth a written policy regarding the clubs in about late 1990. The initial plan called for suppliers to treat the clubs and TRU differently for many different product categories (for example, video game accessories were only to be sold to clubs in packs of three or more items, batteries in packs of 24 or more, and candy in packs three to four times greater than weights TRU sells). This was quickly abandoned as too complicated. ...  

   
Thereafter, TRU renewed negotiations with its suppliers. Prior to and [during] February 1992, TRU informed manufacturers of a new club policy [laid out] in a document, dated January 29, 1992, which provides:  

 * No new or promoted product unless entire line is carried.  

 * All specials and exclusives to be sold to the clubs should be shown first to TRU to see if TRU wants the item.  

 * Old and basic product should be in special packs.  

 * Clearance/Closeouts are OK providing (sic) TRU is given first opportunity to buy this product.  

 * No discussion about prices.

TRU met with each supplier to explain and discuss this policy. After asserting its club policy, TRU asked each manufacturer individually what it intended to do. As a result of these discussions, TRU realized this second iteration of its club policy also would prove difficult to enforce because, among other reasons, there was confusion about what constituted “a new or promoted product.” ...

 
A prolonged and extensive period of negotiations between TRU and the toy manufacturers … followed.  …  [E]ventually … each manufacturer agreed with TRU that it would sell to the clubs only highly-differentiated products (either unique, individual items or “combo” packages of two or more toys) that were not offered to any other outlet including, of course, TRU. The details often varied … but the core of the arrangement was consistent. The right to review club products described in [the] written policy (“specials and exclusives to be sold to the clubs should first be offered to TRU”) continued to apply.  …

 
F.  EVIDENCE OF VERTICAL AGREEMENT.  There is direct evidence that TRU reached agreements with at least ten toy manufacturers.  By the end of 1993, all of the big, traditional toy companies were selling to the clubs only on discriminatory terms that did not apply to any other class of retailers. … After the agreements were reached, TRU supervised and enforced each toy company’s compliance with its commitment.  …

   

1.  TRU sought and received initial verbal commitments from its suppliers.  TRU met individually with each of its suppliers to explain its policy. It did not simply state that policy, but asked the suppliers for express assurances that the supplier understood the proposal and agreed to go along. ...  



2.  TRU previewed and cleared or rejected the special products offered to the clubs.    After committing to TRU’s policy, the toy companies, as TRU had asked them to do, presented examples of their specially-developed “club products” for TRU’s preview and clearance before offering them to the clubs. On other occasions, TRU and its suppliers negotiated over the appearance of club packages. … TRU wanted the special products to be sufficiently differentiated from those it sold to “avoid the customer being able to make direct pricing comparison[s].” … In all, TRU either preapproved special club products, or otherwise negotiated over what was acceptable content and packaging for club products with [eight different] suppliers…. 

   

3.  TRU negotiated with the toy companies and reached new points of agreement. TRU also engaged in extended negotiations to gain compliance with the club policy from reluctant toy manufacturers. … For example, … Little Tikes’ parent company, Rubbermaid, wanted Little Tikes to continue club sales, creating a conflict with TRU. Little Tikes asked TRU for help in negotiating with Rubbermaid, and, in April 1993, TRU and Little Tikes met with Rubbermaid’s CEO to “resolve the warehouse club issue.” The two companies agreed that Little Tikes would sell only custom product and near-discontinued toys to the clubs. ...  

   

4.  Documents and testimony used promissory language.   Many documents refer to “agreements” between the toy companies and TRU, or use other promissory language to describe their relationship.  … While loose language in business documents is not necessarily the equivalent of an agreement, the consistent reference to such words of agreement, promise and commitment shows how far removed this policy was from a unilateral statement by TRU of its policy. 

   
There is, in short, an abundance of evidence of promises, negotiations, compromises, and cooperative conduct with respect to the development, adoption, and enforcement of the club policy. 

 
G.  EVIDENCE OF HORIZONTAL AGREEMENT.  TRU worked for over a year and surmounted many obstacles to convince the large toy manufacturers to discriminate against the clubs by selling to them on less favorable terms and conditions. The biggest hindrance TRU had to overcome was the major toy companies’ reluctance to give up a new, fast-growing, and profitable channel of distribution, and their concern that any of their rivals who sold to the clubs might gain sales at their expense. TRU’s solution was to build a horizontal understanding – essentially an agreement to boycott the clubs – among its key suppliers. … [A]t a minimum, [seven toy manufacturers] agreed to join in the boycott on the condition that their competitors would do the same. Several were particularly concerned about their closest competitors; all were concerned about the behavior of competitors generally. With the cooperation of the toy manufacturers, TRU also monitored and policed the horizontal agreement after it was in place.  

   
When TRU raised its club policy with the toy companies in late 1991 and 1992 the policy met with resistance. ...  The toy companies were afraid of yielding a potentially important new channel of distribution to their competitors. … [N]o retail channel other than the clubs offered similar opportunities for rapid growth... . [T]oy suppliers … saw the clubs as a new outlet of potentially great importance. When TRU introduced its club policy, the toy industry was looking to expand – not restrict – the number of major retail toy outlets. … [T]oy companies were worried about the increasing concentration among toy retailers and sought alternatives to reverse the trend towards concentration. …

   
The club policy that TRU wanted … ran squarely against the independent business strategies of its suppliers. … [A] uniform, joint reaction to TRU’s policy was a necessary element of each manufacturer’s decision to restrict sales to the clubs.  Each was simply unwilling to go forward with the proposed policy alone. Indeed, … it was “frustrating to [TRU] that [its suppliers] would always talk about ... their competition” and resisted making “a decision on their own independent of what their competition did.”

   

1.  TRU built a horizontal agreement among its suppliers to overcome their reluctance. Toy manufacturers were unwilling to limit sales to the clubs without assurances their competitors would do the same. Discrimination against the clubs simply would not happen without that additional element of horizontal coordination. … TRU assured the manufacturers that its policy would be applied equally to each of them, and told many of the major manufacturers that their closest competitors were only selling to the clubs because they were too. This alleviated the manufacturers’ concern about losing market share to a competitor that sold to the clubs. … TRU, during its meetings and conversations with the manufacturers, communicated the message “I’ll stop if they stop” from manufacturer to competing manufacturer. ... TRU engaged in these conversations with all the key toy manufacturing firms. ... 

   

2.  After the initial boycott agreement was in place, TRU organized a related agreement to enforce the boycott.  ... The horizontal agreement not only allowed TRU to overcome its suppliers’ reluctance to restrict sales to the clubs, but TRU turned their apprehensions to its own advantage. … [F]or fear of reprisals from TRU, the toy companies did not want to be caught selling to the clubs when their competitors were abstaining. TRU requested and then passed complaints about breaches of the boycott agreement from one supplier to another when regular product was found in the clubs. ... TRU would speak to the offending firm and even assure the complainant that the offending firm would be brought into line. ... The toy companies participated in this exchange of complaints, which was frequent and continued over lengthy periods, effectively making their competitors’ compliance a part of their agreements with TRU. ... 

H.  EFFECT OF THE “NO-IDENTICAL-ITEMS” POLICY.  … The no-identical products policy met TRU’s goals. TRU wanted to ... prevent consumers from making direct price comparisons between products sold by TRU and products sold by the clubs. ...  TRU approved of the sale of special packs to the clubs because special packs make it difficult for customers to compare the prices at different retail outlets. ....  Most special packs were less popular with customers than individually packaged items. … The policy also raised the average prices of toys available at the clubs, even when consumers saw no improvement in value. … 

   
The boycott hobbled individual clubs’ toy business. Costco’s experience is illustrative. While its overall growth on sales of all products during the period 1991 to 1993 was 25%, Costco’s toy sales increased during the same period by 51%. But, after the boycott took hold in 1993, Costco’s toy sales decreased by 1.6% despite total sales growth of 19.5%. While there is no assurance that Costco’s toy business would have continued to grow at an annual rate of 25% or more, TRU’s policy clearly took the wind out of Costco’s sails. ...  The reversal of the clubs’ success as toy retailers can also be seen by examining toy manufacturers’ sales to the clubs. ... [E.g.,]Mattel’s sales to all clubs, which grew at about 50% annually in both 1989 and 1990, dropped from over $23 million in 1991 to $7.5 million in 1993. ... 

   
Most significantly, competition would have driven TRU to lower its prices had TRU not taken action to stifle the competitive threat posed by the clubs.34 In turn, if TRU lowered its prices, other retailers would have been forced to do so as well. … The ALJ … found that, because clubs carry many less popular items at prices substantially lower than TRU’s, TRU would have lowered prices for toys beyond the top 100 to 250 best-selling items to protect its price image. ...  

II.  DISCUSSION OF LAW. …   

 
A.  TRU ENTERED UNLAWFUL VERTICAL AGREEMENTS WITH AT LEAST TEN TOY MANUFACTURERS.  TRU entered vertical agreements with at least ten toy companies, including all of the large, traditional toy manufacturers, not to deal with clubs except on discriminatory terms that limited the clubs’ ability to compete.  

   
Contrary to TRU’s assertions, the [Colgate] doctrine…, does not protect TRU’s conduct. … TRU’s goal was to work out arrangements whereby the toy manufacturers would sell to the clubs only on discriminatory terms, thereby diminishing the clubs’ ability to compete effectively with TRU. Colgate would protect this policy, if it had been confined to an announcement, followed by firms making independent business decisions. But that is not what occurred. First, TRU asked toy companies for an express response – yea or nay – after it told them of its policy; second, it engaged in extended negotiations with companies that were reluctant to adopt the restraint, and worked out agreed-upon compromise solutions; third, it asked to, and in fact did, preview and clear products developed for the clubs to assure that they were sufficiently differentiated from its own; fourth, on at least one occasion, a supplier agreed to split the cost of a discount that TRU offered after a toy company breached the policy by selling a product to a club, and TRU elected to meet the club’s lower price; fifth, on other occasions, TRU invited toy manufacturers to police compliance by competitors and, when toy companies complained about competitors’ sales to the clubs, TRU called meetings with the firms violating the agreement to demand again that they cease club sales. … [T]he systematic give-and-take of negotiations between TRU and the various manufacturers went well beyond the simple announcement of a policy followed by terminations if that policy was not followed.  … 

   
The parties constantly described their arrangements as “agreements,” “promises,” [and] “understandings” …, all indicating a conscious commitment to a common plan or scheme.  …  In this case, there is no question that complaint counsel presented evidence tending to exclude the possibility of independent action under the standard of Monsanto.  

   
In Monsanto, the Court found “substantial direct evidence of [an unlawful agreement] to maintain prices” where Monsanto advised a discounting dealer other than the one terminated that it would not receive adequate supplies if it continued discounting; Monsanto, frustrated by the dealer’s continued discounting, complained to the dealer’s parent company, which then instructed its subsidiary to comply; and the dealer later informed Monsanto that it would comply. 

   
The record here contains similar evidence (and more) of agreement. TRU asked its suppliers to comply with its policy, and they responded with commitments; most agreed on the understanding that all would do the same; and when some did not do as they had promised, TRU engaged in often-protracted negotiations with the “non-complying” manufacturer. Indeed, the presentation of … products to TRU to determine whether they were acceptable to TRU, and the subsequent offer of products to the clubs only [when] acceptable to TRU, went well beyond any evidence … in Monsanto. Finally, in the case of Little Tikes, TRU employed exactly the same tactic as did Monsanto – it complained to Rubbermaid, Little Tikes’ parent company. As in Monsanto, Little Tikes, instructed by its parent to comply, told TRU that it would do so.  … 

   
U.S. v. Parke, Davis & Co., 362 U.S. 29 (1960), examined and held illegal a pattern of conduct analogous to that engaged in by TRU. Parke, Davis, a pharmaceutical company, sought an agreement from retail druggists to maintain prices and, when retailers resisted, modified its requirement and sought a discontinuance of price advertising. Parke, Davis negotiated first with one and then other retailers, obtained assurances that price advertising would be discontinued, and eventually brought all retailers into line. The Supreme Court explained that a manufacturer that actively negotiates with its distributors in this manner goes “far ... beyond the limits of the Colgate doctrine.” Except … that the instant case involves a retailer seeking assurances from its suppliers (rather than the other way around), this precedent squarely covers the precise conduct at issue here.  …

 
B.  TRU ORGANIZED A HORIZONTAL AGREEMENT AMONG THE TOY MANUFACTURERS.  … Despite TRU’s considerable market power, key toy manufacturers were unwilling to refuse to sell to or discriminate against the clubs unless they were assured that their competitors would do the same. To overcome that resistance, TRU gave initial assurances that rival toy manufacturers would commit to comparable sales programs; TRU representatives then … shuttl[ed] commitments back and forth between toy manufacturers and help[ed] to hammer out points of shared understanding; toy manufacturers’ commitments were carefully conditioned on comparable behavior by rivals; and, after the discriminatory program was in place, TRU and the toy manufacturers worked out a program to detect, bring back into line, and sometimes discipline, manufacturers that sold to the clubs.  …

   

1.  The ALJ’s finding of horizontal agreement finds strong support in Parke, Davis [and] Interstate Circuit… 

   


a.  Parke, Davis.  In Parke, Davis, the government challenged vertical price fixing agreements between Parke, Davis and several drug stores. In its discussion of just how far Parke, Davis had strayed beyond the unilateral conduct permitted by Colgate, the Court described an agreement that Parke, Davis had orchestrated among its retailers:  

First [Parke, Davis] discussed the subject with Dart Drug. When Dart indicated willingness to go along the other retailers were approached and Dart’s apparent willingness to cooperate was used as the lever to gain their acquiescence in the program. Having secured those acquiescences Parke Davis returned to Dart Drug with the report of that accomplishment. Not until all this was done was the advertising suspended and sales to all the retailers resumed. In this manner Parke Davis sought assurances of compliance and got them, as well as the compliance itself. It was only by actively bringing about substantial unanimity among the competitors that Parke Davis was able to gain adherence to its policy.  

… As the Court indicated, if Parke, Davis’ distributors had met and each said that it would stop advertising prices if the others did so as well, there would be no doubt that a horizontal agreement had been reached. It is equally true that if the toy manufacturers had met and collectively committed that they would not sell, or sell only on discriminatory terms, to a class of customers such as the clubs, the law would recognize this as an agreement. Thus, when TRU engaged in “shuttle diplomacy” and brokered both agreement and compliance, it achieved the same objective.  … The manufacturers did not have to meet to hammer out a horizontal agreement. Their conscious commitment was extracted and then communicated each to each by TRU.  

   
TRU was not content to rely on its suppliers’ assessment of their individual business interests when it asked them to adopt restrictions on distribution through the clubs. Just as Parke, Davis used Dart’s willingness “as a lever to gain [its competitors’] acquiescence in the program,” TRU used Mattel’s promise – itself “based on the fact that the competition would do the same” – to gain a commitment from Hasbro and then others. There is similar evidence of express, interdependent commitments among at least seven major toy manufacturers. Their subsequent decisions to enter the proposed boycott were made despite the fact that it might have been a competitively foolish thing to do as an individual matter, or that others might gain if it was – or proved to be – a mistake. As in Parke, Davis, the boycott was presented to TRU’s suppliers in “competition-free wrapping.” Due to this, the agreement ultimately obtained was in all likelihood different from, and more stable than, any agreements TRU would have obtained had it negotiated separately with each supplier, and had each not requested and received assurances about the behavior of its rivals. TRU would not have gone to the trouble of conducting these negotiations and working out the horizontal agreements if it believed it could have enforced its will without them.  

   


b. Interstate Circuit.  … Interstate Circuit …  supports our analysis here. Interstate Circuit [,a film exhibitor,] wrote identical letters to eight competing film distributors, naming all the distributors as addressees in each letter. As a condition for the exhibition of movies in its first-run theaters at an evening price of at least 40 cents, Interstate Circuit asked the distributors to impose two restrictions in their contracts for the exhibition of such films: 

(1) subsequent-run evening exhibitions of “A” movies must be at an admission price of at least 25 cents, and 

(2) first-run, evening exhibitions of “A” movies may not be part of a double feature. 

There was no evidence of direct communication among the distributors, but each met separately with representatives of Interstate Circuit to discuss the demands made in its letter. Each distributor eventually acceded to Interstate Circuit’s request, except that each declined to adopt the restrictions in Austin, Galveston and the Rio Grande Valley. No witnesses from the distributor defendants testified to offer explanations as to why these “far-reaching changes” were introduced with such uniformity. …   


The Court in Interstate Circuit discussed a host of factors before concluding that, viewed in context, the evidence supported the district court’s finding that the national film distributors had entered into agreement with one another. By its letter, Interstate Circuit literally addressed its invitation to all of the film distributors. Each knew that the others were asked to make the same choice. Their later course of conduct was a dramatic change that was not only far-reaching and complex, but also difficult and costly to undo because prices were set at 25 cents by contracts lasting for a year or more. This change lacked any convincing explanation or business justification because the high-level officials, who would have been in a position to explain the distributors’ actions, did not testify to explain the reasons for their companies’ change of course. Finally, the distributors’ decisions to accede to Interstate Circuit’s requests were “interdependent” in nature, that is they made economic sense only if each had reason to believe the others would go along. Thus, … “each was aware . . . that without substantially unanimous action with respect to the restrictions ... there was risk of a substantial loss of the business and good will... .” Together these facts and circumstances suggested to the Court that – more likely than not – the movie distributors responded to Interstate Circuit’s request in a concerted fashion. Subsequent cases … have emphasized that interdependence is crucial if an antitrust agreement is to be inferred from circumstantial evidence.  

   
A similar, and in some respects stronger, set of facts is present here, and the same inference of conspiracy is appropriate. As in Interstate Circuit, there was an invitation clearly addressed to all of the participants in the proposed conspiracy. ...  Each therefore knew that the others were asked to make a similar decision.  

The changed conduct that followed here, like that in Interstate Circuit, was far-reaching, complex, and, by its nature, costly to implement. … Toy manufacturers began to produce customized lines of product for sale to the clubs, even though doing so imposed extra costs on the manufacturers with no perceived benefit to their club customers. … By early 1993, toy manufacturers had adopted policies of discriminating against the clubs, policies that manufacturers vowed to follow indefinitely. This was an unusual and controversial measure in an industry that had no history of imposing such formalized restraints on toy manufacturers’ business discretion. 

   
These far-reaching and expensive changes are made more suspicious by their lack of convincing explanation or justification. Changes in business strategy do not generally need to be explained or justified. But when the pattern of evidence – as here – strongly suggests that the change was likely the result of some kind of agreement, the trier of fact may properly ask why a party acted as it did. The inability to offer a plausible explanation creates another reason to think that the change in fact resulted from an agreement. … Here, TRU and some toy company executives testified about “free-rider” problems… .  As we discuss in detail below, the free-rider explanation for discrimination against the clubs is simply a pretext. …

   
[T]he parallel behavior of the national movie distributors … was highly suspicious. The Court naturally questioned how a simple request for terms of sale across Texas could have been converted into a common policy everywhere but Austin, Galveston, and the Rio Grande Valley without the movie distributors discussing the matter among themselves or through Interstate Circuit. ... It is difficult to imagine th[e] course of events [at issue here] taking place without direct communications among the toy manufacturers or indirect communications through TRU. But in this case, it is not necessary to draw an inference of conspiracy from entirely circumstantial evidence, because there is testimony, which is supported by significant documentary evidence, that these communications did occur and that TRU in fact acted as the “hub” in a conspiracy to disadvantage the clubs by inducing all the key suppliers of toys to adopt parallel restrictions on club sales.  

   
Finally, just as the facts and broader context of Interstate Circuit indicated that the decision to adopt Interstate Circuit’s suggestions was interdependent – i.e., that uniformity was necessary for all to profit – there is likewise every reason to think that the boycott here was the result of such interdependence. Recent cases have reaffirmed the requirement of interdependence for any finding of antitrust agreement particularly when based on circumstantial evidence. See, e.g., Matsushita… . 


The success of the club boycott similarly depended on having a substantial and significant number of participants. If only one company – or even several companies collectively selling a small share of all toys – had joined, the boycott would not have worked. Instead, the toy manufacturers that agreed to the boycott would have lost sales, while their rivals that continued to sell all of their products to the clubs would have gained this business to their own benefit. This risk attended any toy company that decided unilaterally to cut off the clubs. And for this reason, they all clearly told TRU that they were unwilling to make a decision on their own.  … TRU’s own executives … explained that the toy manufacturers were simply unwilling to comply with TRU’s demand unless they were confident that competitors would do the same. 

   
In two respects, proof of agreement here is even stronger than Interstate Circuit. First, we have clear evidence that TRU engaged in a kind of commercial “shuttle diplomacy” – communicating back and forth among toy suppliers the message “they’ll stop if you’ll stop” – that was only probable in Interstate Circuit. … Second, the record here contains clear statements that the “club policy” was squarely contrary to the independently determined business interests of the toy manufacturers. The toy companies were keenly interested in expanding their club sales in part to reduce reliance on TRU. Action against unilateral interest suggests agreement even more strongly than actions that are simply unexplained or curious.  …



4.  TRU’s arguments against finding a horizontal agreement are without merit. … TRU [argues] that it was entitled to demand that each of its suppliers discriminate against the clubs to prevent their free-riding – or even simply to retain TRU’s business – and those toy manufacturers that did discriminate would not necessarily have entered into a horizontal agreement. Thus, TRU posits that each could have independently decided to discriminate for its own business reasons, in which case the conduct would be protected by Matsushita …. 

   
Even if we accept the validity of that contention for the sake of argument, that is not what happened here. There is evidence that at least seven toy manufacturers did not act independently. According to TRU’s own witnesses, the manufacturers uniformly resisted TRU’s ultimatum until each could be assured that rivals would behave in the same way. … It was only after assurances were exchanged that the toy manufacturers, overcoming their natural inclination to sell through all potential outlets, became willing to discriminate against the clubs. At that point, a “conscious commitment to a common scheme” was perfected, and a uniform, clearly interdependent, course of conduct came into being. Monsanto; see also Parke, Davis; Interstate Circuit.  

   
Several of TRU’s other arguments are similarly based on theories that are inconsistent with the record. First, TRU claims that this analysis “ignore[s] the choice posed by TRU.”  TRU argues that the allegation of horizontal conspiracy is “based on the fallacy that toy manufacturers were able to enjoy unrestrained sales of their product to both [TRU] and the warehouse clubs.” It further argues that when the toy companies were forced to make a choice, it was “entirely logical” to pick TRU. TRU was the most important customer, and the clubs were comparatively small fish. A manufacturer might even hope that its competitors would forgo TRU in favor of the clubs, thereby leaving more TRU shelf space for itself. 

   
As is clear from our discussion, TRU’s speculations run against the weight of the evidence. Mattel, Hasbro, and other key suppliers initially were not sure whether TRU would be able to “force” them to chose between it and the clubs. TRU’s announcement of its new policy began a period of aggressive and sustained negotiations, the results of which were uncertain. TRU enjoyed significant bargaining power, but Mattel also knew that TRU would be reluctant to refuse to stock popular Mattel products. ... Had TRU not resorted to the organization of a horizontal boycott agreement (as it immediately perceived the need to do), the club policy very well may have failed.  … 

   
TRU argues that … Monsanto and Sharp protect[ ] the communications at issue here from serving as a basis for a finding of agreement. … If TRU merely had complained to the toy companies about the clubs’ low prices – thereby drawing their attention to a threat (perceived by TRU) to the toy distribution system – these complaints would have been similar to those in Sharp and Monsanto. Even if TRU only told each of its suppliers that it also was complaining to the others, it would be more difficult to infer that their later adoption of a restrictive policy was concerted. But TRU … told each of its suppliers what their rivals (not its own as in Sharp or Monsanto) were doing, suggested they do the same and, on that basis, extracted mutual commitments from many of them.  

   
The toy suppliers committed to TRU’s policy … only after they were assured others would do the same. There is, therefore, no reason to think the toy suppliers were using information gathered by TRU to evaluate their distribution practices in view of their own best interest. We do not think the Supreme Court’s solicitude for communications up and down the supply chain of a manufacturer … can be stretched to cover negotiations between interbrand competitors conducted by their shared distributor for the purpose of obtaining a horizontal agreement among them. … 

   
TRU also argues that the finding of horizontal agreement is improper because substantial unanimity was never achieved. While … not all of the many hundreds of toy companies adopted TRU’s policy, and … the compliance of some firms that did agree occasionally wavered, we do not think that this defeats the evidence of agreement. Ten of the largest … toy makers all adopted essentially the same policy, and most substantially complied with that policy from approximately early 1993. … [T]hat the agreement was in some instances unstable does not undermine the existence of the agreement, but rather is likely an indication that the agreement was against the individual business interests of the toy suppliers, tempting some of them to cheat until caught and disciplined.  … 

In conclusion, none of TRU’s objections dissuades us from our conclusion that, in addition to entering vertical agreements with ten or more toy companies, TRU also organized a horizontal agreement among at least seven key toy manufacturers. …

 
C.  THE AGREEMENTS COULD BE CONSIDERED PER SE ILLEGAL UNDER THE KLOR’S RULE.  In Klor’s, … an independent appliance distributor… successfully pled a per se violation of §1 when it alleged that a rival distributor enlisted several suppliers to boycott [it]. … This case presents Klor’s, not on the pleadings but rather after the development of an unusually complete record. The ALJ found that, like [the defendant in Klor’s], TRU entered vertical agreements with each of its key suppliers to disadvantage its rivals, the clubs. He further found that TRU organized a horizontal agreement among key suppliers to the same purpose and effect – to disadvantage the clubs. Under … Klor’s …, TRU’s conduct would be per se illegal.  

   
If Klor’s is still good law – it is after all a Supreme Court decision that has never been overruled and indeed has been cited with approval in many subsequent decisions – it would be dispositive and our analysis would be complete. Nevertheless, we elect not to rely exclusively, or even primarily, on the Klor’s per se rule.  

   
We are reluctant to apply the Klor’s per se rule for several reasons. First, the Supreme Court has made it clear that it will not apply per se rules mechanically. When there is adequate reason, per se rules have been bypassed with respect to price fixing, and boycotts, and have been eased and clarified in connection with tie-in sales. Some lower courts have speculated that the Supreme Court would not reaffirm a broad interpretation of Klor’s today. Also the Supreme Court has recognized that manufacturers can terminate dealers and restrict channels of distribution in order to diminish the adverse impact of “free-riding”– a theory that was little known when the Supreme Court [decided] Klor’s…. Finally, in Northwest Wholesale Stationers, a boycott case decided 26 years after Klor’s, the Supreme Court observed that the question of which types of “group boycotts” merit per se treatment is “far from certain” and that “care” is necessary in defining the category of concerted refusals to deal that mandate per se condemnation. … 


D.  “GROUP BOYCOTTS” THAT MERIT SUMMARY CONDEMNATION: THE NORTHWEST WHOLESALE STATIONERS APPROACH.  The Court in Northwest Wholesale Stationers looked to Klor’s and other cases to provide guidance as to which collective refusals to deal constitute per se unlawful group boycotts, and found that they generally displayed four common factors. … We consider each of these factors in turn…. 

   

1.  Intent: Purpose of disadvantaging competitors. The primary (if not the only) purpose of the agreements that TRU obtained with and between its suppliers was to disadvantage a group of new entrants in the toy retailing market. Those new entrants – the warehouse clubs – were obviously competitors of TRU and thus in a “horizontal” economic relationship to it. The agreed-upon practices reduced direct price competition between the clubs and all other toy outlets, including TRU. The toy manufacturers committed to TRU to sell only highly differentiated products to the clubs, which in turn would usually be resold by the clubs at retail prices higher than the closest comparable toy at TRU. … Customized products also tended to raise the cost of toys to the clubs and the prices of toys to consumers who bought toys at the clubs. This too redounded to the benefit of TRU (and other traditional discounters), which no longer had to worry that their reputation as “the” or “a” low-price toy retailer might be eroded. …

   

2.  Market dominance.  … TRU [has] market power as a purchaser and seller of toys. As in all market power assessments, it is necessary to look not just at market share statistics, but at the industry characteristics that give those statistics meaning. In this light, the following discussion considers TRU’s market position, first as a buyer, and then as a seller, of toys.  

   
To measure market power, it is necessary to define relevant product and geographic markets and then to look at barriers to entry. There seems little room for dispute on this record that the relevant geographic market in which TRU buys (i.e., competition among toy manufacturers for the business of toy retailers) is national, and the relevant geographic markets in which TRU’s sells (i.e., competition for the business of individual consumers) are local. ...  The record supports the conclusion that the relevant product market is all traditional toys. …

   
Barriers to entry into toy manufacturing are moderate, although there does appear to be a trend toward concentration among the makers of the most well-known branded toys. Brand name recognition, existing manufacturing facilities, and economies of scale mean that, while many entrepreneurs can and do introduce a single successful toy, none is able to enter the market on the same scale … as Mattel or Hasbro. ... 

   


a.  TRU’s dominance as a buyer and seller of toys.   TRU’s market share is extraordinarily high for a retailer and, due to several other distinctive factors discussed below, this large percentage share understates TRU’s actual market power. While not a monopolist or a monopsonist, TRU enjoys a dominant position in buying and selling toys.  …  TRU is the largest retail buyer of toys in the United States and in the world. At the time it … induc[ed] toy manufacturers to discriminate against the clubs, it purchased about 20% of toys sold at wholesale in the United States. ...  

   
TRU’s extraordinarily high market shares for the retail sector in fact understate its true dominance as a purchaser and seller of toys for a number of reasons. First, TRU purchases such a great share of all toys and of each toy manufacturer’s output that no other retailer could make up for lost sales volume should TRU decide to terminate its relationship with the supplier. Second, TRU maintains a uniquely broad inventory. No other discount retailer carries nearly as many toys. For many toy manufacturers, TRU is the only large buyer of some of their older or low volume toy products. These toys significantly affect the manufacturer’s overall profitability. Third, TRU, which operates 300 stores in 20 countries outside the United States, is by far the largest United States toy retailer operating in overseas markets. This is an important ingredient in TRU’s influence over manufacturers. ... Fourth, without TRU’s support, many toy manufacturers will not pay for an effective marketing campaign, because the manufacturers believe they cannot attain the necessary volume of sales if products are not sold at TRU.61
   
Last, and of great importance in explaining why TRU was so successful in organizing its boycott, is that TRU, as a very large multi-brand retailer, has the ability to amplify its own market power by playing favorites – or even threatening to play favorites – among its suppliers. This is a source of market power that is not available to single-brand retailers (e.g., an Exxon station or Whirlpool distributor). With multi-brand dealers, a rejected or disfavored product’s shelf space will be given to that product’s closest substitute with little (if any) loss to the dealer. As a result, the manufacturing firm suffers a significant loss of sales and may lose even more in relative terms because its competitors will prosper as a result. Thus, a multi-brand dealer can shift from one product to another without incurring any cost, but manufacturers more often find it expensive to replace their large distributors. Sometimes, as here, this may be impossible for a manufacturer to do at all within a reasonable period of time. … TRU can also exercise subtle forms of discrimination short of termination. For example, it can deny companies the highly valued shelf space positions at the end of an aisle or at the front of a store. … 

As a single, dominant, multi-brand retailer, TRU is similarly able to use its power to enforce collusion among its various suppliers. Of course, multi-brand dealers are not always able to exercise this potential source of power. The presence of a strong competitor which offers the manufacturers adequate substitute distribution for their products would be expected to check any attempt to exercise this power. For example, the toy retailer Zeller’s appears to be such a competitor for TRU in Canada.  The very toy manufacturers that joined TRU’s boycott in the United States never similarly restricted their distribution of toys in Canada. 

This comparison of the United States to Canada provides another indication that the U.S. boycott was a result of TRU’s power as a dealer of toys in the United States and not some legitimate business purpose. ...  TRU’s claim that its suppliers were convinced of the wisdom of its policy in the United States, and therefore acceded to its proposals, is undermined by the failure of those same suppliers to take similar steps in Canada … A reasonable conclusion is that the successful boycott in the United States was a result of a powerful dealer’s ability to negotiate with suppliers that had nowhere else to turn, because in Canada, where they could turn to Zeller’s, no restraint was imposed. …

   
The evidence is clear – indeed, TRU does not really contest the point – that TRU had sufficient market power to induce the toy manufacturers to bend to its will with regard to their sales to the clubs. That such a wide range of toy manufacturers, all with serious reservations about the wisdom of discriminating against the clubs on toy sales, fell in line when TRU asserted its demands is proof in itself of TRU’s extraordinary power to coerce its suppliers. 

   
b.  The toy manufacturers’ dominance.   Turning to the point of view of the clubs, the “dominance” they cared about was not just the ability of TRU to orchestrate a boycott, but the combined market power of the various toy manufacturers who entered into the boycott orchestrated by TRU. We have already seen that those toy manufacturers accounted for roughly 40% of all toy sales in the United States. That figure understates their significance since, as the leading toy manufacturers and principal television advertisers, they accounted for a far larger proportion of the “hit” toy products that lead consumers to shop at a particular outlet. ... [T]he participants in the boycott clearly had enough market power to retard the clubs’ ability to continue to compete.  

   
TRU … argu[es] that there is no evidence that TRU had the power generally to curtail output and raise price in the marketplace, or evidence that overall output actually was curtailed and overall prices raised. There are several problems with this argument. First, there is little question that the boycott of the warehouse clubs that TRU organized could and did lower output by avoiding a decrease in toy prices by TRU and TRU’s non-club competitors. TRU, which lowered prices in 1992 to meet club prices, found that those price cuts were no longer necessary after the boycott limited club access to toy products. Second, in pressing its argument, TRU confuses the concept of monopoly power (which except in extraordinary circumstances does not exist at market share levels below 60% or 70%) with market power under the rule of reason (which may occur at lower percentage levels). Thus, TRU’s argument ignores the clear directive in Northwest Stationers that courts should examine whether the boycotting firms possess “a dominant position,” language that traditionally has required market shares in the 30% range, not the 60 or 70% range. … Finally, TRU and the toy manufacturer boycotters had more market power than bare numbers suggest.  … 

   

3.  Terminating access to a necessary supply or relationship.   TRU does not really contest the proposition that its “club policy” was designed to and had the effect of denying the clubs “a supply . . . necessary to enable [the clubs] to compete.” Northwest Wholesale Stationers. The whole point of its club policy was to deny the clubs product, or at least product in a form capable of being compared to TRU’s products, in order to eliminate price competition. The sharp decline in club toy sales, and consequent decline in price pressure on TRU, demonstrates that TRU did not miscalculate.  

   
The clubs’ competitive advantage over other retailers is their low prices, and TRU’s policy denied the clubs toy products necessary to engage in price competition. As club executives testified, clubs seek to carry branded products that their customers will recognize. … TRU’s policy denied the clubs access to precisely that class of toy products.  

   
TRU’s club policy also imposed costs on the clubs and unavoidably added to shoppers’ perceptions that warehouse club inventory tends to be irregular and limited, or characterized by cumbersome and over-sized products. Finally, the policy led to a denial of the clubs’ preferences (as buyers from the manufacturers) and of consumers’ preferences (as shoppers at the clubs) for a kind of service they preferred and that would have been provided but for TRU’s intervention. See Indiana Fed’n of Dentists (“The Federation is not entitled to pre-empt the working of the market by deciding for itself that its customers do not need that which they demand.”); cf. Aspen Skiing Co. (“The evidence supports a conclusion that consumers were adversely affected by the elimination of the 4-area ticket. . . . Skiers demonstrably preferred four mountains to three.”).  

   
The drop in toy sales by the clubs demonstrates the importance of full and non-discriminatory access to toy products. As discussed above, TRU’s boycott halted a pattern of rapid growth of toy sales at the clubs. ... Equally important, many (if not most) of the toys that continued to be sold by clubs did not threaten TRU’s own prices.  

   

4.  The boycott lacked a business justification.   TRU has offered only one business justification for its conduct. It claims that the clubs were “free-riders” that took advantage of services provided by TRU, and that the continued presence of these “free-riders” would have the long term adverse effect of driving these services out of the marketplace. It argues that it therefore was justified in urging toy manufacturers to curtail the ability of the clubs to compete with TRU.  

   
… It is now well-recognized in antitrust jurisprudence that a manufacturer can take steps to eliminate free-riding when it is likely to drive services valuable to the manufacturer and consumers out of the marketplace and reduce overall consumer welfare. It is also well accepted that a retailer providing services may urge a manufacturer to eliminate free-riding by terminating the free-riding retailer or taking other action to curtail the problem. See Sharp; Sylvania.  

   
The simple fact that two sets of distributors elect to adopt different sales formats – one high-service and the other no-frills discounting – is insufficient to establish free-rider concerns. As pointed out by Judge Easterbrook, one of the scholars most responsible for calling attention to the validity of a free-rider defense, “what gives this the name free-riding is the lack of charge. When payment is possible, free-riding is not a problem because the ‘ride’ is not free.” Chicago Prof’l Sports, 961 F.2d at 675. …    





a.  Dealer compensation cures any free-rider problems.  As we will discuss below, several of the services that TRU points to do not really raise free-rider concerns because they are services that provide advantages only to the toy manufacturers, not to the clubs or any other retailers. But even if they do, the concerns evaporate because TRU is compensated for the services, and there is no threat that the services will be driven from the market. …




b.  TRU’s free-riding claims are atypical.  … [T]he services that TRU claims are exploited by others are not the “classic” services that the courts have been increasingly willing to protect. Free-riding is most often a problem for manufacturers and distributors of expensive, complex goods. For example, promotion, demonstration, and explanation of complex products are services most vulnerable to free-riders; customers visit the full service retailer to learn about products and then buy them somewhere else. See generally Sylvania. If a product requires installation or extensive service, customers may buy it at a low-cost discount outlet and then take it to the full service dealer for post-sale servicing. The second dealer may incur significant costs to see that it is properly installed, used, and maintained. 

   
By contrast, toys are usually simple and inexpensive products. They generally do not require demonstration and do not require significant installation or maintenance. TRU’s method of retailing, moreover, is built on the assumption that customers (or perhaps their children) know what they want when they come to the store. TRU does not dispute that it provides no customer services such as product demonstration or installation assistance. There are few if any sales people in a TRU store available to guide or advise shoppers. There was no evidence in the record that anyone sought demonstration or explanation of a toy product at TRU and then purchased the product at a club.  

   


c.  TRU was compensated for any services it provides.   Turning now to TRU’s specific contentions, it argues that it provides three important and costly services that are not provided by the clubs but that advance the club’s interests: (1) TRU advertises products in catalogs and newspaper inserts …  regularly over the year; (2) it provides a year-round, full-line, industry showroom, which generates sales information and marketing guidance for the toy industry; and (3) it accepts inventory early and regularly over the course of the year, saving the toy manufacturers warehousing costs and permitting steady, less costly production schedules. … 

   
Advertising can raise legitimate free-rider problems if one group of distributors commits resources to promotional efforts and another group, spending no resources, enjoys some of the benefits. But it is the toy manufacturers who finance advertising in this market. Television advertising is paid for entirely by the toy manufacturers. As to catalogs and newspaper inserts, the bulk of these expenses – over 99% in one year and more than 90% in several other years under review – was paid by the toy manufacturers.  

   
… TRU argues that its large showrooms and year-round display of toys create hits and generate valuable information on sales trends. This argument does not hold up under analysis. “Creating hits” – i.e., hot products that are sold in great volume – obviously does not apply to the overwhelming majority of products on the shelves of toy retailers. Toy stores do not stock the boardgame Monopoly because TRU’s earlier display made it a hit. With respect to other products there is little reason to believe that a “large showroom” is a major influence on consumer demand. Products become hits because of the quality of the toys, word-of-mouth reactions, and heavy television advertising. 

Even if the presence of a particular toy at TRU is a factor among many in creating “hit” toys, TRU is compensated indirectly for any part it plays in the production of hit products by receiving a disproportionately large share of those products. … [T]he evidence convincingly shows that (1) TRU gets a lion’s share of the hot and promoted products, and (2) more than any other retailer, TRU is granted post-sale discounts from its suppliers on products that do not meet sales expectations. These two methods of compensation reward TRU for carrying a full line of products and compensate TRU for whatever small part it may play in generating hit products for the toy industry. … [T]here is no reason to expect that TRU will cease carrying hit products in its unusually broad year-round inventory because the same products are carried by the clubs ….

   
As to TRU’s claim that it accepts inventory early in the course of the year, permitting toy manufacturers to save warehousing costs, the evidence again clearly shows that TRU is paid for this service. Warehousing, moreover, is far from the type of dealer service at issue in the case law on free-riding. It is largely the toy manufacturers and TRU, not the clubs or any other rival of TRU, that benefit from the use of TRU’s warehouse space. TRU is allowed to pay later for the delivery of goods (described by several toy manufacturers as compensation for storage services), and receives a disproportionately large share of hit products and generous post-sale discounts for slow-moving inventory. 

   
Even assuming that the various services provided by TRU were valuable to manufacturers and consumers, there is no evidence that the clubs’ failure to provide those services (or Wal-Mart’s and K-Mart’s for that matter) had, or was likely to have, the effect of driving those services from the market. TRU did argue that “free-riding” by Wal-Mart had forced TRU to reduce the number of items it carried and, if competition from the clubs were not curtailed, that inventory reduction might have to occur again. But … [a]ccording to … the TRU executive in charge of the policy change, the inventory reduction resulted primarily from competition from Wal-Mart, not from free-riding by Wal-Mart. … [T]he purpose of the reduction was to create a cleaner looking shopping floor and less cluttered stores. 

   
TRU argues that services remained in the market only because of its policy of inducing toy manufacturers to restrict sales to the clubs. That argument would be far more persuasive if there was any indication, prior to the time TRU’s policy was implemented, that any services were on the decline. There is also no indication in the documents … produced by the toy manufacturers or TRU that any party had the slightest concern, before the clubs threatened to sue TRU under the antitrust laws, that the clubs were free-riders that endangered the continued availability of any services….66
   


d.  Significantly less restrictive alternatives were available. … TRU could have achieved its purported objectives through policies and conduct that restricted competition far less than a boycott among suppliers of its club rivals. Consequently, the boycott cannot be “justified by plausible arguments that they were intended to enhance overall efficiency and make markets more competitive.”

   
… If TRU’s concern was that club purchases would prevent TRU from receiving all the “hit” products it needed during the Christmas season, it could have asked for assurances that it would receive an adequate supply of “hit products.” This would protect TRU’s alleged position as the industry hit-maker without eliminating clubs as effective competitors on the vast majority of toys. Instead, TRU adopted a policy that all products – new and old, hit and non-hit products – could be sold to the clubs as long as they were part of a combination pack that could not be compared easily to TRU product prices. This disconnect between purpose and policy indicates that elimination of effective price competition was TRU’s true motivating concern. … 

   


e.  TRU’s free-riding claims are a pretext.  Before TRU introduced its policy of curtailing toy manufacturers’ sales to clubs, there is no indication in the documents that any toy manufacturer declined to do business with the clubs because of possible free-riding. Indeed, TRU’s suppliers’ adoption of the club policy was an abrupt departure from the toy companies’ longstanding distribution policies. Few toy manufacturers avoided doing business with discounters … nor did they require distributors to carry their full line. … 

Similarly, there is absolutely no evidence … that TRU developed and implemented its policy with respect to competition by the clubs because of a free-riding concern. Indeed, the first mention of free-riding within TRU was in the late summer of 1992, when the clubs threatened to sue TRU and its suppliers…. Also, TRU never asked the toy manufacturers to discipline Wal-Mart, Target, K-Mart or other established discounters – even though they, like the clubs, did not provide services such as early purchasing of inventory, stocking a large number of toy products, and advertising. The difference was that the clubs offered a form of extreme price competition that TRU came to believe it could not tolerate. Although concerns about free-riding often will be difficult to distinguish from generic concerns about “unfair” price cutting, the lack of any more specific, contemporaneous discussion of free-riding, and the focus of TRU’s animus on the clubs alone, severely weakens TRU’s claimed justification.  …


5.  Conclusion to Northwest Wholesale Stationers approach.  … [W]e conclude that TRU’s practices satisfy each of the conditions described in Northwest Wholesale Stationers as a preliminary to application of a per se rule. … Perhaps most important is … that there was no plausible business justification for the group’s behavior. … [C]onsumers … got nothing at all out of the boycott…. Rather, they were denied an opportunity to buy toys at low prices from outlets that many were coming to prefer.  

   
Following the teaching of Northwest Wholesale Stationers, we examined market power here and found that the participants in the boycott had substantial market power. Certainly, TRU had little difficulty coercing a substantial number of toy manufacturers to discriminate against the clubs, and the manufacturers as a group suppressed the ability of the clubs to compete effectively. But the Supreme Court stated in Indiana Fed’n of Dentists, a boycott case decided one year after Northwest Wholesale Stationers, that a finding of market power is not necessary to find illegal a course of conduct leading to “actual detrimental effects.” … That is particularly clear where the boycott prevents economic activity that the market would otherwise produce, and there are no countervailing procompetitive virtues such as the creation of efficiencies in the operation of the market or the provision of goods and services. 

   
That is exactly the situation we have here. There were clear anticompetitive effects and no plausible business justification. TRU and its reluctant collaborators set out to eliminate from the marketplace a form of price competition and a style of service that increasing numbers of consumers preferred.  

   
In conclusion, we note that all elements required by Northwest Wholesale Stationers to justify application of a per se rule are present; even if market power were not present, a violation would nevertheless be found.

E.  THE GROUP BOYCOTT ORGANIZED BY TRU IS ALSO ILLEGAL UNDER A FULL RULE OF REASON ANALYSIS.   Even if TRU’s conduct is analyzed under the full rule of reason, its behavior must still be found illegal. … 

   

1.  The boycott produced anticompetitive effects.  The boycott TRU orchestrated had harmful effects for the clubs, for competition, and for consumers. TRU prevented a decrease in the price paid by many consumers for many toy items, reduced the options available to consumers, and weakened both intrabrand and interbrand competition in the retail toy market.  

   
TRU argues that Complaint Counsel has failed to demonstrate anticompetitive effects. ... When a similar argument was advanced in Klor’s, the Supreme Court commented:  

It [the boycott allegation] clearly has, by its “nature” and “character,” a “monopolistic tendency.” As such it is not to be tolerated merely because the victim is just one merchant whose business is so small that his destruction makes little difference to the economy. Monopoly can as surely thrive by the elimination of such small businessmen, one at a time, as it can by driving them out in large groups.  

   
This remark applies with even greater force to the boycott orchestrated by TRU. Far from a single small business, the clubs were growing chains of retailers operating hundreds of outlets nationally and employing a distinctly new and efficient method of distribution. Because the boycott injured the clubs, it also harmed competition, and because competition was harmed, consumer welfare was reduced. Although the antitrust laws protect competition and not competitors, there can be no competition without able competitors. A policy that selectively eliminates effective competitors (or the ones most threatening to incumbent firms) harms the competitive process even though individual firms are the targets. ... 

Perhaps there were other factors involved in declining toy sales at the clubs after 1992 (although TRU offered none for the record), but clearly the boycott was a major factor. ... As already discussed, in 1992 TRU had set its prices for many items based on price competition from the clubs. After the club policy was established, this was no longer necessary, and TRU was able to avoid similar price cuts thereafter.68 ...  And of course the boycott raised the costs of toys at the clubs, obstructing their advantage as the lowest price outlet to the advantage of TRU and the injury of consumers.  

   
The boycott … reduced the range of choices available to consumers and eliminated forms of competition that consumers desired and would have been able to enjoy absent TRU’s policy. Club shoppers were not able to buy the products they wanted at the clubs. They either had to buy their second-choice goods (e.g., custom or combo packs of goods) at their first-choice stores (warehouse clubs) or their first-choice goods (e.g., individually packaged branded toys) at their second-choice stores (TRU, Wal-Mart, Target). The Supreme Court has recognized similar restrictions on the forms of competition in the marketplace, and similar hindrances to products or services consumers desire, as anticompetitive effects cognizable under the antitrust laws. See Aspen Ski; Indiana Fed’n of Dentists. … [W]e conclude that actual anticompetitive effects resulted from TRU’s conduct, including reduced consumer choice and higher prices.  … 

   
[TRU argues] that a government boycott case must fail if the government does not discharge a burden of demonstrating that, as a result of the boycott, market-wide prices increased or market-wide output diminished. This very issue was addressed and settled by the Supreme Court in Indiana Fed’n of Dentists…. The Court elected a rule of reason … approach, in part because the boycott involving x-rays was obviously not intended to harm a competitor – a purpose that is present here. In applying a full rule of reason, the Supreme Court addressed the argument that there had been no finding that “the alleged restraint on competition among dentists had actually resulted in higher dental costs to patients and insurers.” The Court explained that a showing of higher prices was not essential to establish the illegality of the restraint:    

A concerted and effective effort to withhold (or make more costly) information desired by consumers for the purpose of determining whether a particular purchase is cost justified is likely enough to disrupt the proper functioning of the price-setting mechanism of the market that it may be condemned even absent proof that it resulted in higher prices or, as here, the purchase of higher priced services, than would occur in its absence.


The case for finding a violation is all the more powerful here where the boycott is not an indirect attempt to interfere with price-setting (through withholding of information), but a direct effort by one retailer to organize a boycott designed to impair the ability of its lowest-priced rivals to continue to offer products and services that consumers desire.  

   

2.  The anticompetitive effects far outweigh the claimed justification.   There was no business justification for a boycott that had a pronounced anticompetitive effect. The single justification offered – the prevention of free-riding – was a post hoc rationalization for a policy with an anticompetitive purpose and effect. The balance under a full rule of reason tips decidedly toward condemnation.

F.  CONSIDERED ALONE, THE VERTICAL RESTRAINTS ARE UNREASONABLE UNDER §1 OF THE SHERMAN ACT.  The evidence is clear that TRU, a dominant toy retailer, significantly diminished the ability of the clubs to compete by inducing a substantial number of toy manufacturers to agree to do business with TRU’s club rivals only on discriminatory terms. It accomplished its purpose by approaching each of the toy manufacturers seriatim and inducing or coercing each to agree to join in its anticompetitive mission. TRU’s purpose was to avoid significant price competition from rivals and to deny consumers a form of distribution [they] prefer. The effect of these joint actions was to injure a group of rivals in the marketplace. 

   
We conclude therefore that each agreement in the series of vertical agreements, standing alone, even without the evidence of horizontal agreement among many of the toy manufacturers, violates §1 of the Sherman Act upon a full rule of reason review.  

   
A vertical agreement between a retailer (even one as powerful as TRU) and an individual manufacturer, whereby the manufacturer agrees to deal only on discriminatory terms with a competitor of the retailer, would not be treated as illegal per se. It is not vertical price-fixing because no specific price, or price level, was agreed to, see Sharp, and each individual vertical agreement is not per se illegal as a boycott.  

   
On the other hand, an examination limited to each individual agreement in isolation (TRU agrees with Mattel, TRU agrees with Hasbro, TRU agrees with Tyco, etc.) would blind us to the true anticompetitive nature and effect of TRU’s course of conduct. … [E]ach vertical agreement was entered into against a background in which other agreements were solicited and either achieved or were about to be achieved. The large number of agreements ultimately obtained, and the size and importance of the toy firms that joined them, were essential to the success of the agreements and to the accomplishment of TRU’s overall scheme. The collection of separate vertical agreements – together excluding the clubs from the leading manufacturers of toys, accounting for roughly 40% of U.S. output – had a profound anticompetitive effect; the collection of parties entering into separate agreements had substantial market power; and there was no plausible business justification or efficiency. Under a full rule of reason, we find that each agreement in the series of agreements – anticompetitive in purpose and effect and lacking plausible justification – constitutes a violation of §1 of the Sherman Act. …

$   $   $   $   $   $   $
REVIEW PROBLEM #3:  TOYS ‘R’ US

QUESTIONS FOR DISCUSSION

Assume that you are counsel for Toys ‘R’ Us immediately after the FTC Opinion is handed down.  Devise the best arguments you can to challenge each of the following elements of the FTC opinion and identify the FTC’s likely responses.  Then identify which three elements you think present the best opportunity for a successful appeal.  

(1) The finding that there was a horizontal agreement.

(2) The Commission’s reliance on Klor’s.

(3) The ruling that the case should be judged under the per se rule under Northwest Wholesale Stationers.

(4)  The rejection of TRU’s free-rider argument.

(5) The finding that the horizontal agreement violated the Rule of Reason

(6) The implicit rejection of the argument that TRU was simply exercising its rights under Colgate to refuse to deal with manufacturers who sold to clubs.

(7) The decision to consider the effects of all the vertical agreements in the aggregate when judging them under the Rule of Reason.

$   $   $   $   $   $   $
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9  The jury also found that Maguire had not conspired with Sylvania with respect to this violation. Other claims made by Continental were either rejected by the jury or withdrawn by Continental. Most important was the jury’s rejection of the allegation that the location restriction was part of a larger scheme to fix prices. A pendent claim that Sylvania and Maguire had willfully and maliciously caused injury to Continental’s business in violation of California law also was rejected by the jury, and a pendent breach-of-contract claim was withdrawn by Continental during the course of the proceedings. The parties eventually stipulated to a judgment for Maguire on its claim against Continental.





12 The distinctions drawn by the Court of Appeals and endorsed in Justice White’s separate opinion have no basis in Schwinn. The intrabrand competitive impact of the restrictions at issue in Schwinn ranged from complete elimination to mere reduction; yet, the Court did not even hint at any distinction on this ground. Similarly, there is no suggestion that the per se rule was applied because of Schwinn’s prominent position in its industry. That position was the same whether the bicycles were sold or consigned, but the Court’s analysis was quite different.  In light of Justice White’s emphasis on the “superior consumer acceptance” enjoyed by the Schwinn brand name, we note that the Court rejected precisely that premise in Schwinn. Applying the rule of reason to the restrictions imposed in nonsale transactions, the Court stressed that there was “no showing that (competitive bicycles were) not in all respects reasonably interchangeable as articles of competitive commerce with the Schwinn product” and that it did “not regard Schwinn’s claim of product excellence as establishing the contrary.” Although Schwinn did hint at preferential treatment for new entrants and failing firms, the District Court below did not even submit Sylvania’s claim that it was failing to the jury. Accordingly, Justice White’s position appears to reflect an extension of Schwinn in this regard. Having crossed the “failing firm” line, Justice White attempts neither to draw a new one nor to explain why one should be drawn at all.





16 Per se rules thus require the Court to make broad generalizations about the social utility of particular commercial practices. The probability that anticompetitive consequences will result from a practice and the severity of those consequences must be balanced against its pro-competitive consequences. Cases that do not fit the generalization may arise, but a per se rule reflects the judgment that such cases are not sufficiently common or important to justify the time and expense necessary to identify them. Once established, per se rules tend to provide guidance to the business community and to minimize the burdens on litigants and the judicial system of the more complex rule-of-reason trials, see Northern Pac. R. Co.; Topco, but those advantages are not sufficient in themselves to justify the creation of per se rules. If it were otherwise, all of antitrust law would be reduced to per se rules, thus introducing an unintended and undesirable rigidity in the law.





18 As in Schwinn, we are concerned here only with nonprice vertical restrictions. The per se illegality of price restrictions has been established firmly for many years and involves significantly different questions of analysis and policy. As Justice White notes, some commentators have argued that the manufacturer’s motivation for imposing vertical price restrictions may be the same as for nonprice restrictions. There are, however, significant differences that could easily justify different treatment. In his concurring opinion in White Motor Co., Justice Brennan noted that, unlike nonprice restrictions, “[r]esale price maintenance is not only designed to, but almost invariably does in fact, reduce price competition not only among sellers of the affected product, but quite as much between that product and competing brands.” Professor Posner also recognized that “industry-wide resale price maintenance might facilitate cartelizing.” Posner, [Antitrust Policy and the Supreme Court: An Analysis of the Restricted Distribution, Horizontal Merger and Potential Competition  Decisions, 75 Colum.L.Rev. 282, 294 (1975)]. Furthermore, Congress recently has expressed its approval of a per se analysis of vertical price restrictions by repealing those provisions … allowing fair trade pricing at the option of the individual States. No similar expression of congressional intent exists for nonprice restrictions.





19 Interbrand competition is the competition among the manufacturers of the same generic product, television sets in this case, and is the primary concern of antitrust law. The extreme example of a deficiency of interbrand competition is monopoly, where there is only one manufacturer. In contrast, intrabrand competition is the competition between the distributors wholesale or retail of the product of a particular manufacturer. The degree of intrabrand competition is wholly independent of the level of interbrand competition confronting the manufacturer. Thus, there may be fierce intrabrand competition among the distributors of a product produced by a monopolist and no intrabrand competition among the distributors of a product produced by a firm in a highly competitive industry. But when interbrand competition exists, as it does among television manufacturers, it provides a significant check on the exploitation of intrabrand market power because of the ability of consumers to substitute a different brand of the same product.





23 Marketing efficiency is not the only legitimate reason for a manufacturer’s desire to exert control over the manner in which his products are sold and serviced. As a result of statutory and common-law developments, society increasingly demands that manufacturers assume direct responsibility for the safety and quality of their products. …





24  “Generally a manufacturer would prefer the lowest retail price possible, once its price to dealers has been set, because a lower retail price means increased sales and higher manufacturer revenues.” Note, 88 Harv.L.Rev. 636, 641 (1975). In this context, a manufacturer is likely to view the difference between the price at which it sells to its retailers and their price to the consumer as his “cost of distribution,” which it would prefer to minimize. Posner, [75 Colum. L. Rev.,] at 283.





25 Professor Comanor argues that the promotional activities encouraged by vertical restrictions result in product differentiation and, therefore, a decrease in interbrand competition. This argument is flawed by its necessary assumption that a large part of the promotional efforts resulting from vertical restrictions will not convey socially desirable information about product availability, price, quality, and services. Nor is it clear that a per se rule would result in anything more than a shift to less efficient methods of obtaining the same promotional effects.





26 We also note that per se rules in this area may work to the ultimate detriment of the small businessmen who operate as franchisees. To the extent that a per se rule prevents a firm from using the franchise system to achieve efficiencies that it perceives as important to its successful operation, the rule creates an incentive for vertical integration into the distribution system, thereby eliminating to that extent the role of independent businessmen. 





27 Continental’s contention that balancing intrabrand and interbrand competitive effects of vertical restrictions is not a “proper part of the judicial function” is refuted by Schwinn itself. Topco is not to the contrary, for it involved a horizontal restriction among ostensible competitors.





8 The majority’s failure to use the market share of Schwinn and Sylvania as a basis for distinguishing these cases is the more anomalous for its reliance on the economic analysis of those who distinguish the anticompetitive effects of distribution restraints on the basis of the market shares of the distributors. See Posner, [Antitrust Policy and the Supreme Court: An Analysis of the Restricted Distribution, Horizontal Merger and Potential Competition Decisions, 75 Colum.L.Rev. 282, 299 (1975)]; Bork, The Rule of Reason and the Per Se Concept: Price Fixing and Market Division (II), 75 Yale L.J. 373, 391-429 (1966).





1 These areas of primary responsibility were not exclusive territorial restrictions.  Approximately ten to twenty distributors were assigned to each area, and distributors were permitted to sell outside their assigned area.


2 The three special interrogatories were as follows:


1. 	Was the decision by Monsanto not to offer a new contract to plaintiff for 1969 made by Monsanto pursuant to a conspiracy or combination with one or more of its distributors to fix, maintain or stabilize resale prices of Monsanto herbicides?


2. 	Were the compensation programs and/or areas of primary responsibility, and/or shipping policy created by Monsanto pursuant to a conspiracy to fix,  maintain or stabilize resale prices of Monsanto herbicides?


3. 	Did Monsanto conspire or combine with one or more of its distributors so that one or more of those distributors would limit plaintiff’s access to Monsanto herbicides after 1968?


The jury answered “Yes” to each of the interrogatories.


3 See note 6, infra.


4 The court later in the same paragraph restated the standard of sufficiency as follows:  “Proof of distributorship termination in response to competing distributors’ complaints about the terminated distributor’s pricing policies is sufficient to raise an inference of concerted action.” It may be argued that this standard is different from the one quoted in text in that this one requires a showing of a minimal causal connection between the complaints and the termination of the plaintiff, while the textual standard requires only that the one “follow” the other.  As we explain infra, the difference is not ultimately significant in our analysis.


5 The court below recognized that its standard was in conflict with that articulated in Edward J. Sweeney & Sons. v. Texaco, Inc., 637 F.2d 105, 110-111 (3d Cir. 1980), cert. denied, 451 U.S. 911 (1981).  Other circuit courts also have rejected the standard adopted by the Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit.  See Schwimmer v. Sony Corp. of America, 677 F.2d 946, 952-953 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1007 (1982);  Davis-Watkins Co. v. Service Merchandise, 686 F.2d 1190, 1199 (6th Cir. 1982);  Bruce Drug, Inc. v. Hollister, Inc., 688 F.2d 853, 856-857 (1st Cir. 1982);  see also Blankenship v. Herzfeld, 661 F.2d 840, 845 (10th Cir. 1981).  The Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit has adopted the Seventh Circuit’s standard.  See Bostick Oil Co. v. Michelin Tire Corp., 702 F.2d 1207, 1213-1215 (4th Cir. 1983).  One panel of the Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit also has adopted that standard, see Battle v. Lubrizol Corp., 673 F.2d 984, 990-992 (8th Cir. 1982), while another appears to have rejected it in an opinion issued the same day, see Roesch, Inc. v. Star Cooler Corp., 671 F.2d 1168, 1172 (CA8 1982).  On rehearing en banc, the Court of Appeals was equally divided between the two positions.  Compare Roesch, Inc. v. Star Cooler Corp., 712 F.2d 1235 (CA8 1983) (en banc), with Battle v. Watson, 712 F.2d 1238, 1240 (CA8 1983) (en banc) (McMillian, J., dissenting).


6 Monsanto also challenges another part of the Court of Appeals’ opinion.  It argues that the court held that the nonprice restrictions in this case—the compensation and shipping policies—would be judged under a rule of reason rather than a per se rule “‘only if there is no allegation that the [nonprice] restrictions are part of a conspiracy to fix prices.’”  Monsanto asserts that under this holding a mere allegation that nonprice restrictions were part of a price conspiracy would subject them to per se treatment.  Monsanto contends this view undermines our decision in Sylvania, that such restrictions are subject to the rule of reason.


If this were what the Court of Appeals held, it would present an arguable conflict.  We think, however, that Monsanto misreads the court’s opinion. Read in context, the court’s somewhat broad language fairly may be read to say that a plaintiff must prove, as well as allege, that the nonprice restrictions were in fact a part of a price conspiracy.  Thus, later in its opinion the court notes that the District Court properly instructed the jury “that Monsanto’s otherwise lawful compensation programs and shipping policies were per se unlawful if undertaken as part of an illegal scheme to fix prices.”  The court cited White Motor Co. v. U.S., 372 U.S. 253, 260 (1963), in which this Court wrote that restrictive practices ancillary to a price-fixing agreement would be restrained only if there was a finding that the two were sufficiently linked.  And the Court of Appeals elsewhere noted the jury’s finding that the nonprice practices here were “created by Monsanto pursuant to a conspiracy to fix ... resale prices.” 


Monsanto does not dispute Spray-Rite’s view that if the nonprice practices were proven to have been instituted as part of a price-fixing conspiracy, they would be subject to per se treatment.  Instead, Monsanto argues that there was insufficient evidence to support the jury’s finding that the nonprice practices were “created by Monsanto pursuant to” a price-fixing conspiracy.  Monsanto failed to make its sufficiency-of-the-evidence argument in the Court of Appeals with respect to this finding, and the court did not address the point.  We therefore decline to reach it.  


In view of Monsanto’s concession that a proper finding that nonprice practices were part of a price-fixing conspiracy would suffice to subject the entire conspiracy to per se treatment, Sylvania is not applicable to this case.  In that case only a nonprice restriction was challenged. Nothing in our decision today undercuts the holding of Sylvania that nonprice restrictions are to be judged under the rule of reason.  In fact, the need to ensure the viability of Sylvania is an important consideration in our rejection of the Court of Appeals’ standard of sufficiency of the evidence.  See infra.


7 The Solicitor General (by brief only) and several other amici suggest that we take this opportunity to reconsider whether “contract[s], combination[s] ... or conspirac[ies]” to fix resale prices should always be unlawful.  They argue that the economic effect of resale price maintenance is little different from agreements on nonprice restrictions.  See generally Sylvania (WHITE, J., concurring  in the judgment);  Baker, Interconnected Problems of Doctrine and Economics in the Section One Labyrinth:  Is Sylvania a Way Out?, 67 Va.L.Rev. 1457, 1465-1466 (1981).  They say that the economic  objections to resale price maintenance that we discussed in [note 18 of] Sylvania –such as that it facilitates horizontal cartels—can be met easily in the context of rule-of-reason analysis.


Certainly in this case we have no occasion to consider the merits of this argument.  This case was tried on per se instructions to the jury.  Neither party argued in the District Court that the rule of reason should apply to a vertical price-fixing conspiracy, nor raised the point on appeal.  In fact, neither party before this Court presses the argument advanced by amici.  We therefore decline to reach the question, and we decide the case in the context in which it was decided below and argued here.


8 We do not suggest that evidence of complaints has no probative value at all, but only that the burden remains on the antitrust plaintiff to introduce additional evidence sufficient to support a finding of an unlawful contract, combination, or conspiracy.


9 The concept of “a meeting of the minds” or “a common scheme” in a distributor-termination case includes more than a showing that the distributor conformed to the suggested price.  It means as well that evidence must be presented both that the distributor communicated its acquiescence or agreement, and that this was sought by the manufacturer.


10 In addition, there was circumstantial evidence that Monsanto sought agreement from the distributor to conform to the resale price.  The threat to cut off the distributor’s supply came during Monsanto’s “shipping season” when herbicide was in short supply.  The jury could have concluded that Monsanto sought this agreement at a time when it was able to use supply as a lever to force compliance.


11 The newsletter also is subject to the interpretation that the distributor was merely describing the likely reaction to unilateral Monsanto pronouncements.  But Monsanto itself appears to have construed the flyer as reporting a price-fixing understanding.  Six weeks after the newsletter was written, a Monsanto official wrote its author a letter urging him to “correct immediately any misconceptions about Monsanto’s marketing policies.”  The letter disavowed any intent to enter into an agreement on resale prices.  The interpretation of these documents and the testimony surrounding them properly was left to the jury.


12 Monsanto argues that the reference could have been to complaints by Monsanto employees rather than distributors, suggesting that the price controls were merely unilateral action, rather than accession to the demands of the distributors.  The choice between two reasonable interpretations of the testimony properly was left for the jury. 


13 The existence of the illegal joint boycott after Spray-Rite’s termination, a finding that the Court of Appeals affirmed and that is not before us, is further evidence that Monsanto and its distributors had an understanding that prices would be maintained, and that price-cutters would be terminated.  This last, however, is also consistent with termination for other reasons, and is probative only of the ability of Monsanto and its distributors to act in concert.


14 Monsanto’s contrary evidence has force, but we agree with the courts below that it was insufficient to take the issue from the jury.  It is true that there was no testimony of any complaints about Spray-Rite’s pricing for the fifteen months prior to termination.  But it was permissible for the jury to conclude that there were complaints during that period from the evidence that they continued after 1968 and from the testimony that they were mentioned at Spray-Rite’s post-termination meeting with Monsanto. There is also evidence that resale prices in fact did not stabilize after 1968.  On the other hand, the former Monsanto salesman testified that prices were more stable in 1969-1970 than in his earlier stint in 1965-1966.  And, given the evidence that Monsanto took active measures to stabilize prices, it may be that distributors did not assent in sufficient numbers, or broke their promises.  In any event, we cannot say that the courts below erred in finding that Spray-Rite produced substantial evidence of the concerted action required by Section 1 of the Sherman Act, and that—despite the sharp conflict in evidence—the case properly was submitted to the jury.





5 In addition to these inferences, the court noted that there was expert opinion evidence that petitioners’ export sales “generally were at prices which produced losses, often as high as twenty-five percent on sales.” The court did not identify any direct evidence of below-cost pricing;  nor did it place particularly heavy reliance on this aspect of the expert evidence.  





7 Respondents also argue that the check prices, the five company rule, and the price fixing in Japan are all part of one large conspiracy that includes monopolization of the American market through predatory pricing. The argument is mistaken.  However one decides to describe the contours of the asserted conspiracy–whether there is one conspiracy or several–respondents must show that the conspiracy caused them an injury for which the antitrust laws provide relief. That showing depends in turn on proof that petitioners conspired to price predatorily in the American market, since the other conduct involved in the alleged conspiracy cannot have caused such an injury.





8 Throughout this opinion, we refer to the asserted conspiracy as one to price “predatorily.”  This term has been used chiefly in cases in which a single firm, having a dominant share of the relevant market, cuts its prices in order to force competitors out of the market, or perhaps to deter potential entrants from coming in. In such cases, “predatory pricing” means pricing below some appropriate measure of cost.  E.g., Barry Wright.





9 We do not consider whether recovery should ever be available on a theory such as respondents’ when the pricing in question is above some measure of incremental cost.  As a practical matter, it may be that only direct evidence of below-cost pricing is sufficient to overcome the strong inference that rational businesses would not enter into conspiracies such as this one. See Part IV-A, infra.





14 During the same period, the number of American firms manufacturing television sets declined from 19 to 13. This decline continued a trend that began at least by 1960, when petitioners’ sales in the U.S. market were negligible.





15 Respondents offer no reason to suppose that entry into the relevant market is especially difficult, yet without barriers to entry it would presumably be impossible to maintain supracompetitive prices for an extended time.  Judge Easterbrook, commenting on this case in a law review article, offers the following sensible assessment:





The plaintiffs [in this case] maintain that for the last fifteen years or more at least ten Japanese manufacturers have sold TV sets at less than cost in order to drive U.S. firms out of business.  Such conduct cannot possibly produce profits by harming competition, however.  If the Japanese firms drive some U.S. firms out of business, they could not recoup.  Fifteen years of losses could be made up only by very high prices for the indefinite future.  (The losses are like investments, which must be recovered with compound interest.)  If the defendants should try to raise prices to such a level, they would attract new competition.  There are no barriers to entry into electronics, as the proliferation of computer and audio firms shows.  The competition would come from resurgent U.S. firms, from other foreign firms (Korea and many other nations make TV sets), and from defendants themselves.  In order to recoup, the Japanese firms would need to suppress competition among themselves.  On plaintiffs’ theory, the cartel would need to last at least thirty years, far longer than any in history, even when cartels were not illegal.  None should be sanguine about the prospects of such a cartel, given each firm’s incentive to shave price and expand its share of sales.  The predation-recoupment story therefore does not make sense, and we are left with the more plausible inference that the Japanese firms did not sell below cost in the first place.  They were just engaged in hard competition.





Easterbrook, The Limits of Antitrust, 63 Texas L.Rev. 1, 26-27 (1984).





16 The alleged predatory scheme makes sense only if petitioners can recoup their losses.  In light of the large number of firms involved here, petitioners can achieve this only by engaging in some form of price fixing after they have succeeded in driving competitors from the market.  Such price fixing would, of course, be an independent violation of §1 of the Sherman Act.  





21 We do not imply that, if petitioners had had a plausible reason to conspire, ambiguous conduct could suffice to create a triable issue of conspiracy.  Our decision in Monsanto establishes that conduct that is as consistent with permissible competition as with illegal conspiracy does not, without more, support even an inference of conspiracy.  





1 The Court adequately summarizes the quite fact-specific holding in Cities Service.  In Monsanto, the Court held that a manufacturer’s termination of a price-cutting distributor after receiving a complaint from another distributor is not, standing alone, sufficient to create a jury question.  To understand this holding, it is important to realize that under Colgate, it is permissible for a manufacturer to announce retail prices in advance and terminate those who fail to comply, but that under Dr. Miles Medical Co., it is impermissible for the manufacturer and its distributors to agree on the price at which the distributors will sell the goods.  Thus, a manufacturer’s termination of a price-cutting distributor after receiving a complaint from another distributor is lawful under Colgate, unless the termination is pursuant to a shared understanding between the manufacturer and its distributors respecting enforcement of a resale price maintenance scheme.  Monsanto holds that to establish liability under Dr. Miles, more is needed than evidence of behavior that is consistent with a distributor’s exercise of its prerogatives under Colgate.  Thus, “[t]here must be evidence that tends to exclude the possibility that the manufacturer and nonterminated distributors were acting independently.” Monsanto does not hold that if a terminated dealer produces some further evidence of conspiracy beyond the bare fact of postcomplaint termination, the judge hearing a motion for summary judgment should balance all the evidence pointing toward conspiracy against all the evidence pointing toward independent action.





2  The dissent’s principal fear appears to be not cartelization at either level, but Hartwell’s assertion of dominant retail power.  This fear does not possibly justify adopting a rule of per se illegality.  Retail market power is rare, because of the usual presence of interbrand competition and other dealers, see Sylvania, and it should therefore not be assumed but rather must be proved. Of course this case was not prosecuted on the theory, and therefore the jury was not asked to find, that Hartwell possessed such market power.


3  The conclusion of “naked” restraint could also be sustained on another assumption, namely, that an agreement is not “ancillary” unless it is designed to enforce a contractual obligation of one of the parties to the contract.  The dissent appears to accept this assumption. It is plainly wrong.  The classic “ancillary” restraint is an agreement by the seller of a business not to compete within the market.  That is not ancillary to any other contractual obligation, but, like the restraint here, merely enhances the value of the contract, or permits the “enjoyment of [its] fruits.” Addyston Pipe & Steel Co.; R. Bork, The Antitrust Paradox 29 (1978) (hereinafter Bork) (vertical arrangements are ancillary to the “transaction of supplying and purchasing”).


4 The dissent apparently believes that whether a restraint is horizontal depends upon whether its anticompetitive effects are horizontal, and not upon whether it is the product of a horizontal agreement. That is of course a conceivable way of talking, but if it were the language of antitrust analysis there would be no such thing as an unlawful vertical restraint, since all anticompetitive effects are by definition horizontal effects.  …


5 Contrary to the dissent, General Motors does not differ from the present case merely in that it involved a three-party rather than a two-party agreement.  The agreement was among competitors in General Motors; it was between noncompetitors here.  Cf. Bork 330 (defining “boycotts” as “agreements among competitors to refuse to deal”).


4 When a manufacturer acts on its own, in pursuing its own market strategy, it is seeking to compete with other manufacturers by imposing what may be defended as reasonable vertical restraints.  This would appear to be the rationale of the … Sylvania decision.  However, if the action of a manufacturer or other supplier is taken at the direction of its customer, the restraint becomes primarily horizontal in nature in that one customer is seeking to suppress its competition by utilizing the power of a common supplier.  Therefore, although the termination in such a situation is, itself, a vertical restraint, the desired impact is horizontal and on the dealer, not the manufacturer, level.


8  “[S]cenarios that involve a firm or firms at one level of activity using vertical restraints deliberately to confer market power on firms at an adjacent level are inherently suspect.  To do so is, typically, to inflict self-injury, just as it would be for consumers to confer market power on the retailers from whom they buy.” Baxter, The Viability of Vertical Restraints Doctrine, 75 Calif.L.Rev. 933, 938 (1987).


4 Traditional toys means all toys except for video games. ...  


10 The electronic toy makers, like Sega and Nintendo, which have other retail outlets including computer game stores, are an exception to the statement that TRU is invariably the most important outlet. 


34 Indeed, TRU did lower its prices for several items when clubs were able to sell the same items at a substantially lower price. 


61 TRU’s importance as a retailer is so great that it often could squelch an item before the item made it to the market. This power is aptly illustrated by an incident involving Just Toys. Just Toys introduced what it believed was a promising new toy. When TRU found the item for sale at several BJ’s club stores in the New York City area, TRU canceled its order for the product. Just Toys thereafter canceled its advertising plans for the product, despite its belief that the item could have been a successful product. Without TRU’s support, Just Toys was unwilling to risk the expense of an advertising campaign. 


66 Cf. Eastman Kodak (rejecting a free-riding defense when there is no evidence that manufacturer-imposed restrictions are necessary to induce competent and aggressive retailers to make the investment of capital and labor necessary to distribute the product).  


68 Cf. FTC v Staples, Inc., (recognizing an averted price decrease as an anticompetitive effect).  
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